
 
 

SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND LGES 
MEETING 

 
4.00 pm MONDAY, 25TH NOVEMBER, 2019 

 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 3.30 pm.   
This Meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and 

using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to 
the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.   

 

 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can 
be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 
 

3. Corporate Self-Evaluation – Inspection Area 3   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

5 - 62 

4. Update on Carbon and Energy Management 
Activities in Schools  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

63 - 72 

5. The Additional Learning Needs and Education 
Tribunal (Wales) Act  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

73 - 114 

6. Securing Sufficient Nursery Education for the 
County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

115 - 144 

7. Work Programme 2019/20   

 To consider the attached report 
 

145 - 156 

8. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

9. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 



10. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 

 

  
 
COMPOSITION: 

 
Councillors:  H R Jones (Chair) 

                      S Jago (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors: H Barrett, B Carter, D Chaplin and M Jones 
 
Co-optees: C Brown, R Lazell, K Phelan, M Symonds, 
A Rees, K Jones and K Sutton 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Corporate Self-Evaluation – Inspection Area 3 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 Self-evaluation is a useful process that is rigorous and enables Chief Officers, Heads 
of Service and officers to be critically reflective about outcomes, service provision 
and leadership and management. 

 
1.2 Following a refocus exercise of documentation to ensure it continued to meet the 

organisation’s needs; the Council’s Corporate Management Team (CMT) approved 
the re-introduction of the corporate self-evaluation process in May 2019.    

 
1.3 Completion of the process is undertaken in ‘bite-sized’ chunks on a question-by-

question basis.  This aims to support all officers involved to contribute to the process 
whilst maintaining their ability to manage multiple other priorities. 

 
1.4 This report focuses on the completion of the self-evaluation undertaken by the 

Learning department in relation to Key Question 3 (Leadership and Management).  
The response directly relates to the Best Start to Life theme laid down in the 
Council’s Corporate Plan: Focus on the Future. It also meets the requirements of the 
Estyn Inspection framework – the inspectorate for education within Wales 

 
1.5 This report and its appendices highlight the key findings of the self-evaluation 

activity; outlines areas of good practice along with areas for development; and 
identifies the priorities for improvement which are incorporated in our Business 
Improvement Plan. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 Scrutiny Committee Members to provide officers feedback on the content of the 
report developed through completion of the self-evaluation process. 

 

Date Written 15th November 2019 

Report Author Sue Walker / Anthony Lewis 

Service Area Learning  

Committee Date 25th November 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Self-evaluation is a business process that is rigorous and enables organisations to 

be critically reflective about outcomes, service provision and leadership and 
management.  In 2013/14, the Council introduced a self-evaluation process which 
was completed by officers at Head of Service level.  The format of the challenge 
sessions was based on high-level challenge in a session lasting 2-2½ hours; with a 
number of Heads of Service. 

 
3.2 From using lessons learned over previous years, the format of the challenge of self-

evaluation was developed (eg.) self-evaluation was undertaken on a service-level 
basis; with challenge being offered via a Performance Board consisting of the Chief 
Executive, Directorate Lead; Portfolio Member and the Chair of the Scrutiny 
Committee to which the service reported.  The key outcome of the process was to 
identify areas of good practice; along with priorities for improvement. 

 
3.3 In 2019, a refocus exercise was undertaken to ensure the self-evaluation documents 

continued to meet the organisation’s needs (eg.) offered officers completing the 
forms opportunity to outline the current service position; highlight any good practice; 
note areas for development and to identify the services’ priorities for improvement.   
The documents were organised in the form of three key questions: 

 Outcomes; 

 Provision and Service Delivery; and  

 Leadership and management. 
 

There was no specific order in which the questions needed to be completed, as long 
as all three questions were completed within the year. 

 
3.4 Following consideration of the updated documents by the Council’s Corporate 

Management Team (CMT); the new format was approved for re-introduction in May 
2019. 

 
3.5 As part of the process cycle supporting the delivery of the self-evaluation process 

(see Appendix 1), it was proposed that completed questions should be presented 
before the sector-specific Scrutiny Committee which normally scrutinises the 
outputs/outcomes for the relevant service area.  This was seen as an opportunity for 
Committee Members to review and explore facets of the wide range of activities for 
which Chief Officers were accountable; whilst for services, it was seen as an 
opportunity for details of their services to be brought before Scrutiny to outline 
positive practice and achievements along with any challenges faced and areas for 
development. 

 
3.6 Committee Members are asked to review the content of the completed questions 

and consider performance, areas of good practice, areas for development and, 
perhaps most importantly, the services’ priorities for improvement for the coming 
year.  Scrutineers’ feedback will be used when considering how these priorities will 
be progressed. 

 

Page 6



4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 In previous years, the Council had undertaken self-evaluation activities on an annual 

service-by-service basis.  The process required Heads of Service to review 
project/programme activity and reflect on what had been achieved, as well as 
identifying what needed to be prioritised next with a view to planning how this should 
be done. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Judgement: Adequate and needs improvement - see Appendix 2. 
 
5.2  The effectiveness of leaders is adequate because although strengths outweigh 

weaknesses there are important areas that require improvement. 
 

There is a clear focus on strategic priorities for improvement and delivering plans to 
address these in order to bring about improvements in outcomes. There is a golden 
thread aligning strategic priorities, business improvement planning and the 
performance management framework. Partnership working within and beyond the 
council is well established and leads to more effective services, although the 
increased use of school leaders to support school to school working is required to 
help deliver improvements in pupil outcomes through better leadership and teaching 
and learning practices. 

 
The overall strategic direction of the service over the medium to long-term, the 
strategic approach to raising standards in schools and to digital learning are 
important areas for improvement.  

 
5.3  People management is adequate because although there are strong features which 

outweigh weaknesses, there are some important aspects requiring improvement.  
 

The performance management framework is well established and performance and 
wellbeing are well managed with low incidences of sickness absence. There is an 
over reliance on key officers and single points of dependency and this needs to be 
better understood in order to optimise existing resources and ensure any planned 
service restructure delivers more capacity in priority areas. 

 
5.4 Resources management is good because staffing, accommodation and financial 

resources, both revenue and capital, are managed and deployed effectively to 
support learning and improvement. The authority makes good use of the funding it 
receives and spending decisions continue to relate well to strategic priorities for 
improvement, and for the benefit of schools and their learners.  

 
Partnership activity delivers good value for money because it contributes to improved 
provision outcomes for learners in aspects which the authority and its schools alone 
could not provide. 

Page 7



 
5.5 The service currently sets appropriate priorities based on a robust self-evaluation 

process that is well embedded within the department and through governance 
frameworks such as Scrutiny Committee. However there are important areas that 
require improvement in order for priority setting and improvement planning to 
ultimately lead to improved outcomes in schools and therefore the service is 
currently adequate in this area.  

 
 The revised corporate approach to self-evaluation currently being implemented will 

help to ensure that the authority continues to develop a good and improving 
understanding of strengths, weakness and priorities for improvement and this will 
ultimately support the service to ensure it is setting the right priorities, some of which 
will inform corporate priorities, and that the challenge of delivering against these 
priorities successfully is viewed as a shared endeavour. 

 
5.6 The service engagement with stakeholders to address issues identified and the 

response to feedback received is currently good. The service engages regularly with 
stakeholders such as schools, pupils, governors, young people and partner 
organisations and feedback is sought on service delivery, quality and priorities for 
improvement that impacts those service users and stakeholders directly.  

 
An area of improvement is to formalise the process where feedback is used to help 
shape service priorities and service planning so that this can be evidenced and to 
share this information with stakeholders so they are aware of the influence their 
feedback and engagement has had.  
 

5.7  Safeguarding is good because there are many strong features and whilst there are 
areas for development there are no significant areas that require improvement. The 
local authority meets safeguarding regulations and ensures that all school staff 
remain in compliance with training requirements. The detailed Estyn Self-evaluation 
form for Safeguarding and Child Protection has been completed and no significant 
areas for development were identified, although areas for development have been 
noted across each of the 10 SER questions included in the framework. 

 
A copy of the SER has been provided as Appendix 3 to this report. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The aim is for Leadership and Management to be at least Good. 
 
6.2 This will be achieved by addressing the priorities for improvement identified in the 

SER but particularly those that will support leadership, people management and 
priority setting to improve from adequate to good.  

 
6.3 These priorities for improvement to address overall Leadership progress from 

adequate to good have been detailed below. 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 

Priorities for Improvement to progress from adequate to good 

Page 8



 
7.1 Review and refresh the core learning strategy Raising Standards ensuring aligned to 

relevant national, regional and local strategies, involving relevant stakeholders and 
communicating clearly to all staff.   

 
7.2 Increase the involvement of school leaders in school to school working in order to 

share best practice in teaching, learning and leadership and help deliver 
improvements in pupil outcomes. 

 
7.3 Review the strategic approach to Learning Department services and agree 

restructure to ensure delivery on priorities over the medium to long-term in a 
cohesive, collaborative and sustainable way. Timely and clear communication of this 
strategy to staff and other stakeholders is required.  

 
7.4 Increase structured learning and training opportunities for all staff across Education 

services particularly those at middle management level and above to support 
strategic development and succession planning. 

 
7.5 Secure appropriate staffing resources to enable the delivery of a Capita One 

Development Plan which will help to ensure data is used more effectively across the 
Learning department to inform service priorities for improvement. 

 
7.6 Estyn recommendations from 2012 and the Post Inspection Action Plan successfully 

delivered in 2016 should be reviewed to evaluate the local authority’s current 
position against these areas and identify any priorities for improvement that emerge 
to inform Council and service priorities.  

 
Priorities for Improvement to sustain Good provision in existing areas 

 
7.7 Complete the formula funding review and implement recommendations in a timely 

manner to ensure the formula is fair and equitable, needs based/efficient, 
transparent, and as simple as possible. 

 
7.8 Carbon management projects in schools need to be taken forward in collaboration 

with Property Services to reduce the Carbon Footprint in schools and improve 
energy efficiency and sustainability. 

 
7.9 Continue to develop and embed stakeholders’ involvement in contributing towards 

the local authority’s self-evaluation processes and identification of priority areas for 
improvement.  

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The corporate self-evaluation process is based around the services/activities 

delivered and should reflect the contribution made in relation to the four wellbeing 
objectives set down by the Council in focus in the Corporate Wellbeing Plan.   

 

Page 9



8.2 This report specifically links to the Best Start to Life objective within the Council’s 
Corporate Wellbeing Plan: Children and young people get the best start to life 
and are equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and 
confident individuals. 

 
8.3   Through completion of other self-evaluation responses; we will also be able to 

demonstrate our team’s contribution to support progress against the following 
objectives: 

 People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health; and 

 People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of 
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil 
as an attractive destination. 

 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 10



Appendix 1 

 
Self-Evaluation Process Cycle: 4 months x 3 
 
 
    Internal challenge      External challenge 
 
 
 
 
 

                  
          
     

SER 
Question # 
Evidence 
and 
judgment 

 ESLT              

 CRPPH             

Accordin

g to 

 SMB                

CO 

structure 

 SLT 

 TBC 

Scrutiny 

SER  

Question # 
SER  

Question # 

SER  

Question # 

On completion of the 3 key 
questions; thematic 

Performance Board sessions 
would be scheduled in 

Months 12-13 - here there 
would be challenge on the 
overall position statement 

Months 1-2  

Month 3 

Month 4 

Months 5-6  

Months 9-10  

Month 7 Month 11 

Month 8 
Month 12 

P
age 11



Performance Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Analysis of commonalities     Report to CMT to identify support needed to drive 
improvement 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

BEST 
START 

 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business 
Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for 
Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business 
Improvement 
Plans 

WORKING 
LIFE 

 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business 
Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for 
Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business 
Improvement 
Plans 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
WELLBEING 

 
Overall Position  
Statement 
 
Business  
Improvement  
Plans 

LIVING 
WELL 

 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business 
Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for 
Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business 
Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for 
Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
Business 
Improvement 
Plans 

 

 

SUMMONING 

CIRCLE 

Best Start 

Working Life 

Environmental 
Wellbeing 

Living Well 

Finance & 
Accounting 

HR & Legal 

ICT 

Corporate 
Communications 

Page 12



Page 1 of 29 
 

                                                                                                                            

                                                               

Question 3:  Leadership and Management 

LEARNING  

 

SUMMARY STATEMENT 

 
 

 

 

 

3.1 How effective is leadership of the service? <Adequate> 

3.2 How effective is people management in the service? <Adequate> 

3.3 How effective is resource management in the service? <Good> 

3.4 Does the service set the right priorities? <Adequate> 

3.5 How well does the service engage with feedback from 
service users and address issues this identifies? 

<Good> 

3.6 How does the service fulfil its’ statutory responsibility to 
safeguarding? 

<Good> 

 

REMEMBER:  

When completing your form, please try to be evaluative rather than descriptive and focus on the impact and 

outcomes for people and the environment.  In your evaluation identify what you consider to be strengths and areas 

for improvement and be brief, referencing the supporting evidence.  Responses should consider the requirement to 

demonstrate the five ways of working; (e.g.) capture the requirements and contributions of collaborative working 

arrangements etc. 

You will note Questions 3.1 and 3.4 contain some of the same prompts.  Completers are asked to review these whilst 

considering the specific focus on the question (e.g.) the prompt ‘joint outcomes with other services’ should be 

looked at through the lens of the effectiveness of leadership when responding to 3.1; whilst the same prompt should 

be reflected upon in relationship to setting  the right priorities in 3.4. 

  

 

 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough Council 

 

Self-Evaluation Report  

Question 3: Leadership and Management 

Governance (for Performance & Scrutiny use only) 

                  Date: 

Form completed and received:  DD/MM/YYYY      

Internal challenge - session:   DD/MM/YYYY                                                                

Corporate Management Team session:         DD/MM/YYYY                                      

Reviewed at Scrutiny:           25/11/2019 

Appendix 2 

Page 13



Page 2 of 29 
 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.1:  How effective is leadership of the service? 
 
 
 

 
<  Adequate  > 

     

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 
 

 How the service will look in 5 years’ time 

 Head of service and senior managers’ personal objectives linked to service outcomes 

 Successful delivery of personal objectives 

 Elected Members influence on the work of the service 

 Members and senior managers provide a clear direction and culture of open communication, continuous 
learning and accountability 

 Contribution to existing strategic partnership plans 

 Joint outcomes with other services 

 Existing regional collaborations 

 Partnership with the private or third sectors 

 Partnership with public agencies 
 

 
 
 

The effectiveness of leaders is adequate because although strengths outweigh weaknesses there are 
important areas that require improvement. 
 
There is a clear focus on strategic priorities for improvement and delivering plans to address these in order 
to bring about improvements in outcomes. There is a golden thread aligning strategic priorities, business 
improvement planning and the performance management framework. Elected members have good 
engagement with the service through scrutiny and governance frameworks and use these to help shape 
the service priorities and to challenge the service for delivery against these priorities. 
 
Senior officers take lead roles in regional partnership working, contribute to strategic partnership plans 
and are effective when working in collaborative groups across the local authority services including 
partnership working with schools. Partnership working within and beyond the council is well established 
and leads to more effective services, although the increased use of school leaders to support school to 
school working is required to help deliver improvements in pupil outcomes through better leadership and 
teaching and learning practices. 
 
The overall strategic direction of the service over the medium to long-term, the strategic approach to 
raising standards in schools and to digital learning are also important areas for improvement. As is clear 
communication regarding these strategic approaches to services so that staff have a clear sense of the 
direction of travel.  Increased opportunities for professional learning and for formalising the sharing of 
learning are also important areas to be addressed.   
 
 
 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Good Practice: 

Page 14



Page 3 of 29 
 

 

 All officers and elected members share a common vision, objectives and purpose as articulated by the 
corporate plan Focus on the Future. 

 This vision permeates the Focus on Performance employee appraisal scheme and is shared with all staff 
in this way and through the department Learning Away Days. 

 The vision of securing improved outcomes through a self-improving school system is clear and well-
articulated. 

 The Chair of Scrutiny and the Portfolio Lead for Learning work together to ensure a strong focus on 
raising standards for all learners and in providing effective services. 

 There is a comprehensive evaluation and monitoring of data on standards and the quality of education, 
including consideration of trends and progress over time, reported to Cabinet, Council and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 Scrutiny committee continues to play a key role in supporting and challenging the self-evaluation 
process, the judgements in the SER and the priorities for improvement and Scrutiny also continues to 
hold to account the Central South Consortium (CSC), Education Services, schools and delivery against 
the corporate plan Focus on the Future. 

 Focus on the Future sets out the key performance indicators for the Learning Department and 
performance against these targets are monitored throughout the year via updates to Scrutiny and 
through the Annual Performance Report. 

 The Scrutiny Committee continues to have an appropriate and well-planned programme of work that 
includes robust monitoring of the authority’s priorities for improvement arising from the education 
service’s self-evaluation arrangements. The committee is effective in holding the local authority to 
account and challenges where there are concerns.  

 The range of senior officer and member scrutiny meetings that take place as part of the performance 
and challenge framework provide good opportunity for senior officers and members to effectively use 
performance indicators and management information to regularly monitor progress against 
improvement priorities, projects and performance objectives ensuring that remedial action is taken 
where appropriate.  

 The Chief Officer for Learning and the Education Senior Leadership Team lead effective Learning Away 
Days with all senior and middle managers from across the department and including key stakeholder 
services from other departments e.g. CLA, Sports Development, and Headteacher representatives. 

 These Away Days allow for service leads from across the local authority that have an involvement with 
schools to evaluate how the work they do has an impact on outcomes for children and young people, 
and they also allow for joint learning opportunities e.g. Additional Learning Needs Education & 
Transformation Act (ALNET), Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES) Awareness, contributions to self-
evaluation of Education Services and strategic planning and development. 

 Lead officers and senior managers communicate high expectations for securing improvement and 
challenge positively to good effect.   

 Self-evaluation, improvement planning and performance management arrangements are aligned and 
help to ensure that a golden thread linking priorities, action plans and performance objectives is in 
place which helps to deliver improvements against targeted outcomes. 

 Each service Business Improvement Plan is reflected at the sub-level as part of each team’s business 
improvement planning and reflected in individual staff’s annual performance objectives where 
appropriate.  This ensures a golden thread of priorities to better support delivery of plans to address 
priorities. 

 Staff keep up to date with knowledge about their areas of responsibility through attendance and 
participation at conferences, Welsh Government and local workshops. 

 The Chief Officer (Learning) and Head of School Planning and Improvement participated in the 
Association of Directors of Education in Wales (ADEW) Welsh Future Education Leaders’ Programme 
during 2017-18.  

Page 15



Page 4 of 29 
 

 Service leads, Senior Managers/Heads of Service and the Chief Officer are active members of key 
strategic ADEW groups, WG strategy groups and regional consortia and CwmTaf sub-groups where 
established.  This enables services to be up-to-date with professional knowledge, Welsh Government 
(WG) strategic policy development and expectations, and allows for the sharing of best practice, 
problem solving and the opportunity to influence decision making at the highest level. 

 The Chief Officer (Learning) and Heads of Services within the Learning Department were part of the 
corporate Managers Academy during 2017/18.  This programme led to changes within the 
management of strategic activities across the department and enhanced engagement around strategic 
planning with middle and senior management in the Learning Department through the Learning Away 
Days. 

 The Chief Officer (Learning) and Head of Community Wellbeing are members of the Strategic 
Partnership Board (SPB) – the board which leads on and challenges delivery of the CwmTaf Wellbeing 
plan.  The Inclusion Manager is a member of the CwmTaf steering groups in respect of safeguarding 
and mental health. 

 Managers use supervision and appraisals as opportunities to identify professional learning and training 
requirements for themselves and staff they line manage as a way to support CPD and succession 
planning. 

 Corporate HR also provide learning and training opportunities for all staff across the Council to support 
organisational and staff development. Some learning opportunities are mandatory e.g. Domestic 
Violence and others are for CPD e.g. ILM courses and accredited qualifications.  

 Leaders and managers have developed and maintain effective working relationships with other services 
that contribute towards achieving the priority areas for education services.  This includes Property 
Services, HR, Accountancy, Legal, CLA, Sports Development, IT, Business Change, Performance & 
Scrutiny and others.   

 Some of these services areas deliver Education Service Business Improvement Plans working towards 
priorities areas for education and wellbeing and others are leading on education work streams that 
have been agreed with Corporate Management Team.    

 Chief Officer and Head of School Planning & Improvement are collaborating with Head of IT and service 
leads to develop the Hwb Infrastructure Programme, ensuring it is fit for purpose and meets the needs 
of schools for the 21st Century in partnership with the Schools Digital Strategy Group which includes 
representatives from the CSC region. This partnership working is also seeking to ensure the programme 
is sustainable, in collaboration with the Chief Finance Officer and the Schools Forum.  

 Officers and school members collaborate well and provide good leadership to the Schools Forum 
helping to deliver strategic priorities and plans for education services.  The quality of professional 
relationships and distributed leadership across the group supports effective decision making in support 
of improvement priorities for both the local authority and schools. 

 A strong partnership between the authority and its regional consortium for school improvement, 
Central South Consortium, helps to provide a clear model of support and challenge for schools, which is 
proportionate to their level of need. 

 The LA evaluates the impact of the CSCs school improvement work and manages the partnership 
arrangement and relationship through the termly performance meetings.  This allows the authority to 
direct the consortium’s education services to specific areas for improvement more efficiently, and to 
hold the consortium to account for the quality of its work more effectively. 

 Improved partnership working in Youth Support Services enables the authority to take a strategic 
approach when planning future services.  A key driver of the new partnership arrangements is the 
establishment of the Youth Support Services steering group.   

 The authority works well in partnership with the voluntary sector through its partnership with the 
Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil and the providers’ network.  This has enabled an improved 
understanding of provision in this area and is giving lead workers better opportunities to meet the 
needs of young people.   

Page 16



Page 5 of 29 
 

 The local authority commissions a wide range of services for pupils with ALN from a neighbouring 
authority, Health and from private providers which has led to a more rigorous and consistent approach 
to the provision of support and efficient use of resources. 

 Greenfield Special School, on behalf of the authority, continues to provide a highly effective outreach 
service for schools and is continuing to lead on the implementation of the person-centred planning 
model, along with PBS training. This helps mainstream schools in preparing for the statutory reform of 
additional learning needs and to improve provision for pupils with ALN. Currently 23 out of 27 (85%) of 
schools have attended training on person-centred planning. 

 Strong partnerships with schools, other local authorities and community groups underpin the 
development of the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan. The WESP details proposals for developing a 
third WM primary school in response to the commitment of leaders to encourage further growth in 
demand for WM education places.   

 The local authority’s Band B SOP for 21st Century Schools demonstrates an integrated strategic 
approach at a local and national level including co-location of early years provision and Welsh Medium 
place. The strategic programme evidences the commitment of leaders to make increased investment of 
resources aligned to key strategic priorities and long-term planning.  

 The Council has historically been proactive in taking difficult decisions with respect to school 
reorganisation and has continued to take positive steps towards effective school reorganisation.  

 In recent years establishing a federated governing body across two VA schools, a merged primary and 
nursery across 2 sites prior to a single new build as part of 21st Century schools, and has recently 
overseen a second federation involving neighbouring schools in the south of the county borough and 
approved proposals to form a 3-16 VA school on a single site in the place of the four existing VA 
schools.  

 

 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.1:  How effective is leadership of the service? 
 

 
 
 

 

 Scrutiny Committee Report – Inspection Area 3 Leadership and Management, November 2018 

 Background paper IA 3.1, November 2018 

 Headteacher Forum agendas 

 Chairs of Governors Forum agendas 

 Scrutiny reporting schedule 2018-2019 

 Cabinet reporting schedule 2018-2019 

 Council reporting schedule 2018-2019 

 Risk Management Conference minutes (see IA2.1) 

 LA Performance Meeting minutes (see IA 2.1)  

 Early Years Strategy Group Minutes 

 NEET Steering Group minutes 

 Play Sufficiency Steering Group minutes 

 YSS meeting minutes 

 YSS Steering Group TOR 

 YSS Strategic Plan   

 Scrutiny Committee Report – Inspection Area 3 Leadership and Management, November 2018 

Evidence: 

Page 17



Page 6 of 29 
 

 Scrutiny Report – National Categorisation of Schools, January 2019 (see IA 2.1) 

 Background paper IA 3.2,  November 2018 

 ESLT minutes 

 Headteacher Forum agenda (see 3.1) 

 Chair of Governors Forum agenda (see 3.1) 

 School Forum agenda 

 Annual Performance Report 2017-2018 

 L&L scrutiny work programme 

 Risk Management Committee minutes 

 CMT minutes 

 Business Improvement Plans 2018-2019 

 Best Start SOAP 

 Raising Standards SOAP 

 Team Business Improvement Plans 

 Estyn Thematic Review action plan 

 Complaints Guidance for Governing Bodies 

 SLA Annual Evaluation returns 

 Scrutiny Committee Report – Inspection Area 3 Leadership and Management, November 2018 

 Background paper IA3.3, November 2018 

 All Wales Advisory meeting  

 FPP Fine Motor Skills powerpoint 

 WG EYAT meeting,  May 2017 

 Scrutiny Committee Report – Inspection Area 3 Leadership and Management, November 2018 

 Background paper IA3.3, November 2018 

 All Wales Advisory meeting  

 FPP Fine Motor Skills powerpoint 

 WG EYAT meeting,  May 2017 

 Scrutiny Committee Report – Inspection Area 3 Leadership and Management, November 2018 

 Background paper IA3.4, November 2018 

 Scrutiny Committee Report – Inspection Area 3 Leadership and Management, November 2018 

 Background paper IA3.5, November 2018 

 Budget Papers 2018/19 and 2019/20 

 School Nurse SLA 

 Facility time Cabinet Report 

 Bid for temporary staff resources to support ALNET bill and supporting online Admissions 

 Nursery Sufficiency brief 

 L&L Scrutiny Budget Report 2019/20 (LRB and PRU growth) 

 Capital Budget 2018/19 onwards / Corporate Mtce Budget 2018/19 

 Band B SOP August 2017 / Revised SOP February 2019 

 Bands A / b Match funding matrix 

 WM Capital Grant Bid 

 Reducing Infant Class sizes bid 

 Budget efficiency options papers 2015/16 onwards  

 Structures 2014/15 and current structure 2018/19 

 ESP Budget 2018/19 & Annex B 2018/19 

 ALN Innovation Grant 18/19 

 Schools Forum Agendas/Minutes 

 Basic Skills case study 2015 

 Schools Forum minutes 

 Schools Balances Cabinet Report 2017-2019 

 Schools Financial Training presentation 

 Schools Financial Monitoring, Scrutiny and Intervention Policy 

Page 18



Page 7 of 29 
 

 Bedlinog PLD 2018-19 

 Various school VER Business cases 

 Section 52 Formula Funding Statement 

 Pupil led review 2014-2016 Schools Forum report 

 Social Needs Cabinet report  

 Schools Forum minutes/papers 

 EIG Delegation papers 2018-19 

 Finance committee minutes 

 Schools Financial monitoring meetings Minutes 

 Supply cluster grant bid & approvals 

 Reducing infant class sizes grant bid & approvals 

 Small & Rural schools bid & approvals 

 WM Capital Grant bid & approvals 

 Early Years Capital bid & approvals 

 Band A YYG OBC & Approval letter/email 

 Risk management minutes  

 Capita One Cabinet report re 5 year contract  

 Capita One Review - Report 

 Ed Psych SLA 2017-2020 

 Cwm Taf SALT SLA 2018-2021 

 VI SLA 2018-19 

 Minutes of meetings/emails re meetings 

 Exchange Counselling SLA 2018-19 

 LRB Transitional budget 2018-2020. 

 Case study re outreach work?? 

 ALNET Bill readiness updates to L&L scrutiny 

 VFM Update to L&L scrutiny Oct 2018 

 Performance meeting minutes 2017/18 & 2018/19 

 Categorisation process and allocation of support  2018/19 

 See 2.1 

 CSC VfM Report to L&L Scrutiny March 2018 

 SLA Annual Evaluations – Schools Forum papers/minutes 

 Schools Forum minutes / SLA Documents 2015-18 

 Schools Forum papers/minutes 

 Schools Forum minutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

 

 Ensure that key messages from professional learning opportunities are shared with colleagues within 
and across departments. 

 Maintain a directory of training and structured professional learning opportunities undertaken by staff 

Areas for Development: 

Page 19



Page 8 of 29 
 

and evaluate the impact that professional learning activities have on improving the quality of outcomes 
and education services. 

 To develop a more robust sharing of information at Team Around School (TAS) meetings.  

 Improve the effectiveness of multi-agency collaboration through the Public Service Board in identifying 
and unblocking barriers to improvement, holding statutory partnerships to account and in monitoring 
the impact its work has on improving service delivery across organisations. 

 Develop a Schools’ Digital Strategy in partnership with Schools ICT service lead, CSC links, 
representative headteachers and school IT leads. Liaise with CSC Directors to ensure consistent 
development of digital strategy across the region. 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements- this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

 Review and refresh the core learning strategy Raising Standards ensuring aligned to relevant 
national, regional and local strategies, involving relevant stakeholders and communicating clearly to 
all staff.   

 Increase the involvement of school leaders in school to school working in order to share best practice in 
teaching, learning and leadership and help deliver improvements in pupil outcomes 

 Review the strategic approach to Learning Department services and agree restructure to ensure 
delivery on priorities over the medium to long-term in a cohesive, collaborative and sustainable 
way. Timely and clear communication of this strategy to staff and other stakeholders is required. 

 Increase structured learning and training opportunities for all staff across Education services 
particularly those at middle management level and above to support strategic development and 
succession planning. 

 
 

  

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



Page 9 of 29 
 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.2:  How effective is people management in the service? 
 
 
 

 
<  Adequate  > 

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 
 

 Sickness absence management 

 Performance appraisals 

 Management of poor performance 

 Staff perception of management 

 Motivation of staff 

 Service resilience and over-reliance on key officers 
 

 
 
 

People management is adequate because although there are strong features which outweigh weaknesses, there are 
some important aspects requiring improvement.  
 
The performance management framework is well established and performance and wellbeing are well managed 
with low incidences of sickness absence.  
 
Long-term uncertainty over the services future due to regional collaboration discussions, historic service contraction 
and loss of senior posts had previously affected morale and motivation but this has begun to be addressed and staff 
are increasingly engaged and motivated through the Learning Away Days and because service contraction has 
slowed due to issues of resilience arising which has brought a period of stability. 
 
There is an over reliance on key officers and single points of dependency and this needs to be better understood in 
order to optimise existing resources and ensure any planned service restructure delivers more capacity in priority 
areas. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Good Practice: 

Page 21



Page 10 of 29 
 

 
 All staff have performance appraisals and one to one supervision sessions and all teams/team leaders are 

responsible for delivering Business Improvement Plans to meet agreed priorities for improvement.  

 The performance management framework supports staff and management to appropriately assess outcomes 
and their own performance. The 1-1 supervision helps enable staff address performance management concerns 
or issues before these escalate into formal processes. 

 Staff wellbeing is managed through 1-1 supervision and the department has a low level of staff sickness rates. 

 There are currently no issues of staff being managed through the capability or disciplinary policies for reasons of 
poor performance. 

 Staff motivation has improved over the last 12 months as there has been more stability in these service at all 
levels. 

 Staff from across the department, understand and discharge their roles and responsibilities well, and collaborate 
effectively within Education services and across the local authority in driving forward strategic priorities and 
plans for education services. 

 The Learning Away Days have helped improve the motivation, morale and sense of shared responsibility for 
service delivery across the department. This needs to be embedded across all teams. 

 Team meetings enable departmental and corporate messages to be consistently shared with staff and help with 
lines of communication and there is regular feedback from staff to senior officers via team leaders. 

 There are a number of SPODs across multiple areas within the service but no record of this over reliance on 
officers is maintained to help inform strategic planning of human resources. 

 When key staff are unavailable due to ill health or any other reason, other staff are usually very willing to step in 
and support, share knowledge and help deliver expected outcomes wherever possible. 

 This team ethic of staff to help out in areas outside of their direct role in support of the service, the school and 
the young people of Merthyr is a very good feature of the department’s staff. 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.2:  How effective is people management in the service? 
 

 
 
 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

Uncertainty over the strategic direction of the Learning Department and whether services will be delivered on a 
regional footprint, in collaboration with other LAs and/or via a merger with other LAs is a cause for concern amongst 
staff in the department and has previously affected motivation and morale.  

 

 

Evidence: 

Areas for Development: 

Page 22



Page 11 of 29 
 

There are a number of SPODs across multiple areas within the service but no record of this over reliance on officers 
is maintained to help inform strategic planning of human resources. A record of these SPODs will help the service to 
plan service reconfiguration and to increase resilience more strategically. 
 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements - this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

 
 
Timely and open communication of the strategic plans for the overall service once developed will be very important.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



Page 12 of 29 
 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.3:  How effective is resource management in the service? 
 
 
 

 
<  Good  > 

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 
 

 Value for money 

 Budget management 

 Delivery of planned efficiency savings  

 Aligning resources to deliver service and corporate outcomes 
 

 
 
 

Resources management is good because staffing, accommodation and financial resources, both revenue 
and capital, are managed and deployed effectively to support learning and improvement. The authority 
makes good use of the funding it receives and spending decisions continue to relate well to strategic 
priorities for improvement, and for the benefit of schools and their learners. Partnership activity delivers 
good value for money because it contributes to improved provision outcomes for learners in aspects which 
the authority and its schools alone could not provide. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 The local authority makes good use of resources for education services and spending decisions relate 
well to strategic priorities for improvement. Additional resources have been allocated to address 
priority areas and improvement projects that have been identified through self-evaluation, business 
planning and SLA review processes.  

 The local authority also proactively seeks and uses external grant funding, both revenue and capital, to 
address its own and schools’ priorities. 

 Additional resources, both one-off and recurring, have been allocated to Education services budgets to 
address priority areas and improvement projects that have been identified through self-evaluation, 
business planning and SLA review processes  

 Examples of this are; VI SLA and School Nurse SLA resources for Greenfield Special school, additional 
temporary staff resources to support the transitioning to the ALNET Bill and transitioning to online 
admissions, additional facility time for teacher union reps, commissioning of a nursery sufficiency 
review, and temporary resources to manage data quality in Capita One pending a permanent solution.    

 Additional resources have been secured from the local authority’s budget for 2018/19 and beyond to 
support the outcomes of the ALN review. These resources have enabled enhanced specialist provisions 
to be set up for a two year transitional period September 2018 to August 2020.  

 The additional resources secured have been largely offset by identifying efficiency savings from 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Good Practice: 

Page 24



Page 13 of 29 
 

reductions in Enhanced Provision support and Out of County placements arising from placing pupils in 
the new and more appropriate specialist provision within the county borough. 

 The allocation of the local authority’s capital and corporate maintenance budgets reflect education 
priorities including capital works to support the new specialist provisions, additional accommodation 
space for the special school due to increasing pupil numbers, and priority maintenance work including 
significant roof repair/replacements and lighting and insulation works.  

 The 21st Century Schools programme Bands A and B reflect significant match funded resource 
investment by the local authority on priority education improvement projects that address; poor/bad 
condition buildings no longer suitable for teaching and learning, schools with significant surplus places 
and enable the co-location of early years/nursery education on the same sites as both Primary and 
Secondary schools, including proposed 3-16 schools / sites where possible.  

 The local authority’s wider Education asset management plan resourced through WG capital grants and 
CIL monies enables the delivery of other strategic priorities and projects such as significantly increasing 
Primary school places in the WM sector, increasing the capacity of primary schools at risk of 
oversubscription, increasing the number of nursery education places in both maintained and non-
maintained settings and further increasing the co-location of early years childcare settings within 
school premises in support of the 30 hr childcare offer. 

 The identification of efficiency savings within Education services has been led for a number of years by 
a strategic approach to remodelling services based on providing statutory and essential functions for 
better economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

 All services have been reviewed since 2014 to ensure that the core resources are spent on delivering 
statutory and / or essential functions. This is an ongoing consideration in the annual budget setting 
process. 

 Also, in order to maximise the effective and efficient use of central staff resources a number of reviews 
of the management structure has led to realignment of roles / responsibilities to maximise utility of 
existing staff, enhancing existing SLA arrangements where possible and as such there has been a 
significant reduction to the number of management positions. 

 The LAs Strategic Education Projects (SEPs) budget (£42k in 18/19) and Annex B CSC budget (£8k in 
18/19) are available resources to support school improvement strategies within schools and the LA and 
both budgets are allocated based on agreed emerging school improvement priorities. 

 The ALNET Grant of £818k for 2018/19 has been allocated across the region for LAs to lead on one or 
more of the eight priorities. MTCBC is leading on priorities 5 and 8 (circa £168k in total). Merthyr has 
been directly allocated £65k for delivery against various priorities, the largest allocation out of all 
central south regional LAs. However, all LAs will benefit from the work that is being delivered from this 
grant.  

 The local Schools Forum is used very effectively to review many aspects of schools funding on an 
annual basis. E.g. schools funding is reviewed annually to target where efficiency savings can be 
delivered whilst having the least impact on the core business of teaching and learning. Schools Forum 
recommendations are risk assessed and consulted on with all schools. 

 No schools ended 2018/19 in a financial deficit position. 

 The local authority evaluates the financial risk of schools and categorises them annually Red, Amber, 
Yellow, Green in order to determine the appropriate level of monitoring, challenge and support 
required by the school in order to help support the school to provide economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in their financial management of the school. 

 The number of schools at medium or high financial risk in 2018/19 has increased year on year from six 
to eight which is an increase from 21% to 30%.  These risks are based on the indicative financial 
pressure schools are expecting to face over their medium term financial plan. This approach enables 
early intervention to challenge and support schools with financial planning. 

 Schools that require a reconfiguration of their workforce due to financial pressures are supported with 
a robust business plan process that enables the local authority to scrutinise and challenge the 

Page 25



Page 14 of 29 
 

sustainability of the proposals, both financial and service delivery, prior to committing Council 
resources to finance the necessary VR/VER costs.  

 The LAs formula allocation funds schools in recognition of pupil needs and the contexts of schools 
providing specific allocations for SEN, SpLD, EAL and deprivation as measured by WIMD. Also, in 
recognition of the inefficiency caused by surplus places, a 10% threshold is applied to surplus places 
before the funding a school receives for premises is proportionately reduced by the % surplus places.  

 The EIG is allocated via the Central South Consortium through a regional model which ensures a high 
level of EIG funds are delegated to schools. 

 All schools use school spending plans for WG grants; EIG, PDG etc. which are signed off by CAs. Schools 
are supported to reconcile these plans to their annual budget and to share this detail in their finance 
committees so that use of the grant can be effectively monitored and challenged by governors. 

 Schools are advised to review grant spending plans to ensure the grants are being used for additionality 
and not to subsidise core provision.  

 The local authority has worked in partnership with schools and clusters of schools to proactively seek 
and use external grant funding to address its own and schools’ priorities.  

 These grant funding opportunities include funding for supply teachers to be utilised across clusters of 
schools, funding for additional classroom teachers to increase the number of foundation phase classes 
in schools with large class sizes, and to build additional classrooms where appropriate. Funding for 
Small and Rural schools has also been secured to support innovative working within small schools.  

 Capital grant funding has been secured to deliver strategic priorities related to the WESP through the 
Welsh Medium Capital Grant and through the Early Years Capital bid in support of the roll out of the 30 
hrs childcare offer. 

 The local authority has secured full approval from WG for the £7.1 million new build Ysgol Y Graig 
project as part of the 21st Century Schools Band A programme and includes a proposal to co-locate a 
pre-school within the new build as part of the Early Years Capital grant award.   

 To date, the use of Capita One has been successful in allowing the LA to access better quality, timely 
performance data for schools that has enabled targeted monitoring, challenge, support and 
intervention to bring about improvements in school and pupil outcomes.  

 However, further investment is required to adequately resource a central Capita One team that will be 
able to improve the availability and use of high quality and timely management information across all 
education services.  

 A recent review of Capita One use in Merthyr by RCT acknowledged the good work and progress that 
the local authority has made with Capita One but identified the need to resolve technical maintenance 
reliability and to sufficiently resource a dedicated Capita One team as critical to further the 
development and use of management information in support of improving the outcomes of children 
and young people.   

 The local authority also has a number of partnership arrangements in place with RCT and Cwm Taf 
Health for the delivery of ALN services. These arrangements such as; Education Psychology Joint 
Service, Visual Impairment SLA, Speech and Language Therapy SLA, Special School Nurse SLA enable the 
delivery of essential and statutory services to pupils that would be non-viable otherwise.  

 These services have a positive impact on pupils and enable the local authority to meet their needs 
more effectively. Each of these SLAs costs are reviewed in detail between the partners and challenged 
for greater quality in terms of outcomes, cost effectiveness and efficiency.  

 In order to avoid possible duplication of delivery and maximise effective service provision the LA has 
jointly contracted for the School Counselling Service along with the Families First Counselling Service 
from April 2018.  

 The LA is working in partnership with Greenfield Special School on a transitional basis to deliver an 
outreach service to mainstream schools in order to support pupils with behavioural needs and improve 
the capacity within schools to meet those needs.  

Page 26



Page 15 of 29 
 

 The local authority is working in partnership with other LAs across the region to develop readiness for 
the ALNET. This is focused on ensuring school and LA readiness and providing transitioning support for 
the bill implementation and roll out. The aim of the partnership working is to optimise the synergies 
and efficiencies from a consistent approach across the region to support effective delivery of ALN 
reform for the benefit of pupils’ wellbeing and overall outcomes. 

 The local authority undertakes its own value for money analysis comparing its costs and outcomes for 
pupils and youth services with those of other authorities and can demonstrate whether children and 
young people achieve good outcomes in relation to costs of the services that it provides. 

 The analysis provides the authority with a good understanding of the value-for-money provided by 
schools and youth services 

 Resources are used effectively and efficiently by CSC, through the categorisation process, to provide 
support for schools in inverse proportion to success. CSC targeted support to underperforming schools 
has generally led to improvement in measurable outcomes, although performance in pupil outcomes 
across key stages has fallen overall in 2018. 

 The CSC review its own performance and VfM provided to each LA through the publication of its annual 
Value for Money Report and this is subject to local authority scrutiny through Learning Scrutiny 
committee.  

 Provision of support services to schools via SLAs are evaluated annually by schools at the request of the 
Schools Forum. The annual evaluation considers impact, quality, cost-effectiveness and value for 
money and requires schools to judge services either Excellent, Good, Adequate or Unsatisfactory.  

 All SLAs were subject to a fundamental review for the three year cycle 2015-18 by the Schools Forum in 
partnership with the LA and improvements were made in terms of cost reductions, removal of non-
essential and duplicate functions/SLAs, and a clearer focus in terms of service objectives. 

 In the annual evaluation of SLAs during the Autumn Term 2018 all SLAs were rated as at least Good for 
the first time since SLAs have been reviewed and evaluated following the 2012 inspection. 

 SLAs were also assessed for the current 2018-21 cycle by the Schools Forum and those causing most 
concern to schools were reviewed by a task and finish group of Headteachers and service managers 
resulting in the resolution of emerging issues and further improvements being made to the respective 
SLAs. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.3:  How effective is resource management in the service? 
 

Evidence: 

Page 27



Page 16 of 29 
 

 
 
 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

 

1. Continue to receive corporate assessments of VFM comparative performance across Wales for LA 
performance data for schools, pupils and CYP.  

2. Relaunch financial management training to schools categorised as Red or Amber in order to facilitate 
wider improvements in the financial stewardship of governing bodi 

 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements - this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

 

1. Complete the formula funding review and implement recommendations in a timely manner to 
ensure the formula is fair and equitable, needs based/efficient, transparent, and as simple as 
possible. 
 

2. Carbon management projects in schools need to be taken forward in collaboration with Property 
Services to reduce the Carbon Footprint in schools and improve energy efficiency and sustainability. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.4:  Does the service set the right priorities? 
 
 
 

 
<  Adequate  > 

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 

Areas for Development: 

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Page 28



Page 17 of 29 
 

 

 how the service understand the needs of the community  

 how the service address the needs of the community (support for service improvement) 

 how well the service aligns its activities to the councils wellbeing objectives 

 Contribution to existing strategic partnership plans 

 Joint outcomes with other services 

 Existing regional collaborations 

 Partnership with the private or third sectors 

 Partnership with public agencies 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Current Position: 

Page 29



Page 18 of 29 
 

The service currently sets appropriate priorities based on a robust self-evaluation process that is well 
embedded within the department and through governance frameworks such as Scrutiny Committee. 
However there are important areas that require improvement in order for priority setting and 
improvement planning to ultimately lead to improved outcomes in schools and therefore the service is 
adequate currently in this area.  
 
The current self-evaluation processes result in leaders, managers and elected members having an accurate 
picture and understanding of the strengths and weaknesses of the service and they routinely make good 
use of a range of rigorous monitoring activities.  Performance data is consistently used to monitor progress 
and plan for improvement.  There is a sustained focus on achieving progress against the authority’s 
priorities and on ensuring an effective and efficient service delivery. 
 
The time delay between good self-evaluation/improvement planning and improved service provision and 
outcomes is acknowledged, and so further evaluation of the impact of SER and improvement planning is 
required.  
 
The revised corporate approach to self-evaluation currently being implemented will help to ensure that the 
authority continues to develop a good and improving understanding of strengths, weakness and priorities 
for improvement within all of its service areas. This consistency of process at the corporate level will help 
to ensure scrutiny and challenge of all authority services including Education is robust. 
 
This will ultimately support the service to ensure it is setting the right priorities, some of which will inform 
corporate priorities, and that the challenge of delivering against these priorities successfully is viewed as a 
shared endeavour. 
 
 
 

Good Practice: 

Page 30



Page 19 of 29 
 

 

 Self-evaluation processes across the local authority’s education services continue to be robust, 
transparent and based on reliable and comparative performance data.  Information is used well to 
challenge performance, set ambitious targets, and to identify priorities for improvement that are used 
to inform service planning.  

 The sharing and use of data within education and the wider Learning department has improved 
significantly following the implementation of Capita One in 2013-14 including across schools 
performance, attendance, exclusions, admissions, ALN, NEETS, Early Years and Youth Services. The 
authority is in a stronger position to monitor performance, identify trends and determine suitable 
priorities for improvement through appropriate data analysis. However, resource capacity to develop 
the current use any further is very limited. 

 Self-evaluation reports are discussed and debated in the Education Services Leadership Team (ESLT) 
meetings and Learning Away Days which includes middle and senior managers from across Education 
services, officers from other local authority departments and Head Teachers.  The corporate 
performance officer link for education services also attends to provide corporate scrutiny, challenge 
and support.  

 The priorities are shared with and understood by local authority officers and schools, underpinned by 
the five ways of working and linked to the corporate wellbeing plan. 

 The corporate performance and challenge framework includes arrangements for reporting on key 
performance indicators and outcomes against the corporate wellbeing plan ‘Focus on the Future’ 
within the Annual Performance Report, as required by the Wellbeing and Future Generations Act, 
2015.  

 A representative of the Youth Forum now sits on all Scrutiny committees and plays an active role on 
challenging local authority officers.  Views of the community expressed through the wellbeing and 
population needs assessments have informed projects and delivery plans for the wellbeing objectives 
identified within the Corporate Wellbeing Plan Focus on the Future. 

 The process of improvement planning has been developed further in order to formally capture key 
priorities for improvement identified from the self-evaluation process within each service areas 
business improvement plan.  Each Business Improvement Plan sets out clearly the actions for 
improvement, with specified and realistic timescales and allocated officers responsible for delivery. 

 The Corporate Wellbeing Plan ‘Focus on the Future’ has clear links to the Public Service Board’s (PSB) 
Wellbeing Plan and includes the Best Start wellbeing objective as the core corporate objective for 
Education Services.   This is supported by the Chief Education Officers Best Start Strategy On A Page 
(SOAP) and monitored via regular performance reporting to Scrutiny committees against the key 
performance indicators and the annual wellbeing projects.  

 Each education service area has a service SOAP that aligns to the Best Start SOAP  

 Evaluation and monitoring of progress against the recommendations from the Estyn monitoring 
inspection report of January 2016 is undertaken periodically and where appropriate actions are 
planned to sustain improvements.   

 Recommendations from Estyn thematic reviews are responded to and inform planning as well as other 
reports from inspectorates and regulators being reviewed and evaluated to assess implications for 
planning. E.g. reports in relation to the CSC.  

 Departmental processes for identifying, reviewing and assessing risks facing schools are well 
established and involve collaboration between Challenge Advisors/Senior Challenge Advisors and 
service leads from across the Education services.  This process has been delivered through half-termly 
Team Around the School (TAS) meetings and include an escalation process to the Learning 
Department’s Risk Management meeting.   

 Corporate processes for the establishment and review of risks are also well established and the 
Learning Department’s half-termly Risk Management meetings with the Chief Executive and senior 
officers from Legal and Human Resources complement this.  As a result, issues and risks in schools are 

Page 31



Page 20 of 29 
 

addressed swiftly.  

 Leaders have reviewed and acted upon recommendations to strengthen the Council’s EOTAS provision 
and have restructured the leadership and governance arrangements, registering the provision as a PRU 
in September 2018 that has led to improved leadership and teaching during the 2018/19 academic 
year. 

   
 

 

 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.4:  Does the service set the right priorities? 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements - this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

 

 Secure appropriate staffing resources to enable the delivery of a Capita One Development Plan which 
will help to ensure data is used more effectively across the Learning department to inform service 
priorities for improvement. 

Evidence: 

Areas for Development: 

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



Page 21 of 29 
 

 
 Estyn recommendations from 2012 and the Post Inspection Action Plan successfully delivered in 2016 

should be reviewed to evaluate the local authority’s current position against these areas and identify 
any priorities for improvement that emerge to inform Council and service priorities. 

 

Page 33



Page 22 of 29 
 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.5:  How well does the service engage with feedback from stakeholders and address issues they  
                           identify? 
 
 
 

 
<  Good  > 

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 
 

 the quality and frequency of service contact with all relevant stakeholders 

 Responses to engagement activity (e.g. customer surveys, focus groups, pubic events etc.) 
 

 
 
 

 
The service engagement with stakeholders to address issues identified and the response to feedback received is 
currently Good. The service engages regularly with stakeholders such as schools, pupils, governors, young people 
and partner organisations and feedback is sought on service delivery, quality and priorities for improvement that 
impacts those service users and stakeholders directly.  
 
An area of improvement is to formalise the process where feedback is used to help shape service priorities and 
service planning so that this can be evidenced and to share this information with stakeholders so they are aware of 
the influence their feedback and engagement has had.  
 
 
 

 
 
 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Good Practice: 

Page 34



Page 23 of 29 
 

 Service managers have delivered sustained improved performance of support services delivered to 
schools since the fundamental review of SLA and non-statutory services in 2014 including the 
restructuring and reconfiguration of various services. 

 The Schools Forum’s annual evaluation of local authority SLAs is participated in by 100% of schools and 
is used very well by service managers to improve services in response to constructive feedback from 
schools and where appropriate complaints as detailed in the evaluation returns 

 Since 2018 all services have received an average Grade of at least Good from schools. Services that 
were previously adequate have responded to feedback and improved, and those that show year on 
year fall in scores are prioritised for close scrutiny by the Schools Forum. 

 Annual changes to scheme of delegation / schools formula funding receive high levels of engagement 
from schools. This feedback is always reported to Cabinet to inform their decision making. 

 Schools contribute appropriately to the Education service’s self-evaluation through a valuable range of 
working groups and forums and Head Teachers have recently been added to the participants at 
Learning Away Days.  They also continue to contribute effectively to reviews of relevant service level 
agreements. 

 Schools provide feedback through Headteacher and other forums and this information informs service 
discussions at ESLT and where appropriate strategic developments for service delivery including the 
establishment of working groups to support changes to existing practices e.g. enhanced support 
review.   

 The authority has also worked very well in partnership with young people to develop programmes and 
to refine support processes that respond to current needs and issues. 

 The local authority is proactive in responding to complaints about its services and complainants are 
supported well by both local authority officers though the Governor Support Services and by external 
agencies e.g. SNAP Cymru.  

 Good practice and guidance on the management of complaints is shared with Governors regularly and 
training provided to schools where necessary. 

 Pupil voice is strong across the LA. All schools actively seek pupil voice and have Student Councils. 
Some schools also have Eco and /or Attendance Committees. The remit of these groups vary, but are a 
vehicle to better understand the needs of the pupil by empowering them to take ownership of projects 
to ensure improvements. 

 Pupil voice was been actively sought as part of the Council’s current public consultation on Post 16 
Transport options.  

 Half of schools are engaged in the Rights Respecting Schools, enabling an ethos of mutual respect 
whereby pupils and staff feel listened to and valued. Two schools, Heolgerrig Primary and Trelewis 
Primary have witnessed an improvement in attendance and a reduction in exclusions since becoming a 
Rights Respecting School. 

 In 2018/19 the second Student conference event focusing on the Future Generation and Wellbeing Act 
was held. The aim of this event was for the young people to learn how the Future Generation and 
Wellbeing Act will impact on them and for their voice/opinions to be heard with regards to the new 
ways of working and for them to understand how they can influence planning. As a result of these 
meetings there has been improved communication between the PSB and the future generation of 
MTCBC. 

 Good progress has been made involving young people and families in self-evaluation of services 
provided and how they could be improved and further improvements in this area have been identified 
as a priority to deliver through improvement planning. 

 

 
 
 

 

Evidence: 

Page 35



Page 24 of 29 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 36



Page 25 of 29 
 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.5:  How well does the service engage with feedback from stakeholders and address issues they  
                           identify? 
 

 
 
 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements - this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

 
 

 Continue to develop and embed stakeholders’ involvement in contributing towards the local 
authority’s self-evaluation processes and identification of priority areas for improvement.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Areas for Development: 

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



Page 26 of 29 
 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.6:  How does the service fulfil its’ statutory responsibility relating to safeguarding? 
                            
 
 
 

 
<  Good  > 

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the ESTYN guidance 3.4 - safeguarding 
 

 
 
 

 

Safeguarding is good because there are many strong features and whilst there are areas for development 
there are no significant areas that require improvement. The local authority meets safeguarding 
regulations and ensures that all school staff remain in compliance with training requirements. The detailed 
Estyn Self-evaluation form for Safeguarding and Child Protection has been completed and no significant 
areas for development were identified, although areas for development has been noted across each of the 
10 SER questions included in the framework. 
 
A copy of the SER has been provided as an appendix to this SER. 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Good Practice: 

Page 38



Page 27 of 29 
 

 Safeguarding arrangements and governance are robust and are in compliance with Welsh Government 
guidance.  

 All schools engage in the annual Safeguarding Self-evaluation process.  

 The Child Safeguarding Policy and self-evaluation audit tool have been updated in light of the Prevent 
Duty and statutory requirements around Female Genital Mutilation and Domestic Violence. This self-
evaluation template aims enables schools to monitor and evaluate their own safeguarding 
arrangements. 

 All school governing bodies have adopted the Cwm Taf exemplar Child Safeguarding Policy for 2017/18 
and are currently in the process of doing so for that of 2018/19. 

 Advice and guidance is provided on the content of risk assessments which continue to be quality 
assured. 

 The local authority has a Safeguarding Officer who is the Local Authority’s Designated Officer for 
Safeguarding and the Inclusion Manager is the Education Lead Officer.   

 All schools have a Designated Senior Person (DSP) with responsibility for safeguarding. All school staff 
and pupils are made aware of whom they are.  

 The Local Safeguarding Board has recently endorsed their policy on ‘Responding to Safeguarding 
Concerns about Individuals Whose Work Brings them into Contact with Children and Adults at Risk’. The 
Inclusion department have produced guidance specifically for schools on the process to follow when an 
allegation is made against a member of staff, in order to ensure that staff feel supported during this 
process.  Additional information has been produced to enable schools to support staff in the aftermath.  

 The Local Authority has a clear Safer Recruitment process and routinely monitors compliance. 

 The Safeguarding Forum for schools continues to regularly meet and share current safeguarding 
policies, processes and good practice. Outside agencies are invited to these meetings i.e. the Police. 

 In the Autumn Term of 2018/19 a joint Safeguarding training day was held with RCT for Headteachers 
and Senior Managers. This covered such topics as modern slavery, County Lines and FGM.  

 The local authority disseminates up to date information, polices and protocols in respect of 
Safeguarding to colleagues in the department and to schools.  

 The local authority provides information and resources in relation to Anti-bullying and Safeguarding 
week so that schools can partake in these activities. The aim of which is to ensure that children and 
young people can make informed choices.  

 Education has representation on the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board and its Sub groups to ensure that it is 
aware of new policies and protocols and therefore best placed to share good practice.  

 The local authority has established a Corporate Safeguarding Group to develop relationships between 
all departments to ensure safeguarding and the promotion of welfare of both children and adults. This 
group monitors performance in relation to Safeguarding across the Council.  

 Safeguarding Training has been delivered to Governors, peripatetic staff, and colleagues working in 
Catering and Transport to ensure that all those working with children or vulnerable adults are aware of 
their safeguarding responsibilities.  

 Safeguarding training has been delivered to local authority and school staff; to which all schools have 
engaged.   

 Safeguarding training modules produced by Welsh Government have been shared with schools and 
local authority colleagues 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Evidence: 

Page 39



Page 28 of 29 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 40



Page 29 of 29 
 

QUESTION 3:  LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 
     
     

Question 3.6:  How does the service fulfil its’ statutory responsibility relating to safeguarding? 
                            
 

 
 
 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

 

 Refer to Appendix 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements - this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

 
 
 
No priorities for improvement have been identified 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Areas for Development: 

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

2 
 

Self-Evaluation Form for Inspecting Safeguarding and Child Protection in  
 

Local authority: MTCBC 

 

The Chief Executive of the local authority should arrange for responses to be 
provided to the following questions.  They apply to all education services for children 
and young people as defined in the inspection handbook. 

Local authorities have responsibilities for safeguarding at three levels in the 
education services it provides directly or commissions: 

 Strategic for example planning; co-ordinating delivery of services; allocating 
resources; and working in partnership with other agencies 

 Support for example ensuring education providers are aware of their 
responsibilities for child protection; monitoring their performance; provide 
appropriate training, model policies and procedures; provide advice and support; 
and facilitating links and co-operation with other agencies  

 Operational for example by taking responsibility for safeguarding children who 
are excluded from school, or who have not obtained a school place or who are 
educated in PRUs or EOTAS; involvement in dealing with allegations of 
professional abuse; and ensuring arrangements are in place to prevent 
unsuitable staff and volunteers from working with children 

The self-evaluation should indicate the particular strengths or areas for improvement 
required in each section.  Inspectors will discuss the pro-forma information provided 
with relevant staff during the inspection.  The electronic version of the form will 
expand to take the text of responses.   There is additional space on the final page of 
the form for further information.  

  

Appendix 3 

Page 43



  
 

3 
 

1. How well does the local authority discharge its responsibilities for managing 

safeguarding and child protection across the education service it provides 

and commissions? 

Does the local authority have clear policies, procedures and guidance which cover 
its responsibilities for safeguarding children in the education services it provides or 
commissions?  

How well do the policies reflect the model in Circular 158/2015 Keeping Learners 
Safe by including sections on: 
 

 Prevention through the teaching and pastoral support offered to learners? 

 Procedures for identifying and reporting cases, or suspected cases, of abuse? 

 Support to learners who may have been abused?  

Are policies, procedures and guidance reviewed each year? 

 

 Merthyr Tydfil  is a member of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Safeguarding Board (CTMSB). 

There is a wide range of support on the Boards’ website including regional policies, 

training and procedures:  https://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org 

 Safeguarding is a corporate priority set out in the local authority’s annual Corporate Plan . 

MTCBC has robust arrangements in place across all areas.  Safeguarding is not the 

responsibility of any single portfolio or any individual officer – Safeguarding is 

everybody’s business and responsibility. The Council has a Corporate Safeguarding Policy 

in place which is reviewed annually by the Coporate Safeguarding Reference Group  and 

which provides a framework for all Council services to safeguard and protect children and 

adults, ensuring that all employees including Education and Youth portfolio staff, elected 

members and volunteers are fully aware of their responsibilities. This policy applies to all 

MTCBC employees, councillors, volunteers and organisations commissioned to provide 

services on behalf of the Council. In 2019 The Corporate Safeguarding Group reviewed 

their action plan which involves this safeguarding Policy. 

 A Corporate Safeguarding Group  was established in 2016 and includes safeguarding leads 

from across the LA including Education and Youth to ensure that all services integrate 

safeguarding awareness into the way they work. It is the aim of this group to  develop 

relationships between all departments to ensure the safeguarding and the promotion of 

welfare of both children and adults. This group monitors performance in relation to 

Safeguarding across the Council. The Chief Officer for Social Services  is the  Chair of this 

group. This panel receives information regarding the working practices and procedures of 

every Service in the Council, providing assurance that the Services are meeting their 

duties in accordance with the Corporate Safeguarding Policy and Guidelines and reports 

to Cabinet on an annual basis.  

 Education has representation on the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board and its Sub groups to 

ensure that it is aware of new policies and protocols and therefore best placed to share 

good practice.  

Page 44

https://www.cwmtafsafeguarding.org/


  
 

4 
 

 There is a comprehensive annual Training programme for all staff on safeguarding.  

 The revised Safeguarding  policy for schools was consulted on and issued in autumn 2018, 

reflecting national guidance from Keeping Learners Safe and AWCPP. This has now been 

updated for the start of the academic year 2019/20 and is to be a CTMSB policy. This 

policy is reviwed annually and  incorporates four  main elements : 

o protection through teaching and pastoral support offered to learners; 

o procedures for identifying and reporting cases, or suspected cases, of abuse.  Day 

to day contact with learners mean school staff are uniquely placed to observe 

signs of abuse; 

o support to learners who may be at risk of abuse or neglect; and, 

o concerns in relation to school staff who may abuse positions of trust. 

 

Areas for further development: 

 To establish a Communication Plan that would include publishing a regular Safeguarding 

Newsletter.  

 To establish an online training programme for all staff.  

2. Does the local authority provide clear guidance to all its education service 

providers, including its schools, about child protection policies that reflects 

the model in Circular 158/2015 Keeping Learners Safe, including advice on: 

 Procedures for identifying and reporting cases, or suspected cases, of abuse? 

 Support to learners who may have been abused?  

Safeguarding is good because the local authority meets safeguarding regulations and ensures that 
all staff, including school staff remain in compliance with training requirements. 
 

 Safeguarding arrangements and governance are robust and are in compliance with Welsh 
Government guidance.  

All schools engage in the annual Safeguarding self-evaluation process. To date 24 out of 28 
schools have completed the audit. The self-evaluation form aims to enable schools to monitor 
and evaluate their own safeguarding arrangements. The self-assessment audit tool will be used in 
schools to: 

•Ensure all staff are aware of their safeguarding arrangements; 
•Provide brief feedback at the end of the self-assessment audit to school staff; 
•Highlight appropriate training requirements if deemed necessary. 

 All school governing bodies have adopted the Cwm Taf exemplar Child Safeguarding Policy for 
2018/19 and that for 2019/20 has been updated and is due to be endorsed by the CTMSB by 
the end of the Summer term.  

 The Child Safeguarding Policy and self-evaluation audit tool have been updated in the past in 
light of the Prevent Duty and statutory requirements around Female Genital Mutilation and 
Domestic Violence. During 2019 further updates were made in respect of the role of the 
Governors, radicalisation, County Lines, Domestic Abuse, Trafficking and Elective Home 
Education.  

 All local authority youth teams have their own safeguarding policy, which is based upon the 
Cwm Taf Morgannwg exemplar Child Safeguarding Policy. 

 The Cwm Taf Morgannwg Safeguarding Board has produced an exemplar Safeguaring policy 

Page 45



  
 

5 
 

for use by third sector and other partners. 

 Commissioned partners are able to access a range of safeguarding training programmes 
through the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Training Programme 

 Advice and guidance is provided on the content of risk assessments which continue to be 
quality assured. 

 The local authority has a Safeguarding Principal Manager who is the Local Authority’s 
Designated Officer for Safeguarding and the Inclusion Manager is the Education Lead Officer.   

 All schools have a Designated Senior Person (DSP) with responsibility for safeguarding. All 
school staff and pupils are made aware of whom they are. There are posters in each school 
that include the DSP and the various deputies.  

 All local authority youth teams have a Designated Senior Person (DSP) with responsibility for 
safeguarding. 

 The Local Authority has a clear safer recruitment process and routinely monitors compliance. 

 The Safeguarding Forum for schools and other relevant professionals, e.g. Youth Service 
Manager, continues to regularly meet and share current safeguarding policies, processes and 
good practice. Extrenal agencies are also invited to present at to this group e.g. the Police on 
County Lines and sharing of information.  

 The local authority disseminates up to date information, polices and protocols in respect of 
safeguarding to colleagues in the department and to schools.  

 The local authority provides information and resources in relation to anti-bullying and 
safeguarding week so that schools can partake in these activities. The aim of which is to 
ensure that children and young people can make informed choices.  

 Safeguarding Training has been delivered to Governors, peripatetic staff, and colleagues 
working in Catering and Transport to ensure that all those working with children or adults at 
risk are aware of their safeguarding. All schools have a governor who has responsibility for 
safeguarding. 100% of schools that have completed the SER have Governors who have 
responsibility for safeguarding trained to Level 3.  

 Safeguarding training has been delivered to local authority and school staff; to which all 
schools have engaged.   

Safeguarding training modules produced by Welsh Government have been shared with schools 
and local authority colleagues. 

Areas for further development: 

 A Safegaurding Standards Checklist is in development to improve the contract monitoring 

processes. 

 Clarity to be reached in respct of requirements by Contractors of when and who need 

DBS checks when working in a setting of children and vulnerable young adults.   
 

3. Does the local authority have a designated person for the management and 

oversight of child protection and safeguarding issues in education? 

If yes, please provide contact details and management information. 

What added value does this post bring to the management of safeguarding and 
child protection in the local authority’s education provision? 

 
The Chief Officer for Education and Chief Officer for Social Services ensure that all the statutory 
requirements in terms of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and adults receive 
due consideration and that effective safeguarding arrangements operate at the three levels of 

Page 46



  
 

6 
 

responsibility of strategic, support and operational. The Chief Officer for Social Services is also the 
Chair of the Corporate Safeguarding Referecne Group.  

MTCBC has a Local Authority Designated Officer  who is also the Safeguarding Principal Manager 
and an officer in Education who has the lead responsibility for Safeguarding. There is good 
communication and working relations between colleagues and external partners to ensure that 
their safeguarding duties are carried out effectively. Both attend Safeguarding meetings at board 
level and the various sub groups, as well as national meetings,  to ensure that effective practices 
are followed.  

 
Areas for further development: 

Due to the increasing number of complex cases policies need to be clearly embedded to ensure 

that all colleagues understand that safeguarding is everbodies business.  This will allow for 

increased autonomy and a more timely response to concerns. 

 

To improve ability for early intervention and prevention plans are in place for an ‘Early Help Hub’ 

to be launched at the end of summer 2019. This will support the imbedding of current 

safeguarding policy and strategy. 

 

4. How well does the local authority address the specific safeguarding needs 

of individual children, and in particular looked-after children, in addition to 

those identified for the general population involved in its education 

provision? 

Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) carried out an inspection of Children’s Services in May 2018. Since 
this date we have completed the post inspection action plan and made a number of 
improvements to services and practice. A quality assurance framework is now embedded and is 
driving improvements in practice. One of the areas we have sought to improve has been core 
group meetings, and lately there has been evidence of schools using safeguarding board process 
to alert us to relevant issues.  This demonstrates healthy and constructive challenge from an 
important partner agency.  

There is good engagement in the Safeguarding Board’s sub groups, the education termly 
Safeguarding group and Corporate Safeguarding Steering Group.   

Corporate Parenting Board’s annual report provides information about  educational support for 
looked after young people and the priorities for the year ahead. A joint scrutiny worshop on 24th 
June  provided a presentation  and hosted a Q&A session about the looked after population and 
our support for them. 

The work of the Children Looked After [CLA] Friendly handbook is crticial to our success and it is 
positive to see that eight schools will look to achive the associated quality mark.  This important 
development coupled with steps towards a trauma infomed approach and Fostering Well-being 
offers us a model  of a ‘team around the child’ approach and a consistent evidence base for 
future operating.  

Areas for development: 

 Identify a method and intervention that prevents a reduced timetable offer for 

Page 47



  
 

7 
 

vulnerable and looked after young people 

 Reduce the number of looked after young people who are not close to home 

 Develop an action plan for roll out of trauma informed training, fostering well-

being and CLA friendly schools  

5. Management of allegations against staff 

Does the local authority refer and report all incidents of alleged professional abuse 
to a professional strategy meeting? 

How well does the local authority ensure providers comply with the guidance for 
managing staff disciplinaries following such allegations?  

All incidents of alleged professional abuse that meet the requirements in the Cwm Taf document 

‘Responding to Safeguarding Concerns about Individuals Whose Work Brings them into Contact 

with Children and Adults at Risk’ are referred to a strategy meeting. 

Providers are kept in close contact and requested to work closely with their Human Resources 

Colleagues. The Human Resources representative are required to attend Professional Concerns 

Strategy Meetings where disciplinaries are discussed. Specific actions and timescales are recorded 

and attendees sign to agree for all actions ensuring providers comply with guidelines. 

The Local Safeguarding Board has recently reviewed the formentioned professional concerns 
policy. In addition to this the Inclusion Manager has produced guidance specifically for schools on 
the process to follow when an allegation is made against a member of staff, in order to ensure 
that staff feel supported during this process. Further detail of this is referenced in section 7. 
Additional information has been produced to enable schools to support staff in the time following 
the allegation.  

This policy has been shared and well received by schools, who  have previously felt vulnerable 
when part of this process. The Safeguarding Principal Manager has had recent positive 
engagement with schools both in Merthyr and outside of the area.  

In 2019 an audit of professional concerns was completed.  This stated: 

There is evidence that priority was given to consideration of the vulnerable person 
while decision making remaining proportionate and avoiding unnecessary disruption 
to employment and service delivery. This led to evidence of good quality 
thresholding. 

Each case evidenced positive multi agency working between Police, LADO and 
children’s services. Police were available for strategy discussions each time one was 
needed. Social workers fed back information. Reminders seemed to be needed for 
this to occur. 

Employers engaged well in the process and some evidence of positive feedback from 
them. 

The ‘Responding to Safeguarding Concerns about Individuals Whose Work Brings them into 
Contact with Children and Adults at Risk’ has been shared with other authorities recognised 
as good practise partly due to it bringing the process together for both adults and children. 
The inclusion of it’s content is to be considered by Wales Safeguarding Processdures Project 
Board as an example of good practice. 

Page 48



  
 

8 
 

 

Areas for further development: 

To revisit the ‘Responding to Safeguarding Concerns about Individuals Whose Work Brings them 
into Contact with Children and Adults at Risk’ as part of termly Safeguarding  meetings with 
schools. Teacher are aware of this policy.  However experience has shown that wider school 
support staff (e.g. catering and transport staff) would benefit from re-visting this policy. 

To record all cases centrally. Currently recordings are made on local computer drives.  This is 
effective but better practice would be to record this information using the computer system 
(Wales Community Care Information Sytstem or WCCIS) keeping all relevant data in the same 
place. 

6. Safe recruitment 

How well does the local authority manage its responsibilities for safe recruitment 
through pre-employment identity and qualification checks for local authority staff, 
and for all school staff (including any directly recruited and paid through the 
school)?  

Is there a record that all staff appointed after 2002 have a CRB/DBS check?  

How well does the local authority ensure that there is a record of which governors 
have CRB/DBS checks, and risk assessments for those who do not?  

How well does the local authority ensure its education services have robust risk 
assessments for volunteers that work under supervision in education settings, and 
which clearly set out criteria for whether they require a CRB/DBS check or not? 

How well does the local authority know which volunteers working in its education 
settings on a frequent or intensive basis have up-to-date CRB/DBS checks?   

Human Resources are committed to ensuring that all pre-employment checks are undertaken in 
line with the Safer Recruitment Policy. HR Policy for Schools Safer Recruitment.pdf .  This is 
evidenced by a detailed ‘formal checklist’ that is held on the employees central personnel file, 
this is checked and signed off by the HR Deputy Team Leader. ..\Admin Files\File Checks-Teaching 
& Non Teaching\File check lists TEACHER.xls   

All pre-employment checks, including DBS checks, Medical Questionaires, References, 
Professional Qualifications and Professional Registrations are recorded centrally on HR21 
(Frontier), in accordance with GDPR guidlines. DBS checks are renewed every 3 years in line with 
the DBS Policy...\Admin Files\DBS - ALL FILES\Disclosure and Barring Service Policy and Guidance 
2018.pdf 

A termy audit is undertaken by the HR Deputy Team Leader to ensure compliance by the schools, 
any breaches of the Policy are reported to a Senior Officer in Education. SAFEGUARDING\Termly 
Audits\Termly SAFEGUARDING checks\Autumn Term 2018 safeguarding checks -evidence.xls.  

Human resources are notified by individual Headteachers when they have volunteers at the 
school, the same safeguarding checks are undertaken as for paid employees. A DBS check is 
undertaken in line with the DBS policy. HR would rely on the school to notify us if a volunteer 
requires their DBS to be renewed after 3 years. However, this is monitored  annually as part of 
the Safeguarding Audit where schools confirm who remains compliant and training needs are 
identified.  The Youth Service has a volunteering policy which includes the safe rectruitment of 
volunteers, i.e. completion of an application form, provision of references and a  DBS check. 

Page 49

file://///mtcbcfs5/ICS/Human%20Resources%20Admin/ANN/HR%20Policy%20for%20Schools%20Safer%20Recruitment.pdf
file:///C:/Users/eyrejo/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/Admin%20Files/File%20Checks-Teaching%20&%20Non%20Teaching/File%20check%20lists%20TEACHER.xls
file:///C:/Users/eyrejo/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/Admin%20Files/File%20Checks-Teaching%20&%20Non%20Teaching/File%20check%20lists%20TEACHER.xls
file:///C:/Users/eyrejo/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/Admin%20Files/DBS%20-%20ALL%20FILES/Disclosure%20and%20Barring%20Service%20Policy%20and%20Guidance%202018.pdf
file:///C:/Users/eyrejo/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/Admin%20Files/DBS%20-%20ALL%20FILES/Disclosure%20and%20Barring%20Service%20Policy%20and%20Guidance%202018.pdf
file:///C:/Users/eyrejo/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/5BP6Q67Z/SAFEGUARDING/Termly%20Audits/Termly%20SAFEGUARDING%20checks/Autumn%20Term%202018%20safeguarding%20checks%20-evidence.xls
file:///C:/Users/eyrejo/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/5BP6Q67Z/SAFEGUARDING/Termly%20Audits/Termly%20SAFEGUARDING%20checks/Autumn%20Term%202018%20safeguarding%20checks%20-evidence.xls


  
 

9 
 

Governors are not required to undertake a DBS check unless they have contact with children. The 
school would notify HR if a DBS is required.  

A risk Assessment is used in cases when all checks have not been completed prior to 
commencement with the School. The risk assessment is completed by the Headteacher...\Admin 
Files\1 FORMS\Risk Assessment.pdf 

Schools are advised that visitors (including Governors, volunteers and/or those students on work 
placement within the school) who do not have a DBS check must not have access to children and 
young people unsupervised. Risk Assessments will be required.  
 
Supply staff from an agency have their DBS checked by their individual Agencies and schools 
should ensure they have access to the agency’s own vetting procedures. This detail is outlined in 
the Safer Recruitment Policy that is hyperlinked to the School Safeguardin Policy.  
Areas for further development: 

 Ongoing monitoring of procedures 

 To reduce the need for Risk Assessments for newly appointed staff, by ensuring that All 
pre-employment checks are completed before appointment.Both the number and the 
length of these have declined over the years, but we would like to be in a position where 
there is no need for any Risk Assessments.  

 

7. Safeguarding training 

How well does the local authority and the LSCB ensure that:  

 all staff and volunteers working in education provision have safeguarding training 

approved by the LSCB and receive training in a timely way? 

 Designated staff receive training in inter-agency working? 

 All temporary staff and volunteers are made aware of child protection policies 
and procedures?  

 All staff are kept up-to-date through regular refresher courses?  

 All training remains appropriate and up to date through regular and robust 
evaluation? 

 A Safeguarding Training Calendar is produced annually by The Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service in partnership with the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board 

(see attached 2019 – 20 calendar). An annual calendar allows for future planning in line 

with training needs analysis by individual schools or education provision. All school staff 

have access to training at the discretion of the head teacher or team manager.  

 All safeguarding training is undertaken on a multi-agency basis at level 2, 3 and 4.  Inter-

agency working is central to Chid Protection and as such it is explored in some depth 

within safeguarding courses at all levels.  

 Level Three Training is completed/refreshed on a two yearly basis. Following 

completion of awareness raising Safeguarding Children from Recognition to 

Response training , further level 3 training events can be selected form the CTSB 

Safeguarding training calendar covering issues such as domestic violence 

(VAWDASV) and Radicalization (PREVENT). The CTSB Safeguarding Training 

calendar is used to identify appropriate training sessions. Attending different 

Page 50

file:///C:/Users/eyrejo/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/Admin%20Files/1%20FORMS/Risk%20Assessment.pdf
file:///C:/Users/eyrejo/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/Admin%20Files/1%20FORMS/Risk%20Assessment.pdf


  
 

10 
 

training events with specific subject matter allows for broader safeguarding 

knowledge within each school or team. 

 The Cwm Taf multi-agency safeguarding training delivery group facilitates 

Safeguarding Children from Recognition to Response. Evaluation of the training 

package is undertaken by this group annually, and dynamically in response to 

emerging themes and trends, or following specific procedural changes. Evaluation 

of each event ensures fitness for purpose, for example Child Protection 

Conference and Core Groups – Your Roles and Responsibilities training has been 

extended from a 1 day to a 1.5 day course following evaluation from the Cwm Taf 

Safeguarding team that more time need to be spent on understanding and 

engaging with Child Protection Core Groups. Likewise Supporting Children to Stay 

Safe Online has been extended from a half day to a full day course in response to 

evaluation from  facilitators and participants that more time was needed to fully 

explore the complex issues and advice/guidance for adults to support vulnerable 

children and young people. 

 As of 2018 a Joint Training Day focusing on Safeguarding has been delivered for MTCBC 

and RCT schools this has included such topics as CountyLines, FGM, Extremism  and 

Domestic Abuse. 

 Schools remain compliant with Safeguarding Training. This is monitored via the 

Safeguarding Audit. Both schools and the Cwm Taf training department keep registers of 

all attendees.  

 Youth Service is compliant with safeguarding training, which is monitored through 

training records. 

8. Safety and wellbeing of children in local authority education services 

How clear and robust are the local authority’s policies and guidance that address 
anti-bullying, racist abuse, discrimination and harassment? 

Do they comply with the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equality Act 2010? 

How well does the local authority monitor these incidents in its schools?  

How robustly does it report this to the LSCB and elected members? 

The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan (SEP) for 2016-2020 was prepared in line with the 
requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 and was 
approved by Full Council on 23rd March 2016.The SEP sets out the following Equalities Vision for 
Merthyr Tydfil: 
 

·         A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can participate, flourish 

and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from discrimination and prejudice. 

As part of the delivery of the SEP fact sheets have been developed for each of the nine Protected 
Characteristics. 
Each of the fact sheets sets out: 
 

Page 51



  
 

11 
 

·         Definitions of each of the Protected Characteristics and the different types of 

discrimination; 

·         Key statistics and issues; and  

·         Further support and advice. 

The aim of the facts sheets are to: 
 

·         Improve knowledge of national and local equality issues by Protected Characteristic. 

·         Improve understanding of our customers. 

·         Promote equalities in the workplace. 

·         Act as supporting knowledge resources for staff when completing the Council’s 

Integrated Impact Assessment. 

The fact sheets are available on the Council’s intranet (link below) for staff to access and have 
been used to provide Equality training for staff. 
http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/corporate/equalities-and-welsh-
language/equalities/protected-characteristics/ 
 
Equality Training was delivered to Senior Manamgnet recently (link below): 
 
Q:\Senior Leadership Group\Equality Training\10-06-2019 - Senior Leadership Team Equality 
Training.pptx 
 
The Council’s staff handbook also makes reference to the Equality Act, Discrimination, etc The LA 
has other relevant policies in place such as Dignity and Respect at Work Policy 
http://intranet.mtcbc.local/media/3593/staff-handbook-2019.pdf 

 

Schools report all bullying incidents against the seven characteristics to the LA termly. This 
includes those of a racial nature. These are monitored in order to identify themes and training 
opportunities. Antibullying is a standing agenda item on the School Safeguarding Group. This is to 
inform the group of trends, to discuss any training gaps and to identify outsiders to provide 
workshops.  

As part of the Council’s Risk Management arrangements Safeguarding (The risk that the Council 
does not fulfil its statutory obligations and the Council’s safeguarding arrangements fail to 
safeguard children, adults and Council staff) has been identified as a Corporate Risk. This 
Corporate Risk is monitored as part of the Council’s risk governance arrangements. Lisa Curtis 
Jones is the CMT Lead Officer for this Corporate Risk.  
 
Schools are aware of their  responsibility to tackle bullying in all forms under the Education Act 
2002 and all schools have an anti-bullying policy, which sets out how they will:  

 record bullying incidents;  

 investigate and deal with the incidents;  

 support victims; and  

 discipline those who have bullied others.   

 

As a result of the LA working with primary and secondary pupils age appropriate child friendly 
Anti-bullying policies have been produced. Anti-bullying posters and popups were also produced. 

Page 52

http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/corporate/equalities-and-welsh-language/equalities/protected-characteristics/
http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/corporate/equalities-and-welsh-language/equalities/protected-characteristics/
file://///mtcbcfs/MIMS/Senior%20Leadership%20Group/Equality%20Training/10-06-2019%20-%20Senior%20Leadership%20Team%20Equality%20Training.pptx
file://///mtcbcfs/MIMS/Senior%20Leadership%20Group/Equality%20Training/10-06-2019%20-%20Senior%20Leadership%20Team%20Equality%20Training.pptx
http://intranet.mtcbc.local/media/3593/staff-handbook-2019.pdf


  
 

12 
 

The Healthy Schools team also signpost resources and materials which can be used in both 
primary and secondary schools. Antibullying is part of the Healthy Schools Mental and Emotional 
Health and Wellbeing (MEHWB) theme which requires schools to have an up to date antibullying 
policy in place and work with pupils to develop a child friendly version. Schools must demonstrate 
how they address bullying within the curriculum and how they communicate with parents about 
bullying issues. This must be evidenced and is assessed at various phases within the scheme 

 
There are many definitions of bullying. The Welsh Government’s definition of bullying as set out 
in ‘Respecting Others: Anti-Bullying Overview (2011)’ defines bullying as actions that are 
considered to be:  

 deliberately hurtful (including aggression);  

 repeated often over a period of time, while recognising that even a one-off incident can leave 
a learner traumatised and nervous of future recurrence; and  

 difficult for victims to defend themselves against.  
 
During the initial consultation in 2008 on the Anti-bullying Strategy in Merthyr Tydfil schools and 
individuals were asked to share their definitions of bullying.  Based on these responses the 
following was been adopted as the definition for bullying whatever the age of the individuals 
involved;  

 
‘The wilful, conscious desire to hurt, threaten or frighten someone.’ 

 
The sentiment behind this definition was then endorsed by the pupils at both Student Council 
Conferences (primary and secondary)  in October 2011, but here they emphasised the regularity 
of such incidents. In light of this the definition was been amended to reflect this and stands as;  

 
“The constant wilful, conscious desire to hurt, threaten or frighten someone.”    
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is committed to supporting its schools in ensuring that all 
children and young people have the opportunities they need to fulfil their potential, including the 
right to learn in a safe and protective environment free from racism, bullying or discrimination of 
any kind. MTCBC acknowledges the fact that the damaging effects of bullying are long term and 
far-reaching, impacting upon personal and social development as well as educational 
achievement. As such there is an Anti-bullying Stratgey in place.  
 
The purpose of the Anti-bullying strategy is to promote a consistent message that bullying is 
taken very seriously in Merthyr Tydfil, and is effectively managed through a combination of 
prevention and intervention measures. It outlines the responsibilities of the local authority, 
schools and governing bodies in tackling bullying in schools through the development and 
implementation of effective anti-bullying approaches. 
 
The main objectives of the strategy are to: 
 

 reduce the frequency of bullying; 

 increase the likelihood that incidents are disclosed to responsible adults; and 

 intervene effectively when bullying happens. 
 

Schools are provided with regular information on best practice, resources and up to date 
guidance through various channels of communication.  The LA policy will be updated once the 

Page 53



  
 

13 
 

Welsh Government guidance is published. The timeframe for this is publication is Decembner 
2019.  

Antibullying Week is actively promoted to schools by Inclusion and the annual Student 
Conference for primary and secondary pupils is held during this week. This has included 
workshops on Anti-bullying and racism by Kidscape and Show Racism  the Red Card.  

In collaboration with the VoG Transgender guidance has been produced. This has been shared 
with all schools and has been well received.  Training on how best to support pupils who are 
Transgender has also been delivered by Safer Merthyr Tydfil.  

Areas for further development: 

 Finalise Antibullying policy for schools to reflect new Welsh Government Antibullying 

Guidance 

 To improve the arrangements of the Council to fulfil its statuatory safeguarding  

cbligations.   

9. How clear and robust is the local authority’s behavioural support 

policy? 

How well does the local authority monitor incidents of physical intervention 
and restraint in its schools?  

How robustly does it analyse this and where appropriately reports this to the 
LSCB and elected members?  

Recording and Reporting Incidents 

Schools are strongly advised to keep systematic records of every significant incident in which 
physical intervention has been used, in accordance with school policy and procedures on the use 
of force and its child protection requirements. The purpose of recording is to ensure policy 
guidelines are followed, to inform parents, to inform future planning as part of school 
improvement processes, to prevent misunderstanding or misinterpretation of the incident and to 
provide a record for any future enquiry.  

As part of our monitoring process on incidents of physical intervention schools are expected to 
complete an  incident form contained in Appendix E of our Positive Behaviour Manangement 
guidance on a termly basis to the Inclusin Manager. There is a section in this guidance document 
outlining what is required by schools when reporting and recording such incidents.  
 
The Positive Behaviour Management guidance  

 references the legal background, the rationale for positive behaviour management and 
specific guidance on the use of physical intervention. 

 makes clear the exceptional circumstances in which physical restraint is to be used and 
the way in which it can be used.  

 sets out recording and reporting forms and procedures  

 highlights what to do following an incident 

 focuses on both excellent education and quality of life 

 keeps the young person at the centre of the planning. 
 

This guidance has been developed upon the beliefs that behaviours that challenge can be 

Page 54



  
 

14 
 

reduced and often prevented by careful management of the environment and the consideration 
and understating of each child’s personal setting conditions.  
  
Background 

 
This document contains guidance on the powers available to schools to help manage pupils’ 
behaviour and pays regard to the powers that are contained in the following legislation and 
guidance: 
 

 The “Use of Force to Control or Restrain Pupils”, the powers of which are contained in 
Section 93 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, which replaced Section 550A of the 
Education Act 1996, with minor changes. 

  The most recent information is outlined in the guidance document No: 097/2013 Safe and 
Effective Intervention-use of reasonable force and searching for weapons from the welsh 
government.  

 
The majority of pupils behave well and schools are generally orderly and productive places of 
learning. This booklet provides support to enable all school staff to deal effectively with 
behaviour that challenges, whilst at the same time minimising the disruption to other pupils’ 
learning,.  
 
This guidance intends to ensure clarity on what schools can do to promote positive behaviour and 
to promote greater consistency of application across the authority.  This in turn will protect the 
rights of children and young people to be treated consistently and fairly. 
 

 
The School Councils Regulations 2005 require all maintained schools in Wales to have a school 
council that is democratically elected by pupils and which meets at least six times a year.  The 
school council is a democratic channel which allows all pupils to have a voice and to be listened 
to, as set out in Article 12 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC).  
The Welsh  Government recommends that schools develop a whole-school Participation Policy 
setting out a variety of ways in which pupils can be actively involved in decisions that affect them 
at different levels of schools life (e.g. including class councils, eco-schools, healthy schools, peer 
mentors, assessment for learning, etc). The LA endorses this with annual Student Council 
Conferences for both primary and secondary aged pupils. In addition to this, the LA has brokered 
support for schools to access and adopt the Rights Respecting Schools Award (RRSA).  
 
Positive behaviour is a matter of concern for all pupils, ensuring that they experience a safe and 
positive learning environment.  Relevant policies are more likely to be respected and adhered to 
where pupils are directly involved in formulating and monitoring behaviour policies and have a 
stake in them.  
 
In involving pupils in promoting and implementing positive behaviours, schools should adhere to 
the National Children and Young People’s Participation Standards for Wales. 
 
This  guidance  should be seen within the framework of inclusion and pupil support set out in 
Welsh Assembly Government Circular 47/06 and the “Safe and Effective Intervention-Use of 
Reasonable Force” and “Searching for Weapons” Guidance document No: 097/2013.  It should 
also be considered alongside the overall suite of guidance on these aspects including those for 
exclusions, tackling bullying and the SEN Code of Practice. 

Page 55



  
 

15 
 

 
Any use of positive behaviour management, with regards to physical intervention must be 
reasonable, proportionate and comply with: 

• Local Authority policies. 
• United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) 
• School discipline and behaviour policies. 
Welsh Government guidance (as mentioned above) 
 

Training opportunities 
Positive Behaviour Support training has been delivered to all schools and continues to be offered 
in our Training Progreamme for 2019/20. These are offered as one day referesher courses, 
courses for DRAs and SMT as well as the four day accredited course .  
 

 The aim of training is to : 

 Challenge beliefs about our understanding of behaviour 

 Consider our responses to behaviour and the implications of these responses 

 Explore the least restrictive way to respond to behaviours, including preventative 

approaches and de- 

 escalation techniques 

 Methods of recording, reporting, tracking and interpreting behaviours; including 

identifying the functions of  

 behaviour and teaching functionally equivalent skills 

 Teach participants how to protect themselves and how to move pupils safely. 

 
 
Areas for further development: 

 To review this guidance in line with the new ALNET Code.  

10. How clear and robust are the local authority’s guidance on health and 

safety and off-site activities and its policy for risk assessments?  

How well does the local authority manage first-aid, drug and substance 
misuse, sex and relationships education, education visits, internet safety 
and the welfare of learners on extended vocational placements in its 
schools and other education provision? 

First Aid 

Youth Service staff undertake First Aid training, which is updated  and each youth centre has a 
designated member of staff for First Aid. 
 
There is a designated Health and Safety officer in the Learning Department with responsibility for 
schools. As a result there is a comprehensive library of corporate standards, policies, procedures 
and general guidance that is accessible to schools.  
 
There is a model Health and Safety policy for schools and they are advised to review their Health 
and Safety policy on an annual basis.  

Page 56



  
 

16 
 

Information on health and safety training courses which includes emergency first aid, first aid at 
work and paediatric first aid, manual handling, and IOSH is available for schools from FCC’s 
Learning and Development Team. Additional training including asbestos and legionnaires is 
coordinated as required. 

There is a LA Healthcare Needs Policy and Intimate Care policy for schools, also available on 
website. Training relating to managing individual health care needs is provided by Health nurse 
e.g. asthma,  diabetes, continence. This is delivered to individual schools and identified staff in 
line with the needs of the child / young person and their care plan. 
 
Drug & Substance Misuse 
 
All MTCBC secondary schools participated in the School Health Research Network survey in 2017 
which informed the county report published in 2018. This has consulted young people about all 
aspects of health and wellbeing including substance misuse. This data has since informed 
indivdual action plans for each school. This showed that the secondary schools in the LA were 
above the Welsh average on the number of Energy drinks consumed  and below the Welsh 
average  for healthy eating and substance misuse; the latter could be financially linked. The 
positive responses to School Connectedness were pleasing to note.  
  
The Healthy Schools team provide guidance and support for schools on Substance Use and 
Misuse which is one of the seven health themes of the Healthy Schools National Quality Award. 
This includes policy, training and resources in both primary and secondary school. The team has 
good partnerships with the Police liaison programme, with which all schools are involved.  
 
Education around substance misuse forms part of the Youth Service curriculum.  Workshops are 
delivered to young people by Barod under its contract for the delivery of  substance misuse 
services across the Cwm Taf Morgannwg region. 
 
Sex and Relationships Education 

 
The Healthy Schools team provide comprehensive guidance and support for schools on Sex and 
Relationships Education under the banner of Personal Development and Relationships which is 
one of the seven health themes of the Healthy Schools National Quality Award. This includes 
policy templates, training and resources in both primary and secondary school.  
 
Spectacle Theatre has delivered participatory workshops in one primary school as a pilot and in all 
four secondary schools on Sexual Relationships/grooming. They have also delivered worhshops at 
the Studebt Conferences on this theme.  
 
Healthy relationships forms part of the Youth Service curriculum and, following a consultation 
with young people accessing youth services, all health and wellbeing resources are currently 
being reviewed and updated in partnership with Public Health Wales. 
 

Education Visits 

For off site visits and activities MTCBC schools and the Youth Service use the Evolve system. The 
Central South consortium provides advice and guidance for this.  All relevant school personnel 
acting in the role of the Education Visits Coordinator are required to attend regional training and 
local refresher training.  

Page 57



  
 

17 
 

There is guidance in the School Safeguarding Policy on  

Visitors and External Speakers Policy 

Schools have a legal duty of care for the health, safety, security and wellbeing of their pupils and 
staff at all times. This duty of care incorporates the duty to safeguard all pupils from subjection to 
any form of harm, abuse or nuisance. It is the responsibility of the Governing Body and Senior 
Leaders to ensure that this duty is uncompromised at all times.  
 
Schools therefore require that all visitors comply with the school policy and procedures. Then aim 
of the policy is to safeguard all children under the school’s responsibility both during school hours 
and during out of school activities which are arranged by the school. The ultimate aim is to ensure 
that pupils can learn and enjoy extracurricular experiences in an environment where they are safe 
from harm. 
 
Schools need to have a clear protocol and procedure for the admittance of externalvisitors to the 
school which is understood by all staff, governors, visitors and parents which conforms to child 
protection and safeguarding guidelines in place. 
 
Visitors to the School 

Before a visitor is invited to the school the Headteacher or a member of the Senior Leadership 
team must be informed, with a clear explanation as to the relevance and purpose of the visit and 
intended date and time of the visit. Permission must be granted by a member of the Senior 
Leadership team before a visitor is asked to come into school. The Headteacher will advise of the 
level of supervision and pre visit checks required. 
 
External Speakers  

All schools are required by law to teach a broad and balanced curriculum which promotes the 
spiritual, moral, cultural, mental and physical development of pupils and prepares them for the 
opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of life. They must also promote community 
cohesion. Schools recognise the important contribution and value that can be gained from 
allowing visitors and external organisations in to the school to support this. 
 
New Guidance from the Prevent counter Terrorism Strategy which came into effect from July 1st 
2015 sets out the responsibilities for ‘specified authorities’ which includes schools, to have ‘due 
regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism’. In fulfilling the new 
duty, schools are required to demonstrate clear protocols for ensuring that any visiting speakers 
– whether invited by staff or by children themselves – are suitable and appropriately 
supervised. 
 
Schools should be safe spaces in which children and young people can understand and discuss 
sensitive topics, including terrorism and the extremist ideas that are part of terrorist ideology, and 
learn how to challenge these ideas. The Prevent duty is not intended to limit discussion of these 
issues. Schools should, however, be mindful of their existing duties to forbid political 
indoctrination and secure a balanced presentation of political issues. These duties are imposed on 
maintained schools by sections 406 and 407 of the Education Act 1996. 
 
Schools will have to make decisions concerning the appropriateness or suitability of external 
speakers. On occasion schools may be required to vet or undertake background checks for 
external speakers. If schools are having difficulty in this area then the school should contact the 
LA’s Inclusion Manager for advice and support. 

Page 58



  
 

18 
 

 
External speakers and visitors must ensure that they comply with UK legislation. This means 
speakers and visitors must ensure that in the views or ideas they put forward - or in the manner in 
which they express these views or ideas - they do not infringe the rights of others, or discriminate 
against them. Their speech or the manner of its expression must not constitute a criminal offence, 
a threat to public order, a threat to the health and safety of individuals, incite others to commit 
criminal acts, or be contrary to the civil and human rights of individuals. It is a criminal offence to 
‘stir up hatred’ against other people on religious or racial grounds.  
 
All speakers will be made aware of their responsibility to abide by the law, and the school’s 
various policies, including that: 
 
 They must not contravene fundamental British values of democracy, the rule of law, 

individual liberty and mutual respect and tolerance for those with different faiths and 

beliefs; 

 They must not incite hatred, violence or call for the breaking of the law; 

 They are not permitted to encourage, glorify or promote any acts of terrorism including 

individuals, groups or organisations that support such act; and 

 They must not spread extremism, radicalisation, hatred or intolerance in the school 

community and thus aid in disrupting social and community harmony. 

If an external speaker or external visitor contravenes this guidance, the school reserves the right 
to immediately shut down an event and to ban that speaker or visitor from the site. 
 
The decision to grant or refuse permission for any speaker ultimately rests with each school. 

 

Areas for further development: 

 This guidance is reviewed annually.  

 

11. How well does the local authority discharge its duty to work in 

partnership in the exercise of their functions, to have “due regard to 

the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism” 

Overview: 

 The Head of the Local Resilience Unit, along with the along with the authority’s Inclusion 

Manager, represents the local authority on the Cwm Taf CONTEST Board. 

 The local authority has representation on the Cwm Taf Channel Panel, via the Head of 

the Local Resilience Unit and Inclusion Manager. The Panel is currently Chaired by the 

authority’s Regulatory Compliance Manager. 

 We have very good working relationships between multi-agency partners which include, 

South Wales Police, Cwm Taf Morganwg Health Board, as well as education 

establishments such as schools, colleges and University. 

Page 59



  
 

19 
 

 Recently had agreed via CONTEST Board to have more input into the development of the 

CTLP. 

Training: 

 Training is mainly provided via the Home Office e-learning tool which takes the 

delegate through the WRAP processes. 

 Delivery of an awareness workshop for all Head Teachers in conjunction with WECTU 

on identifying issues and lockdown of premises. 

ICT: 

 Acceptable Use Policy / Internet Filtering Policy for  all schools in place  

 Procedures are in place to ensure access to extremist materials online is restricted by 

users in both schools and the LA. 

Policy: 

 Establish or make use of an existing local multi-agency group to agree risk and co-

ordinate prevent activity.  

 Use the existing counter-terrorism local profiles to begin to assess the risk of individuals 

being drawn into terrorism.  

 Engage with schools, colleges, probation services, health board, and others as part of the 

risk assessment process.  

 Mainstream the Prevent duty so it becomes part of the day-to-day work of the authority, 

in particular children’ safeguarding.  

 Any local authority that assesses, through the multi-agency group, that there is a risk will 

be expected to develop a Prevent action plan.  

 Ensure frontline staff will have a good understanding of Prevent, are trained to recognise 

vulnerability to being drawn into terrorism and are aware of available programmes to 

deal with this issue.  

The school  Safeguarding Policy 2016/17- (MT & RCT) has been reviewed in light of the Prevent 
Duty and has been ratified and adopted by all schools.  

 The Channel Panel process is referenced 

 An Appendix refers to guidance on inviting Guest Speakers into schools  

 Themes and key messages from the Rights Respect & Resilience guidance resonate 

throughout this policy 

PSE Curriculum – promotes and encourages schools to celebrate diversity & promote inclusivity – 
example topics and lessons (MT & RCT) 

 Global citizenship 

 Health relationships 

 Philosophy for Children- encouraging healthy debate on beliefs. 

Schools are asked to complete a safeguardin audit annually. This is collated by th Inclusion 
Manager and from this advice and guidance is provided where required  

 Key questions include – How do schools ensure that their pupils build resilience? and 

what would school do if they had concerns of a young person being radicalised?   

 Questions asked by Estyn and the LA reflect information contained in Rights Respect & 

Page 60



  
 

20 
 

Resilience guidance 

 Other areas covered in this audit tool are 

o Training for school staff 

o Healthy and Safety 

o Access to school grounds  

o Other Policies that are in place e.g. Anti-bullying,  E-safety,  Behaviour, Substance 

Misuse etc. 

o Processes for pupils and parents to be made aware of the above are contained in 

the SER.  

Resources – to support the Wellbeing agenda are regularly shared with schools e.g. welcome 
packs – for Syria refugees 

 Resources for Anti-bullying 

 Wellbeing and mental health  

Training available for school and Education colleagues; 

 E-safety 

 Racism – Show Racism The Red Card- Islamophobia, racist incidents 

 WRAP 

 Safeguarding training Levels 1, 2 & 3 (mandatory) 

 WG Keeping Learners Safe e-learning modules 

 Child Sexual Exploitation 

 Substance Misuse 

MT Student Conference – Wellbeing- How to Stay, Happy, Healthy and Safe 

 Annual event to capture pupil voice, Sally Holland the Children’s Commissioner is due to 

attend, workshops for 2016 included; 

o Counter extremism  

o School Councils and pupil voice 

o Child Sexual Exploitation- Healthy Relationships   

o Racism – SRTRC 

o E-safety 

o Eco issues 

Safeguarding in Education (SEG) Meeting chaired by WG-feeds into termly Safeguarding Meetings 
held for schools chaired by Safeguarding Manager  

 Safeguarding Manager attends (SEG) & reports back to schools, Education colleagues and 

governors- extremism has been an agenda item  

 Colleagues from MT college attend the Safeguarding Meetings with schools 

 External partners are routinely invited to these e.g. Police to discuss CountyLines   

Additional information  

 NACTSO- guidance shared with schools   

 Termly returns –are received from schools on the Protected Characteristics  e.g. racism, 

disability, religion, gender 

 Guidance has been developed on the Inappropriate use of Social Media for schools and 

colleagues 

 Cwm Taf Risky Behaviour Protocol including vulnerable characteristics  for CSE, 

radicalisation etc has been produced and shared with schools 

Page 61



  
 

21 
 

 

Areas for further development: 

 Delivery of Lockdown procedures for site specific school and local authority  sites. 

 To increase the take up of the training delivered via the CTMSB to support the Prevent 

Agenda e.g. Radicalisation  

 

 
 
Version control 

Document version Author Date of issue Changes made 

    

    

 
 
 

Additional notes provided by the local authority   

 
 
 
 

Page 62



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Update on Carbon and Energy Management 
Activities in Schools 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1  This report provides an update on some of the Carbon and Energy Management 
 activities in schools over the past 12 months. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee Members to provide officers feedback on the content of the 

report. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In 2012 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council along with other Local Authorities in   

Wales were the subject of a sector specific Carbon Management Review conducted 
by the Carbon Trust in Wales on behalf of the Welsh Government.  
 

3.2 This review ranked Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 21st out of the 22 Local 
Authorities in Wales and identified that the Council needed to improve in all aspects 
of Carbon and Energy management. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 In early 2015, the Authority commissioned an independent Carbon Management 
 Review by Carbon Trust accredited Consultants to measure progress made to 
 date and to provide further strategic direction. 
 

Date Written 15th  November 2019 

Report Author Iain Goldsworthy 

Service Area Neighbourhood Services 

Committee Date 25th November 2019 

Page 63

Agenda Item 4



 
4.2  Although the report showed that good progress had been made in some areas with 

little funding available, it also identified the main challenges faced by the Authority in 
relation to Carbon Management which were: 
 

 Scarce internal funding. 

 Limited physical resources with competing priorities. 

 An urgent need to improve engagement with staff to change behaviour. 

 The lack of a formal Energy Policy and Carbon Management Plan. 

 A need to increase engagment with staff to change behaviour.  

 Poor data management processes - No Energy Management Software. 

 Inadequate metering capabilities for gas and water. 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Resources 
  
 An Energy Engineer was appointed in November 2018 to provide additional resource 
 and support. 
 
 Between November 2018 and April 2019 the Energy Engineer was working on 
 progressing Stage 1 and 2 of the REFIT programme, developing the Carbon 
 Management Plan, reducing avoidable energy waste, carrying out targeted energy 
 surveys and increasing energy awareness and better housekeeping in corporate 
 buildings and schools. 

Page 64



 
 Resources are still an issue in relation to Energy and Carbon Management as the 
 Energy Officer and Engineer spend large amounts of their time managing responsive 
 repairs and mechanical maintenace contracts therefore less time is spent on energy 
 management. 
 
 5.2  REFIT 
 
 In November 2018 we signed up to Stage 1 and 2 of the REFIT Energy Efficiency 

Programme. 
 

The programme supports energy efficiency and renewable energy measures, 
resulting in cash savings from lower energy use and reduced carbon emissions. 
Public bodies can save time and resources procuring REFIT services and works. As 
it is an energy performance contracting framework energy and cost savings are 
guaranteed. 

  
Phase 1 involved a high level energy assessment and benchmarking of MTCBC 
buildings including schools. 

  
High level estimates suggest that the project value will be in the region of £1 million 
with estimated annual energy savings of £140,000 and paybacks of around 7-8 
years. Buildings involved in the project include schools, corporate accommodation, 
care homes and leisure centres. 

  
The RE:FIT programme will not be able to proceed unless there is financial 
investment from MTCBC. 

  
A Salix Interest Free loan will need to be obtained by MTCBC to pay for the works. 
Initially energy cost savings will be used to pay back the interest free loan. Once the 
loan is paid off the authority will benefit fully from the energy cost savings of the 
technologies installed. With the large proportion of buildings involved in REFIT being 
schools, it is essential Finance and Education create a mechanism to payback the 
loans taking into account the delegated school budgets. 

  
We are now coming towards the end of Stage 3 and are aiming to award the contract 
in early December. The Energy Services Provider will carry out Investment Grade 
Proposal Surveys of each building, which will detail the work to be carried out, the 
energy conservation measures that will be installed and provide a binding  price and 
energy, cost and carbon savings.  
 
Pending MTCBC approval of the Salix Loan, Stage 3 will involve installing the energy 
 saving measures which will increase total project costs and savings. 

 
5.3 Getting our House in Order - Energy Data and Systems - Introduction of 

Systemslink Energy Management Software 
 

In 2015 an independent Carbon Management Review recommended that the 
MTCBC needed to urgently invest in Energy and Carbon Management Software.  

Page 65



The availability of accurate data is essential to pro-active energy management, 
reporting, ability to measure progress against targets and streamlined budgeting.  

 
It also provides ultimate portfolio transparency in the mission to drive down 
consumption. This requires an extensive network of utility meters and an effective 
system for manipulating the data collected. Such a system is commonly referred to 
as Energy and Carbon management software. 

 
 We are currently in the process of installing Systemslink Energy Management 
 Software. The powerful market-leading software offers a full suite of tools suitable for 
 all levels of expertise and is suitable for every multi-site organisation wishing to 
 monitor and, therefore, control energy usage and costs. 
 
 The initial set up process will take between 12-18 months and will involve populating 
 the software with all of MTCBC utility data.  
 
 The main benefits of the software are as follows: 
 

 Automatic Validation of Energy Invoices saving staff time. 

 All energy, cost, meter and site information will be kept in a central database 
instead of being stored in thousands of different documents. 

 The Energy team have clear information which can be provided to schools with 
tools to help reduce consumption. 

 Improved monitoring of Energy and Costs. 

 Use of Web Module to give schools quick and easy access to utility data where 
energy information can be communicated clearly using clear, user friendly 
graphical dashboards. 

 Gives schools the opportunities to identify energy waste and take actions to 
reduce the waste. 

 
5.4 Technical Projects  
 

With limited funding at its disposal, the Property Services/ Energy Team have carried 
out a limited number of Energy and Cost Saving Projects since 2015, financed by 
utilising existing budgets and Welsh Government Grants.  

 
More recently Cost and Carbon saving LED Lighting has been installed in Cyfarthfa 
High School and Bedlinog Primary School. The benefits to the schools are 
considerable. Electricity Running Costs have reduced by approximately 20%-30%. In 
some areas intelligent lighting controls ensure lights are automatically switched off 
when rooms are unoccupied while in other areas lights dim down to save energy and 
costs dependent on the amount of daylight. The quality of light is much improved and 
the difference in lighting levels has made considerable difference to the learning 
environment to both staff and pupils. Greenfields and Edwardsville Primary Schools 
recently benefitted from Energy Efficient boilers and Trend controls upgrades. These 
projects were completed in the Summer of 2019 and give Property Services the 
ability to optimise the systems remotely and ensure the plant is shut down over the 
school holidays thus saving Energy and Costs. 

 

Page 66



Historically, due to lack of resources, low engagement from schools and no formal 
repayment and funding model for Energy Efficiency projects between education and 
finance, Merthyr Tydfil Council are behind the majority of other local authorities in 
installing Energy Efficiency Measures and Renewables in buildings. 

 
With diminished budgets and no further grants from Welsh Government it is essential 
that MTCBC is able to access Salix Loans and repayment mechanisms within 
Finance and Education departments are created to ensure we can benefit from the 
Cost and Carbon savings Energy Reduction Projects will bring. 

 
5.5 Operational Management/ Behaviour Change 
 

The behaviour of all staff and users of MTCBC Schools has an impact on energy 
performance and utility costs. When resource is available, the Energy Engineer has 
been promoting simple changes schools can make to cut energy costs via emails 
that focus on good energy saving housekeeping in schools and council buildings.  

 
The results of this have been positive. We saw a 10% reduction in electricity use in 
Primary and Secondary schools over the Easter Holidays. During the Summer 
Holidays two Secondary Schools achieved a 66% and 34% reduction in electricity 
use as a result of a targeted switch off campaign saving approximately £4,000. 

 
The Energy Engineer has also been carrying out targeted Energy Audits in schools, 
optimising BMS Systems, and carrying out training to building managers on how they 
can minimise their buildings running costs. Afon Taf School is estimated to save 
£5000 on their electricity and gas costs this year. Coed Y Dderwen Primary School 
will save approximately £2300 as a result of reprogramming the Boiler Management 
System (see background paper). 

 
5.6 Energy Invoice Audit - Edit 
 

Industry guidance states that approximately 1% of energy invoices are incorrect 
leading to organisations to overspend on their utilities. Taking this into account the 
Energy Engineer has carried out a high level Energy Invoice Audit for MTCBC school 
accounts to ensure we are being charged correctly for our Energy. The Audit 
discovered that MTCBC has been getting incorrectly charged for the Climate Change 
Levy on some sites for over 4 years. Other findings included MTCBC sites getting 
charged for electricity capacity that was not required. As a result the Energy 
Engineer has been working with the Energy Suppliers to claim back financial rebates 
while also making cost saving amendments to energy supply contracts. The audit will 
save approximately £21,000 for the financial year 2019/20. Over a 5 year period we 
can expect to save an estimated £31,000 on energy invoice payments. 

 
5.7 Gas and Water Metering 
 

Historically it has very difficult to manage gas and water consumption within the 
authority due to the existing metering and data systems. Half hourly metering is 
required to enable us to understand our operational energy use and take actions to 
reduce costs and consumption, with particular benefits to schools. 

 

Page 67



We are now in the process of installing over 30 smart gas meters into our schools. 
This will give us the ability to identify avoidable waste and help us take action to 
reduce gas running costs and carbon emissions. 

 
Managing water is especially difficult as we do not have access to water usage 
data/invoices for a large number of sites such as schools. Also, systems are not in 
place to capture water consumption data which will allow us to identify excess 
consumption. It would be beneficial to trial a smart water meter on one of our high 
water using sites to see the level of savings achievable. This is an area that will need 
to be looked into in greater detail over the next 12 months. 

 
5.8 Draft Carbon Management Plan  
 

A draft CMP (Carbon Management Plan) was produced in 2017. Due to a lack of 
resources, sign off of the document by Cabinet was delayed. The Plan outlines 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s (MTCBC’s) aspirational strategy to reduce 
CO2 emissions arising from its’ buildings (and the Leisure Trust’s), street lighting, 
fleet and business travel by 15% by 2025.  In November, the plan was formally 
approved by Council. Part of the plan involves supporting schools to reduce energy 
costs and emissions. Although, this is already taking place if resources allow we 
would like to formalise this approach with the production of a formal schools energy 
policy. 

 
5.9 Savings Tracker 
 

The Energy savings tracker (Appendix 1) highlights some of the energy, carbon and 
cost savings achieved in the authority since 2015. The savings tracker is broken 
down into the following 4 areas 1) Technical Projects 2) Operational Management 
and Behaviour Change 3) Design and Asset Management and 4) Energy Invoice 
Audit. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The majority of our schools will have Energy Efficiency Measures (LED Lighting, 

BMS Systems, Renewables) installed which will lower running costs and carbon 
emissions. 

 
6.2 Water and Gas meters have AMR (Automatic Meter Read) capability which will give 

access to half hourly data. Enabling us to carry out pro-active energy management 
of Gas and Water Supplies. Financial Investment will be required to achieve this. 
 

6.3 The majority of schools to be connected to Trend 963 Building Management System 
allowing remote monitoring and optimisation of electrical and mechanical services 
within school buildings. 
 

6.4 Implementation of Systemslink Web Reporting module which will allow schools 
access to half hourly energy data. Enabling users to better monitor energy use and 
costs in their buildings  

Page 68



 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1  Agree a financing model with the Schools Forum that will provide a sustainable 

approach to funding energy efficiency measures in schools, utilising Salix Finance, 
taking into account schools delegated budgets. 

 
7.2  Continue progressing REFIT Cymru Energy Efficiency Scheme. 
 
7.3 Dependent on funding, continue to increase the number of schools connected to 

Trend 963 building management system and linked back to property services. 
 
7.4      We will ensure that only the most efficient equipment is used in replacement or new 

items for building services. 
 
7.5 Explore Sytemslink Web Module further with the end goal being to have all schools 

connected and able to view and analyse energy/cost data electronically. 
 
7.6    Explore costs and methods of water smart metering in schools. 
 
7.7   Continue to carry out targeted Energy Cost Saving Audits of target school sites.  
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The carbon and energy management activities directly relate to the authorities Focus 

on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community Plan and is incorporated in the 
Environmental Wellbeing 1 scrutiny report in that the reduction in energy use will 
reduce the amount of CO2 produced by the authority therefore improving the air 
quality within the County Borough. 

 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Heolgerrig Kick Off 
Meeting 

05.11.2019  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Site

Date of Installation/ 

Implemention Project Description

Estimated/Actual 

Savings

Annual 

Savings(£)

Annual Energy 

Savings(kWh)

Annual Co2 

Savings(Tonnes) Type of Savings(£)

Cumulative 

Savings(£)

Technical Projects

Cyfarthfa High School 01/05/2017 Replace DHW Calorifier and Boiler serving kitchen with gas fired storage Heater Actual 294 2675 0.49 Year on Year 588

Cyfarthfa High School 01/11/2018 Energy Efficient Lighting Upgrade(LED) Actual 7,049 58745 16.50 Year on Year 7049

Dowlais Junior School 08/08/2019 Energy Efficient Lighting Upgrade(LED) Estimated 2,331 16,430 4.61 Year on Year 2331

Bedlinog Primary School 08/08/2019 Energy Efficient Lighting Upgrade(LED) Estimated 2,191 15,000 4.21 Year on Year 2191

Greenfields School 01/09/2019 Energy Efficient Boiler and Controls Upgrade Estimated 1,000 50,000 9.18 Year on Year 1500

Edwardsville Primary School 01/09/2019 Energy Efficient Boiler and Controls Upgrade Estimated 500 16,666 3.06 Year on Year 500

Pantyscallog Primary School TBC Energy Efficient Lighting Upgrade(LED) Estimated TBC TBC TBC Year on Year TBC

Operational Management /Behaviour Change

Coed Y Dderwen Primary School 01/03/2019 Optimisation of Boiler Controls Estimated 2,600 115,000 21 Year on Year 2600

YGG Santes Tudful 01/03/2019 BMS Optimisation Estimated 1,656 52807 10.27 Year on Year 1656

Abercanaid Primary School 01/03/2019 Behavioural Change Estimated 1,214 84338 23.68 Year on Year 1000

Dowlais Infants 01/12/2019 BMS Optimisation/Property Rationlisation Actual 688 5741 1.612 Year on Year 688

Afon Taf High School 01/03/2019 BMS Optimisation/Caretaker Training Actual 5,000 209654 40.35 Year on Year 5000

Schools and Corporate Buildings 01/02/2019 Holiday/ Half Term Switch Off Campaign Estimated 5,000 TBC TBC Year on Year 5000

Bishop Hedley School Summer Switch Off Summer Switch Off Actual 3,000 20,000 tbc Year on Year 3000

Design and Asset Management 

Energy Invoice Audit

Afon Taf High School 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 536 n/a n/a Year on Year 536

Heolgerrig Primary School 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 696 n/a n/a Year on Year 696

Edwardsville Primary School 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 600 n/a n/a Year on Year 321

Bishop Hedley School 01/04/2019 CCL(Climate Change Levy)Rebate Actual 10,103 n/a n/a One Off 10,103

Bishop Hedley School 01/04/2019 CCL Exemption Actual 4,462 n/a n/a Year on Year 4462

Coed Y Dderwen Primary School 01/04/2019 Electricity Meter discrepancy resolution Actual 3,150 n/a n/a One Off 3150

Caedraw-Electric 02/04/2019 CCL Rebate Actual 792 n/a n/a One Off 798

Caedraw-Gas 03/04/2019 CCL Exemption Actual 342 n/a n/a Year on Year 342

St Aloysious 01/04/2019 CCL Rebate Actual 158 n/a n/a One Off 269

St Illtyds 01/04/2019 CCL Rebate Actual 455 n/a n/a One Off 455

gs-144839/es147162 Year on Year 38,000Afon Taf High School 01/04/2017

Phased remodelling of site. Outcomes will include a reduction in GIA from 12,086m
2 

(from DEC) to 8,155m
2
. Actual 19,000 292001P

age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

The Additional Learning Needs and Education 
Tribunal (Wales) Act  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update members on the work undertaken in Merthyr 

Tydfil to prepare for the Additional Learning Needs (ALN) and Education Tribunal 
(Wales) Act (2018). 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 The report is discussed and noted. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill was passed by the 

National Assembly for Wales on 12th December 2017 and after receiving Royal Assent 
became the Additional Learning Needs Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018 (ALNET) 
on 24th January 2018. 

 
The ALNET aims to create:  

 a unified legislative framework to support all children of compulsory school age or 
below with ALN and to support young people with ALN who are in school or Further 
Education (FE); 

 an integrated, collaborative process of assessment, planning and monitoring 
which facilitates early, timely and effective interventions; and 

 a fair and transparent system for providing information and advice, and for 
resolving concerns and appeals.  

 

 

Date Written 30th October 2019 

Report Author Sarah Bowen  

Service Area Learning Department  

Committee Date 25th November 2019 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5



4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Working collaboratively across the region the two grants for the financial years, 

2016/17 and 2017/18, were utilised to develop: 
 

4.1.1 Training materials on mediation and dispute resolution to produce the following 
outcomes. 

 
4.1.2 Transition planning between education settings, out of education and into social 

care, and into adult life to produce the following outcomes. 
    

4.1.3 Establish a working group of ALN Co-ordinators (ALNCOs) to develop 
consistent, multi-agency approaches for the development of Individual 
Development Plans (IDPs) to produce the following outcomes. 

 
4.1.4 The capacity of specialist schools to act as specialist support to mainstream 

schools to produce the following outcomes. 
 
4.2 In April 2018, the ALN Transformational Lead for the Central South Consortium (CSC) 

region was appointed and funding of £783,000 was allocated to the region to further 
enable meeting the requirements for the ALN Act.  Between March and July 2018 
analysis was carried out by the Learning Department in Merthyr Tydfil to identify 
strengths and areas for development.  

 
4.3 In order to support the implementation of this new system the Welsh Government has 

provided financial assistance through the ALN Transformation Grant for two years.  
The money is delegated via a host local authority, Rhondda Cynon Taf, acting on 
behalf of the five local authorities in the region, corresponding to the same footprint as 
the Central South Consortium. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 On 17th September 2019 the Minister for Education, Kirsty Williams, announced that 

there would be a need to revise the timeframe for the implementation plan 
(Appendix 1).  This would mean that the statutory roles created by the ALN Act are to 
commence in January 2021, but that the new ALN system will commence, on a phased 
basis, from September 2021.  The Code and regulations will be laid for National 
Assembly approval in 2020.  

 
5.2 The ALN Initial Readiness Survey is based on the requirements of the Additional 

Learning Needs and Education Tribunal Act.  It is a self-evaluation tool for local 
authorities, schools, further education institutions and health boards to judge current 
practice and identify improvement priorities.  After the initial completion in 2018, it was 
then revisited in July 2019 (Appendix 2 ‘Initial Readiness Survey).  Details of what has 
been achieved across the region to date can be found in Appendix 3.  The survey 
focuses on eight key themes.  What has been achieved locally is identified below.  

 
A. Implementing a unified plan for children and young people with additional learning 

needs. 
B. Putting in place policies to support the implementation of a single, unified plan for 

children and young people aged 0-25. 
C. Clear and consistent rights of appeal. 

Page 74



D. Increasing participation of children and young people. 
E. High aspirations and improved outcomes. 
F. Increased collaboration. 
G. Avoiding disagreements and early disagreement resolution. 
H. A bilingual system. 

 
The following have been key areas of focus locally. 

 Awareness raising of developments have been shared with LA colleagues, schools 
and the college. 

 Communication Strategy has been shared and posted on the website. 

 ALNCO Cluster Leads have been appointed to disseminate information and 
products. 

 ALNCO Forum cascades information to ALNCOs in Early Years, schools and the 
college. 

 Resources for parents and pupils have been drafted with the aim of being shared 
in the spring term in 2020.  

 Sub groups have been established to develop products.  Merthyr Tydfil has led on 
those for Person Centred Practice (PCP), Mediation, Provision Mapping while also 
being a part of the groups focusing on defining ALN and Additional Learning 
Provision, exemplar IDPs, Welsh Medium resources and awareness raising and 
rights of appeal.  

 Training continues to be delivered for PCP where required. 

 Mediation training has been delivered to all schools, colleagues in Early Years, 
Health, governors and the college.  

 A timetable has been drafted for the transferring of statements to Individual 
Development Plans. 

 Guidance for the transition for Early Years has been drafted and piloted. 

 Guidance for the transition for Post 16 has been drafted. 

 Work is being undertaken around a map and gap analysis of future post 16 pupils 
with ALN.  

 
This has allowed for an increase in collaboration between schools, the LA, Early Years 
and the college.  This has resulted in an increase in the sharing of expertise and 
knowledge.  

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 We need to be able to demonstrate that:  

 the implications of the Act and Code are clearly understood by all parties; 

 there are robust processes in place for  effective joint working with other agencies 
through all phases of the ALN learner’s education; 

 there are effective working relationships with parents and carers; 

 all practise is child focused; 

 planning for workforce development builds capacity; 

 there is a quality assurance process to identify good practice; 

 services are developed flexibly to meet needs; 

 there are review arrangements in place by the LA and governing bodies of 
maintained schools in Merthyr Tydfil, for pupils with ALN, in order to assess and 
respond to future needs; 

 processes and procedures are developed in advance of implementation date(s); 
and 

Page 75



 any other developments within Merthyr Tydfil re: ALN services/provision will be 
compliant with the Act. 

 
The information contained in Appendix 3 shows that improvements have been made 
across all of the key areas.  These have been as a result of collaboration between the 
LAs in the region, and as a result of improved professional working relationships 
between LAs, Health Boards and FEIs. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Merthyr Tydfil must be prepared to implement the new system in line with the 

prescribed timescales starting in September 2021, with the complete system 
becoming operational from September 2024.  It is essential that LA and educational 
setting staff continue to aspire to a person centred approach and develop systems and 
plans that mirror the principles of the Act without compromising the current systems.  
The delay has allowed for further time to embed operational practices and to 
implement a timetable for the conversion from statements to IDPs.  We do not want to 
lose the momentum gained and as such there will be two systems operating from 
2020-2023.  This has been agreed across the region and certain groups have been 
identified for the first tranche for transfer.  The LA will need to ensure the continued 
effective work with colleagues, parents and children to manage this transition. 

 
7.2 We must secure the appointment of an officer to the statutory Early Years post by 

January 2021. 
 
7.3 Areas for development across the region have been identified in Appendix 3 - Key 

Messages from the Region.  
 
7.4 The Central South ALN Project Board and its various sub groups, Central South 

Education Directors and School Improvement Consortium, the CSC, will continue to 
work together over the next three years in partnership with the Welsh Government to 
prepare all stakeholders.  There remains a continuing need to improve strategic and 
systematic joint working practices across all agencies in order to enable the delivery 
of all that which is prescribed in the ALN Transformation Programme.  

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

 
8.1  The on-going work around the preparedness for the ALNET Act connects directly with 

the Best Start Wellbeing Objective – children and young people get the best start to 
life and are equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  

 
8.2 The ALNET Act is consistent with the five ways of working as prescribed in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015: 
 

 Collaboration – a fundamental principal of the Act focuses on improving 
collaboration and creating a unified system. 

 Involvement – ensuring that pupils, parents and carers are at the heart of the 
system. 

 Long term – the Act focuses on meeting the needs of children from 0-25. 

 Prevention – the focus of the Act on early identification of need and ensuring 
appropriate provision to meet needs. Page 76



 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Readiness Survey Letter 
from Kirsty Williams, WG 
 
Key Messages from the 
Region 

17.09.19 
 
 

Sept 2019  

Learning Department  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 79



Page 80



READINESS SURVEY – LA Education Services- MTCBC                  APPENDIX 2 

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018 
 
A. Implementing a unified plan for children and young people with additional learning needs 
 
Moving from Statements to IDPs 
Welsh Government training about the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act will be rolled out from January 2020 and will be 
organised by regional transformation leads.  The training consists of four levels: 

 Level one: general overview of the system for all staff. 

 Level two: more detailed information of the system for all staff. 

 Level three: job specific training for staff including: the LA early years co-ordinator. 
 Level four: training leaders with corporate or statutory responsibility under the Act including: elected members, chief executives and directors. 

1. Training/Awareness raising  
Ensuring that department/s 
are knowledgeable about 
how the Act will impact on 
working practices 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 

Training/awareness raising- team plans, individual plans, CPD programmes, training timetables, discussion forums on-line, 
dissemination of updates from Welsh Government, frequently asked questions. ALNco training programme, school training 
programme. 
ALN Early Years Co-ordinator-records of discussions, job descriptions, regional collaboration, and EY steering group in 
place. Discussions at school level. 

 
 

GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support 
us? 

What additional resources 
are required? 

Have you started to identify 
staff which will benefit from 
training on aspects of the Act?  
 

 (16.07.19) 

 All staff have been identified 

 training opportunities have 
been identified in team plans 

 and in individual performance 
management plans 

 School staff have training 
needs planned for  in a 
coherent programme 

 (To cover L1,2,3) 

 All staff have been 
identified including 

 Specific groups of 
local authority staff 
and 

 Specific groups of 
school staff   

 

 (To cover L 1,2) 

 Discussions have 
been undertaken to 
identify staff that 
require training, 
within the department 
and in schools 

 
 
(To cover L1) 

 

P
age 81



 

 

2 
 

Have you considered how you 
will raise awareness and 
promote the new system and 
its implications for your 
authority across elected 
members? 

 (16.07.19) 

 A training plan has been 
identified and planned for 
within corporate training plan 

 Members forums have been 
developed to share 
developments and updates 
across the members 

 (To cover L4) 

 Members have been 
identified that require 
training 

 Discussions as to a 
training plan have 
taken place 

 Discussions have 
taken place as to how 
to proceed with 
training members 

 

Local authorities will be 
required to have an ALN early 
year’s co-ordinator in post by 
September 2019 –what steps 
have you taken/are taking? 
 
 
 
 

 The role of ALN early years co-
ordinator has been identified in 
organisational structure plans 

 The consortia have discussed 
a regional role and agreed on a 
way forward 

 (16.07.19) 

 A job description has been 
agreed 

 Job specific training has been 
facilitated 
(To cover L3) 

 (16.07.19) 

 Discussions on the 
role of the ALN early 
years co-ordinator 
have been 
undertaken locally 

 The role has yet to 
be discussed on a 
regional footprint 

 The role of ALN early 
years co-ordinator 
has yet to be 
considered/ 
discussed 

Discussions to be held with 
EYs Coordinator; post to 
possibly sit centrally in LA 
with current Statementing 
Officer; funding to be 
identified.    

2. The Welsh Government has 
announced that the move from 
statements of SEN to 
individual plans will start in 
September 2020 and complete 
by July 2022 

 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 

Statements to IDPs-LA officers engaged in process, steering/planning groups established, good practice discussed and 
shared, parents engaged/consulted. Schools (HTs and ALNcos) engaged/consulted. Aspects and challenges identified and 
discussed, problem solving being undertaken on a local regional (consortia) basis, team/service/individual implementation 
planning. 
Consultation/Engagement undertaken with Health/Social Care, parents, pupils,3rd sector. 
ALN Early Years Co-ordinator-involved in steering group, planning documents, written into individual/team plans. 
 

 
 
 

GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to 
support us? 

P
age 82



 

 

3 
 

What additional 
resources are 

required? 

Have you identified who will be 
assigned leadership of the 
implementation of the move 
from statements of SEN to 
individual development plans?  
 

 Leadership has been identified 
and role assigned 

 Implementation planning has 
been put in place to identify and 
steer process 

 Other agencies are being 
included (Health/Social Care) 

 (16.07.19) 

 Leadership has been 
discussed 

 Implementation 
planning has been 
considered/discussed 

 Other agencies have 
not been engaged 

 Leadership not yet 
considered 

 Implementation 
planning not yet 
discussed 

 Other agencies not 
considered 

Process is well 
embedded in Greenfield 
and with Statementing 
Officer; weaker link 
from Health/Social Care 
(collaborative training 
would  be beneficial)  

Have you identified and 
planned for the key aspects in 
facilitating a timely move from 
statements to individual 
development plans?  
 

 Multi-agency steering group 
established 

 Clear plans developed for 
implementation 

 Consultation/engagement with all 
other agencies, Health/Social 
Care 

 (16.07.19) 

 Consultation undertake with 
parents, pupils , 3rd sector groups 

 (16.07.19) 

 Discussions to form 
steering group 

 Planning being 
considered 

 Discussions underway 
to engage all 
stakeholders 

 

 Identification at early 
stages- thinking of 
ways to plan for 
moving to IDPs 

 Planning to be 
discussed and 
formalised 

 Little engagement with 
stakeholders 

 

Holos has engaged 
with parents and 
pupils.  

Have you identified and 
planned for the key challenges 
to making a timely move from 
statements to individual 
development plans?      
 

 (16.07.19) 

 Challenges identified and feed 
progress 

 Good practice disseminated 
across consortia 

 Other agencies engaged and 
contributing to identification and 
problem solving through steering 
group and detailed planning 

 ALN EY co-ordinator included 

 (16.07.19) 

 Challenges discussed, 
action planning being 
considered 

 Other agencies/ 
stakeholders 
challenges being 
considered 

 Planning being 
developed 

 Local rather than 
regional response to 

 Discussions at early 
stages 

 Little evidence of 
planning  

 Local rather than 
regional response 

 Other agencies/ 
stakeholders not 
considered yet  

 ALN EY co-ordinator 
considered not factored 
in yet 

IDP format tbc, IDP 
process drafted  
Challenge- capacity  

P
age 83



 

 

4 
 

sharing god practice 
and problem solving 

 ALN EY co-ordinator 
considered 

3. The Welsh Government 
implementation plan sets out 
the expectation local 
authorities will work at a 
regional level, with 
transformation leads, to 
develop a regional 
implementation plan for 
making the transition from 
statements to IDPs. The 
development of the regional 
plans will start in March 2018 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 

Implementation plans at local and regional level are joined-up, the following may be identified depending on where the 
LA/Region is in its journey 
 Practices and processes required to implement the IDP system are identified  
 Roles and responsibilities are clear  
 Detailed plans as to how the department will co-ordinate assessment, planning and delivery for children of pre-school 

age with ALN 
 Detailed plans as to how the department will co-ordinate assessment, planning and delivery for children and young 

people who are looked after by the state (LAC) 
 Explicit multi-agency working arrangements clearly identified  
 Identification of support provided to schools in the LA area 
 Identification of support provided to FEIs in the LA area 
 Explicit funding arrangements associated with implementing the IDP system detailed and consulted upon with all 

stakeholders  
 Planning to ensure IDPs will be integrated with local data management systems 
 Contingency planning and moderation processes identified for  LA maintained IDPs which includes plans for pre-school 

children and plans for young people, up to the age of 25, enrolled in further education  
 Contingency planning and moderation processes and procedures identified for school-based IDPs and FE IDPs in 

consultation with schools and colleges 
 

Engagement with stakeholders may include some or all below 
 Additional learning needs co-ordinators (ALNcos)?  
 Maintained and non-maintained nurseries 
 Teaching staff – maintained schools, special schools, additional learning resource bases and PRUs 
 School governors 
 Health visitors, School Nurses 
 Flying start practitioners  
 Social services/LA Co-ordinators 
 Local Health Boards/Delos 
 FEIs 

P
age 84



 

 

5 
 

 EOTAS providers 
 Youth Offending Team 
 Children and young people  
 Parents 

 3rd sector interest groups e.g. RNID,RNIB 

 GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support 
us? 

What additional resources 
are required? 

What actions have you taken 
to start the process of 
developing an implementation 
plan for making the transition 
from statements of SEN to 
individual development plans?  
Who has been involved in the 
process?  
 
 

 The local and regional 
implementation plans are in 
place and are co-ordinated for 
regional strategy 

 Engagement has taken place 
with a full range of agencies 
and stakeholders(see 
evidence) 

 Effective monitoring 
procedures are in place 

 (16.07.19) 

 Local plans are being 
formulated, links to 
regional plans have 
been discussed 

 Engagement has 
taken place with 
some stakeholders 
including principal 
players such as 
Health and Social 
Care 

 Monitoring processes 
are being considered 

 Local plans are being 
discussed, links to 
regional plans being 
considered 

 Engagement has 
been discussed but 
not undertaken as yet 

 Monitoring processes 
are not in place 

Schools are still using 
statements as IDP has yet 
tbc, however, Individual 
Action Plans have been in 
place for some time for all 
pupils in Greenfield special 
School. Transition 
programme tbc 

4. Communication and 
resources 
What actions has the 
department taken to develop a 
communication plan to explain 
to partner organisations how 
the move from SEN to ALN and 
from statements to IDPs will 
work in the local authority 
area?  

 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 
A Communication plan may include the following identified good practice- 

 Lead identified, with clear roles and responsibilities outlined 
 Identified actions that the school should undertake to prepare for the implementation of the move from IEPs to IDPs 
 Clearly defined process to support/resource the link between the delegated ALN budget and the school’s responsibility to 

maintain IDPs 
  Clear criteria and moderation(local and/or regional/national) to define how schools will be responsible for developing and 

maintaining school-based IDPs 
 Clear criteria and moderation (local and/or regional/national) to define how IDPs may be referred to local authorities 
 Clear criteria under which a LA will reconsider decisions taken by schools 

P
age 85



 

 

6 
 

 Clear guidelines as to how IDPs will work for children and young people who are EOTAS, detained, elective home 
educated – including links to IDP process and EOTAS panels (set up under the EOTAS framework for action) 

 Clear guidelines as to how IDPs will work for children and young people with care and support plans, including those who 
are looked after by the state? 

 Clear planning to engage and inform pupils, parents, other stakeholders including Health, Social Care, voluntary sector 
 Equality of communication needs has been considered and reasonable adjustments implemented to allow equity of 

access 

 GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support 
us? 

What additional resources 
are required? 

Has the department identified 
who will be assigned 
leadership of developing the 
communication plan?   
When do you expect the 
communication plan will have 
been developed? 

 (16.07.19) 

 Lead identified 

 Communication plan fully 
developed and being 
implemented across local 
area/region 

 (16.07.19) 

 Lead discussions held 

 Communications plan 
in progress, planning 
undertaken but not yet 
implemented 

 Communication plan 
and Lead only at 
consideration stage 

Communication plan and Lead 
to be identified as a priority 

 (16.07.19) 
Lead- SB  

What action has the 
department taken to develop 
guidance and resources to 
facilitate schools to implement 
the new IDP system?  

See evidence 

 Guidance developed and 
distributed 

 Processes in place 

 Resources for schools 
developed by LA and in place 
Communication materials 
developed or disseminated 
from WG 

See evidence 

 (16.07.19) 

 Guidance etc. being 
developed 

See evidence 

 Guidance etc. being 
discussed 

 Needs to be further 
embedded in educational 
settings; this will  be 
addressed in the next 
phase of training at PCP 
Forums;  

 (16.07.19) 
previous misinterpretation 
of statement resulted to 
inaccurate assessment.   

How have you developed a 
communication plan to explain 
to children, young people and 
parents how the move from 
SEN to ALN and from 

 (16.07.19) 

 Plan in place 

 Guidance developed 
locally/regionally/nationally and 
disseminated to key 

 Plan developing 

 Guidance developing 

 Dissemination to 
some stakeholders 

 Plan considered and 
some limited 
discussion  

 (16.07.19) 
Guidance yet to be 
developed 
locally/regionally/nationally 

P
age 86



 

 

7 
 

statements to IDPs will work in 
the local authority area 

stakeholders including 
pupils, parents 

 Engaged with parents and 
pupils.  

 Equity of access planned for 

 Yet to engage parents 
and pupils 

 Equity of access 
needing to be 
addressed 

 Guidance not 
developing at this 
stage 

 Engagement not yet 
underway 

 Equity of access not 
being considered as 
yet 

and disseminated to key 
stakeholders  

 

Additional Notes 
 

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018 
 

B.  Putting in place policies to support the implementation of a single, unified plan for young people aged 0-25 years  
 
The Act places three requirements on local authorities in relation to young people, up to the age of 25, who attend further education:  

 to maintain, where appropriate, IDPs for young people entering and enrolled at further education by July 2022 

 to provide access to local authority dispute resolution services by September 2020 
 responsibility on the local authority for securing post-16 provision for young people with complex needs who require specialist placements by 

September 2020.   

Transition planning for young 
people entering further 
education with LA maintained 
IDPs 
 
1. What actions will the local 

authority take to prepare for 
implementing its new 
responsibility for 
maintaining IDPs for young 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 

Draft implementation plans, regional meetings to discuss joint provision;, developed/developing transition processes using 
common formats; identifying and training staff to take on new role/s, additional responsibilities; developing multi-agency 
working; working in collaboration with FE providers; setting up steering groups; engaging with all agencies e.g. Careers 
Wales. Team/service plans and individual work plans; attending LHB, Social Care meetings locally/regionally 
 
Evidence of consultation with a wide range of stakeholders/partners may include: 
 Young people 
 Parents 
 Social Services 
 Schools 

P
age 87



 

 

8 
 

people, up to the age of 25, 
enrolled in FE?  

 

 FE colleges 
 Careers Wales 
 Local Health boards 
 Further education institutions 
 Specialist independent colleges 

Communications plan may be in place. 
 

 GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support 
us? 

What additional resources are 
required? 

Has an implementation plan 
been drafted? The plan may 
contain: 

 A timetable to ensure 
implementation of LA 
responsibility for 
supporting, as appropriate, 
young people making the 
transition to further 
education as in new COP  

 Identifying capacity and 
resources 

 Practices and processes 
required to implement 
systems to support 
transition to post-16 
education 

 Multi-agency working 

 An implementation plan is in 
place 

 A timetable for transition is 
in place 

 Increased capacity and 
resources have been 
identified; including training 
of existing staff and/or 
recruiting additional staff to 
cover new responsibilities 

 Clear transition processes 
are in place 

 Multi-agency working is 
operational and established 
processes are evident 

 (16.07.19) 

 An implementation 
plan is being 
developed 

 A timetable is being 
developed 

 Additional resources 
and capacity are 
being planned for 

 Transition processes 
are under 
development 

 Multi-agency 
processes are being 
discussed and 
drafted 

 An implementation 
plan is being 
considered. Drafting is 
not yet in place 

 A timetable is being 
discussed but is not in 
draft as yet 

 Transition processes 
for Post 16 pupils 
have not been  
discussed or identified 

 Multi-agency working 
is at the emergent 
stage, initial contact 
has been made but 
not sustained through 
a steering 
group/working party 

 

What consultation has been 
undertaken with stakeholders 

 Consultation has been 
undertaken with all 
stakeholders 

 (16.07.19) 

 Consultation is being 
developed to include 

 Consultation has been 
discussed but is not 
yet taken place 

 

P
age 88



 

 

9 
 

a wide range of 
stakeholders 

Have you developed/are 
developing a communications 
plan? 
This may include: 
 Easy-read leaflets providing 

information on what 
support is available and 
what they can expect 
during the admissions 
process (including 
transition) 

 Adequate information about 
ALN support within all 
college 
guides/prospectuses 

 Easily accessible 
information on the 
college/LA website about 
ALN support and transition 
opportunities 

 Plan in place 

 Wide variety of media used 

 Guidance developed 
locally/regionally/nationally 
and disseminated to key 
stakeholders including 
pupils, parents 

 Equity of access planned for 

 (16.07.19) 

 Plan developing 

 A range of media 
being considered 

 Guidance developing 

 Dissemination to 
some stakeholders 

 Yet to engage 
parents and pupils 

 Equity of access 
needing to be 
addressed 

 Plan considered and 
some limited 
discussion  

 Media use not yet 
being considered 

 Guidance not 
developing at this 
stage 

 Engagement not yet 
underway 

 Equity of access not 
being considered 

 

 GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support 
us? 

What additional resources are 
required? 

2. Has the department 
identified/is identifying the 
actions that need to be 
taken to extend access of 
local authority dispute 
resolution services to 
young people, up to the age 

 (16.07.19) 
This requirement has been 
written into contracts/work 
plans for dispute resolution 
services 

 This requirement is 
being discussed to 
implement 

 This requirement has 
not yet been 
considered 

 

P
age 89



 

 

10 
 

of 25, enrolled in further 
education?  

3. What actions has the         
department identified/is 
identifying that need to be 
taken to develop practices and 
processes in preparation for 
taking on responsibility of 
securing placements for young 
people with complex needs?  

 Has work started on 
developing a plan to 
implement LA secured 
specialist post-16 
placements? 

 The plan may include: 
 Early identification of the 

number of young people 
with ALN each year that will 
be likely to need specialist 
placements?  

 Working with FEIs to 
develop local/regional 
provision, where possible 

 Working with LHBs to put in 
place joint funding 
mechanisms 

 Working with all partner 
organisations to ensure 
placements are secured 
and arrangement are put in 
place in a timely way 

 An action plan is in place 

 The plan includes early 
identification of pupil 
numbers and the range of 
specialist places available 
locally/regionally to meet 
need in a timely way 

 Work with FE colleges is 
already in place 

 Working with LHBs to agree 
joint funding mechanisms 
are well-developed 

 Working with partner 
agencies is evident 

 (16.07.19) 

 An action plan is 
developing and 
discussions have 
taken place 

 Early identification of 
pupils and available 
resources have been 
discussed in a local 
and regional context 
to enable services to 
meet pupil needs in a 
timely way. 

 Working with FE 
colleagues is in 
development 

 Working with LHBs is 
at an early stage with 
discussions about 
funding 

 Working with other 
partner agencies e.g. 
Career Wales is 
being discussed 

 An action plan is not 
in place or been 
discussed 

 Early identification of 
resource has not been 
considered 

 Local and regional 
discussions are not in 
place 

 Work with FE colleges 
is being considered 

 Working with LHBs 
and other partner 
agencies has not 
been considered yet, 
no joint funding 
protocols are in place. 

Joint funding arrangements 
tbc  

 (16.07.19) 
Challenges of FE pupils 
who have not been 
included in map and gap 
analysis due to them sitting 
outside of CSC.  
Further buy in needed for 
Social Services and Health.  

P
age 90



 

 

11 
 

Additional Notes 
 

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018 
 
C.  Clear and consistent rights of appeal 

The Act introduces extended rights of appeal to children and young people. Children and young people with a school maintained plan will be able to 
appeal certain decisions to tribunal as will young people, up to the age of 25, who are enrolled in further education. These rights of appeal are 
requirements within the Code of Practice. 
1. What action has the 

department taken to 
implement practices 
associated with explaining 
and promoting rights of 
appeal, including all 
learners with ALN, 0-25, not 
just in relation to LA based 
IDPs (N.B. requirement of 
the COP) 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 

Service-Updated all correspondence e.g. standard letter templates, posters, leaflets, web-sites; 
engaging with parents groups, organising consultation events, working with 3rd sector agencies to raise awareness, included 
in their publicity, advice and guidance. Updated communications plan, service, team plans, identified additional 
resource/capacity 
Schools- Updated all correspondence e.g. standard letter templates, posters, leaflets, web-sites 
engaging with parents groups, organising consultation events, working with 3rd sector agencies to raise awareness, included 
in their publicity, advice and guidance 
Raising awareness training provided/planned 

 GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support us? 
What additional resources are 

required? 

How is the Service planning to: 

 Produce literature for 
children, young people and 
parents to raise awareness 
of/promote the right to 
appeal? 

 Produce literature for 
young people with ALN 

 (16.07.19) 

 Service/Comms planning 
takes on board all 
requirements of the 
COP. 

 Service/Comms 
planning to on board 
all requirements of the 
COP is in process 

 Service/Comms plans 
being considered 

Need regional leaflet; to look at 
SNAP Cymru materials  

 (16.07.19) 
Materials are still  in 
development 

P
age 91



 

 

12 
 

making the transition to 
further education to raise 
awareness of/promote their 
right to appeal?  

Have you considered how to: 

 Raise awareness of the 
right for children and young 
people, who lack capacity, 
to have a case friend where 
disagreements proceed to 
tribunal 

 Raise awareness of the 
right to representation for 
young people over the age 
of 16 and parents, who lack 
capacity, to support them in 
taking a case to tribunal  

 

 Discussions have/are 
taken place to address 
via 
guidance/advice/other 
agencies retained 

 (16.07.19) 

 Discussions have/are 
being considered 
taken place to address 
via 
guidance/advice/other 
agencies retained 

 Some consideration is 
taking place 

Service is provided by SNAP 

Are you planning to: 
Providing guidance to schools 
which includes: 
 The rights of children and 

young people to take a case 
to tribunal 

 How the school should 
prepare the case including 
the quality of evidence 
required 

 Lessons drawn from local 
authority experience of 
decisions made by the 
tribunal 

 Guidance and advice 
planned to support 
schools including 
templates, access to 
support, dissemination of 
case studies and 
exemplar resources 
 

 (16.07.19) 

 Guidance and advice 
being discussed to 
support schools 
including templates, 
access to support, 
dissemination of case 
studies and exemplar 
resources 

 

 Discussions and 
planning being 
considered re: 
guidance and advice 
etc.  

Signpost to SNAP; LA 
involvement; emphasis on 
increased parental involvement; 
consistent approach required 
across the region.  

P
age 92



 

 

13 
 

Additional Notes 
 

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018 
 
D.  Increasing participation of children and young people  
 

 The Act introduces a requirement for those involved in the ALN system to support children, young people and parents and to have regard to the 
views, wishes and feelings of children, young people and parents.   

 Person-centred practice is one approach which can be used to achieve this- It is imperative that children and young people see the planning 
process as something which is done with them rather than to them. 

 Once young people become 16 they are treated as adults who can choose to involve their parents but who have to consent to sharing information 
with them, as the rights belong to them alone.   

 
1. Has Person-Centred 

Practice (PCP) training 
been rolled out across the 
LA?   

 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 

Participation standards- evidence of service and team self-assessment, working with children participation officers at local 
level and national level  
Children’s Commissioner’s guidance on taking a rights based approach in education settings - 
https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/The-Right-Way-Education.pdf 
 
Evidence of PCP training, sustained developments, resources made available to schools, dissemination of good practice 
through ALNco forums via advisory teachers, LA based staff, included in submissions for assessments, used in school and 
LA based IDPs. Used in annual reviews, IDP reviews.1 page profiles in general use in schools 

PCP training evident across partners including Health Social Care, Play, Youth, YOS, FE colleges, ITT courses 

School/LA based “champions”, use of ALN Innovation Grant, evident in implementation plans, local and regional 
approaches 

Evidenced in School development pans, ALN development plans, service planning and individual plans 

P
age 93

https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/The-Right-Way-Education.pdf


 

 

14 
 

School based staff training programmes e.g. LSAs 

 GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support us? 
What additional resources are 

required? 

Have all LA staff involved in 
ALN been trained? 

 If not, will all staff have 
undertaken training by 
September 2020?  
 

Is the local authority currently 
using PCP? If not, when will it 
be implemented?  

 

 (16.07.19) 

 Training well established, 
and sustained 

 LA ALN staff trained 

 PCP champions, schools 
and LAs, in place and 
implementation plans in 
place 

 Evidence of 1 page 
profiles, IDPs, PCP 
processes in place at LA 
and school level, 
including at transitional 
and annual reviews of LA 
and school-based IDPs. 

 Sharing of good practice 
and resources evident 

 Evidence of LAC PCP 
processes in place and 
for other vulnerable 
learners 

 Training rolled out to a 
wide range of partner 
agencies including: 

 Health 

 Social Care 

 Play 

 Youth 

 YOS 

 Training on-going 

 ALN staff identified for 
training, some already 
trained 

 PCP champions in 
place and 
implementation plans 
being developed 

 (16.07.19) 

 Some evidence of 
PCP processes in 
place but not across 
all schools and 
services 

 Resources being 
developed and a 
dissemination method 
being discussed 

 Training being 
developed to include 
partner agencies, 
some have been 
trained 

 Specific PCP 
processes for 
vulnerable groups e.g. 
LAC pupils not yet 
regular practice 

 

 Training to be rolled 
out, actions have 
been identified 
including identifying 
ALN staff to be 
prioritised 

 PCP champions not 
yet in place although 
discussed, 
implementation plans 
not in place yet but 
consideration given 

 Resources and good 
practice dissemination 
considered but not yet 
evident 

 Training for partner 
agencies not yet 
considered, less of a 
priority than schools at 
present 

 No specific templates 
processes for LAC 
pupils or other 
vulnerable groups 

Refresher training to be provided 
for Education, Social Services, 
FE, and EYs  

P
age 94



 

 

15 
 

 FE colleges Post 16 
transitional reviews 

 Careers Wales 

Have all school staff involved 
in ALN in the authority been 
trained? 
 
If not, when will staff have 
undertaken training by 
September 2020? 

 
Are all schools using PCP? If 
not, will all schools be using 
PCP by September 2020?  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 (16.07.19) 

 Schools/ALNcos trained 
and process embedded 

 Plans in place to 
continue training 
programme and to 
refresh 

 School based champions 
evident 

 Evidence of 1 page 
profiles, IDPs, PCP 
processes in place at 
school level, including at 
transitional and annual 
reviews of LA and 
school-based IDPs. 
Sustained and consistent 
practice evident 

 Sharing of good practice 
and resources planned 
for 2019/20 

 Many schools/ALNcos 
trained and process 
becoming sustained in 
some schools 

 School based 
champions identified 

 Evidence of use of 
consistent PCP 
processes across 
many schools 

 Sharing of good 
practice being 
undertaken 

 Resources being 
developed for school 
use 

 Some ALNcos and 
school staff trained 

 School based 
champions being 
considered 

 Some evidence of 
PCP processes used 
in some schools, 
although not always 
consistently 

 Sharing of good 
practice and 
development of 
resources being 
planned for 

New ALNCos receive annual 
training;  
25 out of 28 schools have 2 staff 
members trained.  

2. What other actions has the 
department taken to 
support and increase the 
participation of children, 
young people and 
parents/carers?    

 
 
 
 

 The service has strong 
evidence of engagement 
with young people and 
their parents/carers to 
ensure that they have 
been fully involved in the 
Act’s requirements and 
changes for PCP 

 The Service has 
completed the 

 (16.07.19) 

 The service has  
evidence of 
engagement with 
young people and 
their parents/carers 
and have made some 
effort to engage with 
them to raise 
awareness of the Act’s 

 The service has 
started to engage with 
young people, their 
parents/carers and 
has started to raise 
awareness of the 
Act’s requirements 
and changes for PCP 

 The service is 
planning to engage in 

 

P
age 95



 

 

16 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

participation self-
assessment and 
achieved the standards 
successfully, and works 
closely with the 
participation officer to 
ensure participation 

 A communications plan 
is in place to disseminate 
new requirements and 
changes including 
ensuring attendance of 
all pupils parents and 
carers at PCP reviews 

 The service ensures 
pupils and parents 
understand and 
participate fully in the 
process 

requirements and 
changes for PCP 

 The Service is 
undertaking the 
participation standards 
self-assessment, and 
is developing work 
with the participation 
officer to ensure 
participation 

 A communications 
plan is being 
developed to 
disseminate new 
requirements and 
changes and some 
pupils, parents and 
carers take part in the 
PCP process.  

 Work is being 
undertaken to explain 
process to pupils and 
parents/carers 

the participation 
standards at some 
point 

 A communications 
plan to disseminate 
new requirements and 
changes is being 
considered and a few 
pupils, parents and 
carers are starting to 
take part in the PCP 
process 

 Development work is 
planned to explain the 
PCP process to 
pupils, parents and 
carers 

Additional Notes 
 
 
 

P
age 96



 

 

17 
 

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018 
 

E.  High aspirations and improved outcomes 
 

 This new Act will pave the way for a radical new approach, driving improvements in standards to ensure all learners are supported to meet their full 
potential. Essentially it brings the entire legislative framework into a 21st century enabling us to effectively support learners with ALN through their 
education journey. 

 At the heart of all of the reforms is a focus on inclusion; putting children and young people at the centre, and ensuring they are supported to reach 
their full potential.  

 The emphasis of IDPs will be on making provision that delivers tangible outcomes that contribute in a meaningful way to the child or young 
person’s achievement of their full potential 

 
1. What action has the local 

authority undertaken to 
support children and young 
people with specific needs 

 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 

Service and team plans, self-evaluation for LACESYP (KQs), reviews of specialist provision including PRUs, ESTYN 
inspection reports for schools, EIBs, monitoring of standards of vulnerable groups, comparison of data at a local, regional 
and national level, including exclusions and attendance, monitoring of individual pupil progress at annual reviews, transitional 
reviews, extraordinary reviews including pupils accessing EOTAS provision and pupils accessing out of county provision, 
progress of LAC pupils, monitoring disapplication levels 
 
ALNco meetings, ALNco training programs, local and regional, training of LSAs 
 
Review of specialist support services, capacity, training and delivery of improved outcomes for pupils, HI, VI, Speech and 
Language, special school and SNRB outcomes, also including EPS and ASD support, LAC support 
Co-construction of policies and planning, regional commissioning of specialist services. 
 

 GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support us? 
What additional resources are 

required? 

The Service is undertaking an 
assessment of demand for 
specialist support? 

 (16.07.19) 

 Service has robust 
procedures to constantly 
review the demands for 

 The Service is 
developing 
procedures to review 

 The Service is 
considering how to 
assess demand and is 
discussing how to 

Review is currently being 
undertaken; 

 (16.07.19) 

P
age 97



 

 

18 
 

The Service Is undertaking 
reviews of likely future need 
(on-going assessment of the 
type and capacity to deliver 
ALP to meet likely future 
needs)? 

specialist support and 
responds accordingly 

 Future needs are 
assessed and provision 
planning undertaken on 
a regular basis. 

demand for specialist 
places 

 Responding to 
demand in future is 
being developed 

respond to future 
demands and adjust 
provision/support 
accordingly 

LRB and Additional funding 
support review undertaken; 
entry and exit criteria revised. 
 
Challenge- The needs of EYs 
pupils who do not attend 
Flying Start are not always 
known until last minute.   

Undertakes assessments of 
the capacity of specialist 
support staff – including 
specialist teachers and 
ALNcos with specialist 
training/experience 

Undertakes an assessment of 
capacity in LA to work with 
children who require specialist 
service?  

Has developed an action plan 
to overcome any gaps in 
capacity?  

 (16.07.19) 

 The Service reviews it’s 
capacity on a regular 
basis at LA and school 
level and adjusts 
support/provision 
accordingly 

 An action plan is in place 
which includes identifying 
the need to train 
additional specialist staff 
to sustain support e.g. 
including regional 
services such as 
SENCOM,EPS 

 The Service is at the 
start of reviewing 
specialist support and 
provision and to plan 
accordingly 

 An action plan is being 
developed to consider 
future need 

 This is being 
considered 

 An action plan has 
been discussed 

As a consortium we have applied 
for WG grant for Sensory 
Workforce Development; 
internally we have addressed 
shortfalls for HI and VI (recruited 
and filled posts) and funded 
training as required.  

Puts in place practices for 
ensuring specialist staff are 
up-to-date with evidence on 
effective interventions to 
support young people with 
ALN? 

 Regular sessions to 
upskill specialist services 
staff and LA support staff 
are undertaken, including 
building CPD 
opportunities into 
individual and team work 
plans 

 (16.07.19) 

 (16.07.19) 

 Sessions for specialist 
staff are organised 

 LA staff can access 
opportunities to upskill 
themselves 

 There are some 
organised sessions for 
school-based staff 
which follow a 

 Some sessions have 
been put in place 

 LA staff can access 
CPD for their 
individual needs 

 School based staff 
have access to some 
organised sessions 
but no pan has been 
developed as yet to 

It has been identified that the 
quality of agency and LA LSA 
staff needs addressing; 
effectiveness tbc; QA plan to be 
put in place; training for students 
on college courses tbc     
 
 
 
 

P
age 98



 

 

19 
 

 Organises regular 
training sessions for 
school based staff 

 A training programme is 
in place that responds to 
local and regional need. 

development plan and 
is addressing a 
training plan that will 
respond to local and 
regional need 

meet local and 
regional need 

 
 

Engage with other LAs in the 
region to develop collective 
planning, commissioning and 
provision of specialist 
services? 

 

 

 (16.07.19) 

 There is clear evidence 
of joint commissioning of 
specialist services and 
regional services are 
very much supported at 
Director/local politician 
level. 

 There is evidence of 
regional collaborative 
planning to meet the 
requirements of the Act. 

 There is evidence of 
regional services 
being in place 

 Some joint 
commissioning has 
taken place or is 
planned for in future 

 Collaborative regional 
planning is 
developing. 

 Some regional 
planning takes place 

 Central services are 
being discussed to 
meet local and 
regional need, which 
is leading to 
discussions around 
joint commissioning. 

 EP and VI jointly 
commissioned with RCT; 
processes in place  with 
Health and RCT in respect of 
specialist equipment; 
(16.07.19) 
enhanced provision for SALT; 
Special School nursing.   

2. What actions has the 
department undertaken to 
support improved 
outcomes for young people 
with ALN 

    

Putting in place practices and 
processes to track progress of 
young people with LA 
maintained IDPs?  

 Robust monitoring of 
pupil progress for 
statemented (LA 
maintained IDPs) pupils 
is in place including 
those pupils who are 
EOTAS or in Out of 
County  placements. 

 (16.07.19) 

 (16.07.19) 

 Statemented pupils 
progress is monitored 
via the Annual review 
process by school.  

 Monitoring of 
specialist provision is 
being developed 

 (16.07.19) 

 Statemented pupils 
are monitored to track 
progress but 
challenge is yet to be 
robustly used 
especially to out of 
county placements 

 Specialist provision 
monitoring 

More robust tracking needs to be 
developed; high level data needs 
to be provided.  

 (16.07.19) 
Moderation is untaken by 
Outreach (VJ) in LRBs- 
Complex, Nurture/SEBD. PRU 
and other school based LRBs 
carry out their own 

P
age 99



 

 

20 
 

 Specialist provision is 
held accountable for 
pupil progress and is 
quality assured at least 
annually 

 Pupils attainment is 
routinely tracked and 
reported to LA and 
consortia and is reported 
and compared regionally 

 Some tracking 
reporting of attainment 
takes place but is not 
yet reported and 
compared regionally  

 

arrangements are in 
discussion 

 Tracking and reporting 
is developing locally 

  

monitoring processes. Capita 
generates reports.  

Putting in place practices and 
processes to track progress of 
young people with school 
maintained IDPs? 
 
Putting in place practices and 
processes to assure ALP is 
appropriate for the needs of 
the young person 

 The school robustly 
tracks the progress of 
those pupils with school-
based IDPs using target 
setting. 

 Schools are 
challenged/supported by 
the LA/consortia through 
EIBs etc. to raise 
achievement 

 (16.07.19) 

 The school tracks the 
progress of pupils and 
uses target setting 

 The external 
challenge/support is 
being developed 

 Some tracking of pupil 
progress takes place, 
target setting is being 
developed 

 External challenge 
and support is being 
discussed at LA and 
consortia level 

There is variation in the quality of 
the IDP and inconsistency in its 
use.  

 (16.07.19) 
Inconsistency of approach by 
CAs.  

Ensuring all schools have 
access to a qualified ALNco? If 
not, when does the department 
intend to do this?  

Putting in place practices and 
processes to ensure all 
ALNcos are kept up-to-date 
with the latest evidence on 
effective support for young 
people with ALN 

 (16.07.19) 

 Nearly All schools have a 
qualified ALNco (QTS) 

 ALNco meetings are held 
regularly to upskill staff 
and an LA/Consortia 
CPD programme is 
available to schools 

 Most schools have  a 
qualified ALNco 

 ALNco meetings are 
held to upskill staff 
and an LA/Consortia 
CPD programme is 
being developed 

 Some schools have a 
qualified ALNco 

 ALNco meetings are 
taking place 

 A CPD programme is 
being discussed 

 Increased status of ALNCo 
needs to be bolstered within 
some schools; consortium 
(16.07.19) 
training programme tbc 
“qualified” ALNCo – what 
does this mean?  
variable attendance at ALNCO 
forum and take up of training 
prog.  

P
age 100



 

 

21 
 

Additional Notes 
 
 
 

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018 
 

F.  Increased Collaboration  
 

The new system will support a strong focus on collaboration.  Encouraging improved collaboration and information sharing between agencies, which 
are essential to ensuring that needs are identified early and the right support is put in place to enable children and young people to achieve positive 
outcomes. Three fundamental new roles are created by the Bill to facilitate increased collaboration – Additional Learning Needs Coordinators in 
education settings; Designated Educational Clinical Lead Officers in health board; and Early Years ALN Lead Officers in local authorities. 

1. What action has the 
department undertaken to 
increase collaborative 
working  

 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 

Collaborative working will include all LAs within the region and the consortia for school improvement as well as the active 
involvement of LHBs and Social Services and other partners such as dispute resolution services, specialist services. 
 
The work may include: 
Developing regional strategies, Implementation plans, IDP design and processes, joint commissioning of services, 
supporting regional specialist services, developing protocols for sharing information 
 
The planning should include working collaboratively with; children and young people; parents, FEIs, specialised 
independent colleges, schools/ALNcos, independent schools, youth offending teams, early year’s providers. 
 

 GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support us? 
What additional resources are 

required? 

Has the department developed 
a plan for increasing 
collaborative working with 
partner organisations 

 Collaborative work is 
planned for and evident 
including work a with a 
wide range of partners 
and 

 (16.07.19) 

 Collaborative work is 
developing, planning 
is in place and a range 
of stakeholders and 

 Collaborative work is 
being planned for and 
partners and 
stakeholders have 
been identified 

 (16.07.19) 
Further engagement from 
Health and Social Services is 
required; good collaboration 
with EYs, MIA ND Forum and 

P
age 101



 

 

22 
 

 

 

collaboration/consultation 
with a wide range of 
stakeholders 

partners are being 
engaged 

CAMHS liaison these models 
need , to be replicated.  

2. Does the department intend 
to put in place systems for 
analysing multi-agency data 
to inform strategic planning 
and disagreement 
avoidance/resolution 

 Data is being shared 
across partners on a 
regular basis to inform 
planning e.g. specialist 
provision planning, 
specialist service/staff 
planning 

 Protocols and 
procedures are 
established 

 (16.07.19) 

 Data is beginning to 
be shared with some 
partners, and is used 
to inform planning is 
developing 

 Protocols and 
procedures are being 
developing 

 Data sharing with 
partners is being 
considered and 
discussed. It is not 
available as yet to 
inform planning 

 Protocols and 
procedures are being 
discussed 

 

Additional Notes 

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018 
 

G.  Avoiding disagreements and early disagreement resolution 

 
The new system will focus on ensuring that where disagreements occur about an IDP or the provision it contains, the matter is considered and 
resolved at the most local level possible. 

 
1. Does the department 

currently monitor the 
number of complaints 
about ALN planning and 
provision?  

 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 

Collected, collated and shared data may include 

 Complaints about planning provision (assessment and review of statutory and non-statutory provision) 

 Complaints about provision (statutory and non-statutory) 

 Complaints to local authorities 

 Complaints to schools  

P
age 102



 

 

23 
 

 GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support us? 
What additional resources are 

required? 

2. What action has the 
department taken to avoid 
and resolve 
disagreements?  

 

 (16.07.19) 

 There are clearly 
established protocols to 
avoid and resolve 
disagreements, including 
supportive trained LA 
staff and/or access to 
external mediation 
.advocacy 

 Practice to avoid and 
resolve disagreements 
are evident. Protocols 
are being developed 
to ensure consistency 
of approach 

 Resolution is 
practised however it is 
rather on an ad hoc 
basis. Protocols are 
being considered to 
ensure a consistent 
approach 

 

Developing practices and 
processes for children, young 
people and parents to raise 
concerns and have questions 
answered 

 There is evidence of a 
supportive and 
consultative culture. 
Pupils and parents are 
engaged through the 
PCP process and fully 
involved. 

 The service adheres to 
the Children’s 
Participation standards 

 (16.07.19) 

 There is evidence of a 
supportive and open 
culture developing. 
Pupils and parents are 
engaged in some 
cases 

 The service is 
developing its 
response to the 
Children’s 
Participation 
standards  

  (16.07.19) 
A more robust process needs 
to be in place to raise 
concerns received from 
parents.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Extending existing 
arrangements to include 
children who do not yet attend 
school 

Extending existing 
arrangements to include young 
people up to the age of 25 who 
attend further education? 

 Early years work is well-
established and robust 
transition procedures are 
in place. Disagreement 
resolution is evident for 
EYs pupils and parents 

 An implementation plan 
has been developed to 
extend existing 
arrangements to 25 

 (16.07.19) 

 Early years work is 
evident and transition 
procedures are in 
place. Disagreement 
resolution is available 
for EYs pupils and 
parents 

 An implementation 
plan is  being 

 Some early year’s 
liaison is in place but 
is not well-
established. 
Disagreement 
resolution is being 
planned to extend 
existing arrangements 
to early years and up 

 

P
age 103



 

 

24 
 

Drafted an implementation 
plan and timetable?   

developed to extend 
existing arrangements 

to 25 for pupils and 
parents/carers 

Developed procurement 
strategies if appropriate?  

Developed service level 
agreements if appropriate? 

Developed/refined/extended in-
house approaches/services to 
avoid/resolve disagreements if 
appropriate? 

 Dispute disagreement 
processes are in place 
and monitored for 
effectiveness 

 (16.07.19) 

 Dispute disagreement 
processes are in place 
and monitored  

 Dispute disagreement 
processes are in place 

Processes for high level data 
reports tbc 

Raised awareness across 
service providers of Welsh 
Government commissioned 
training on the provisions in 
the bill?  

 

 (16.07.19) 

 Provider/s have been 
made aware of training 
available 

 Provider/s have been 
made aware of 
training available 

 Provider/s have been 
made aware of 
training available 

 

 
Additional Notes 
 

P
age 104



 

 

25 
 

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018 
 

H.  A bilingual system  

 Services will be required to consider whether the child or young person needs ALP in Welsh.  If they do, this must be documented in the IDP 
and ‘all reasonable steps’ must be taken to secure the provision in Welsh. 

 A series of strategic duties are also aimed at driving progress towards a truly bilingual ALN system and the Bill includes a mechanism so that 
the duties to provide ALP through the medium of Welsh become absolute over time. 

 Equalities legislation requires “reasonable adjustments” to access documentation in other community languages 

 
1. What action has the 

department taken to 
support children and 
young people though the 
medium of Welsh 
throughout the ALN 
system? 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing? 
 

Capacity assessments, action plans, audit of staff skills in Welsh, access to other ICT based solutions, sharing expertise 
locally/regionally e.g. Welsh ALNco group meetings 
Investment in Welsh medium resources for ALN, adaptation of Welsh language resources, planning for specialist provision 
including early years, Post 16-25 

 GREEN INDICATORS 
(Secure) 

 

YELLOW INDICATORS 
(Developing) 

 

AMBER INDICATORS 
(Emerging) 

What do we need to support us? 
What additional resources are 

required? 

Undertaken an assessment of 
capacity in the LA to carry out 
assessments and reviews, 
and to deliver provision, 
though the medium of Welsh? 

Developed an action plan to 
overcome any gaps in 
capacity? 

 Capacity assessments 
have been undertaken 
and sustainability 
planned for through 
effective planning 

 (16.07.19) 

 Capacity 
assessments have 
been undertaken and 
planning is taking 
place to meet need 
current and future 
need 

 Capacity 
assessments are 
being planned to 
meet requirements of 
Act 

 

Developed criteria for 
establishing whether ALP via 

 Resources, 
assessment, planning 
and provision through 

 (16.07.19) 

 Resources, 
assessment, planning 

 Resources, 
assessment, planning 
and provision through 

A staff member from one of our 
Welsh Medium schools is part of the 

P
age 105



 

 

26 
 

the medium of Welsh is 
required? 

Undertaken an assessment of 
data about demand for, and 
supply of, assessment, 
planning and provision 
through the medium of 
Welsh? 

the medium of Welsh 
has been effectively 
planned for to meet 
current and future 
needs 

and provision through 
the medium of Welsh 
has is being planned 
for to meet current 
and future needs 

the medium of Welsh 
is being considered to 
meet current and 
future needs 

PCP Working group and has 
provided input.  

Additional Notes 
 
 
 

 

 

P
age 106



 

 

 

  

KEY THEMES STATE OF THE REGION SUMMARY                              

CENTRAL SOUTH 

JONES, ELIZABETH 
ALN TRANSFORMATION LEAD 

Elizabeth.a.jones2@rctcbc.gov.uk  

SEPTEMBER 5, 2019 

Page 107



 

1 
 

 

Introduction 

The Welsh Government is committed to transforming the expectations, experiences and outcomes 

for children and young people with additional learning needs and has created an ambitious and 

wide-ranging Additional Learning Needs Transformation Programme. In order to support the 

implementation of this new system the Welsh Government is providing financial assistance through 

the ALN Transformation Grant. This is the third of the four financial years that the grant will be 

available. The money is delegated via a host local authority, Rhondda Cynon Taf, acting on behalf of 

the five local authorities in the region, corresponding to the same footprint as the Central South 

Consortium. 

A number of funding pre-conditions exist for the WG grant as detailed in the Grant Offer Letter (an 
excerpt of which is shown below). This report therefore fulfils the requirement to provide a 
summary document of key issues and practice in the region: 
 
WG Targets: 
 

Description of the target Date by when it should be 
achieved 

Evidence required 

Support local authorities (including social 
services), schools, governing bodies, the FE 
sector, early years settings and Health 
Boards to undertake readiness self-
assessments to identify areas to focus on in 
preparing for transition to the new ALN 
system, and to develop implementation 
plans. 

September 2019 
 
 
 
March 2020 

Key themes summary 
for state of the region 
document.  
 
Final state of the region 
summary document  

 

 
The information in this report is based on the following: 
 

 ALN readiness surveys undertaken by the 5 Local Authorities, 4 Further Education 
Colleges and 2 Health Boards. 

 Monitoring visits conducted in the 5 LAs in July 2019 

 Monitoring visits conducted in the 4 FE colleges in August 2019 

 Monitoring visits conducted in the 2 Health Boards in August 2019 

 Minutes of monthly regional ALN Transformation Board meetings 

 Feedback from school-based ALN Cluster Leads at twice-termly events in each LA 
(attendance rate of 98%) 

 Challenge Adviser school summer term visit EFIs on school-readiness for the ALN Act  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



 

2 
 

 
ALN-Readiness in the South Central Region 
ALN Initial Readiness Survey 
 
The ALN Initial readiness Survey is based on the requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and 
Education Tribunal Act. It is a self-evaluation tool for local authorities, schools, further education 
institutions and health boards to judge current practice and identify improvement priorities. The 
survey focuses on eight key themes namely: 
 

A. Implementing a unified plan for children and young people with additional learning needs 
B. Putting in place policies to support the implementation of a single, unified plan for children 

and young people aged 0-25 
C. Clear and consistent rights of appeal 
D. Increasing participation of children and young people 
E. High aspirations and improved outcomes 
F. Increased collaboration 
G. Avoiding disagreements and early disagreement resolution 
H. A bilingual system 

 
 
A: Implementing a unified plan for children and young people with additional learning needs 
 
What has already been achieved? 

 Programme of awareness–raising events completed with a wide range of professionals.  

 A regional job description for the LA Early Years Lead Officer, a new statutory post 
introduced by the Act, has been created and shared across all LAs.  

 The EY regional multi-agency, multi-disciplinary group is highly effective in developing 
consistency of approach across all LAs in supporting EY settings and professionals. 

 A regional Statementing/Case Officer Group has been working together to identify common 
administrative and operational processes and systems. A plan of action is in place to develop 
regional information to explain the new ALN system and create regional templates and 
standard letters. 

 All LAs and schools are aware of the WG Implementation Guidance for transferring 
statements to Individual Development Plans.    

 Communication plans will be in place by September in each LA providing information to all 
stakeholders on key messages, timescales and training events. All 4 colleges are in the 
process of developing communication plans. One Health Board has a well-developed 
communication plan and effective and efficient ways of sharing key messages with all staff. 

Areas for development: 

 LAs will need to plan with schools a timetable for the year groups that need to be converted 
from statements to IDPs during the academic year 2020-21. Once the timetable is 
established LAs will need to identify the likely capacity issues (personnel/time/cost 
pressures) resulting from running two systems at the same time during the transfer window 
of September 2021 - August 2023.  

 Engagement of Social Care Services needs to be secured. 

 LAs will need to develop explicit multi-agency working arrangements to ensure the 
involvement of key professionals in transferring statements to IDPs. 

 Health Boards will need to create local action plans to manage systems and co-ordinate the 
involvement of health professionals in the transferring of statements to IDPs.  

 

Page 109



 

3 
 

 

 For LAs to manage the system of transferring statements to IDPs, both during the transfer 
window as well as on an on-going basis there will be a need for investment in IT 
infrastructure. The WG is currently consulting on the need to develop a national electronic 
platform and a decision on whether or not to proceed with this is expected in September.    

 
   
B: Putting in place policies to support the implementation of a single, unified plan for children and 
young people aged 0-25 
 
What has already been achieved? 

 Multi-agency post 16 transition protocols are in the process of being developed.  

 All 4 FE colleges have completed an analysis of what is available for learners with ALN at a 
universal level and what additional targeted support is provided. Consequently LAs are now 
in a position to embark on a ‘map and gap’ activity for post 16 learners with ALN. 

 Excellent collaboration between the 4 colleges has enabled the development of a shared 
electronic resource to provide guidance for learners on what post 16 provision is available in 
the region. 

 Information sharing protocols are in the process of being developed between LAs, health 
and FEIs. 

Areas for development: 

 The progress of developing multi-agency post 16 transition protocols have been slower than 
anticipated. Further collaboration is needed between senior strategic leaders in further 
education colleges, health and LAs so that there is a robust and joint understanding of how 
best to meet the needs of young people with ALN. 

 Strategic and operational engagement of Social Care needs to be secured. 

 LAs will need to undertake a scoping exercise to determine extent, nature and cost of 
specialist officer involvement required to support young people with ALN in local FE 
colleges.  

 
 
C: Clear and consistent rights of appeal 
 
What has already been achieved? 

 A range of easy read/accessible regional materials (currently in draft form but will be ready 
early autumn) have been created for children and young people and parents and carers.  

 Regional training resource created and shared with ALN Cluster Leads in readiness for 
dissemination to ALNCos during the autumn term  

 Arrangements in place to co-ordinate the resources ‘going live’ on all school and LA websites 
at the same time. 
 

 
D: Increasing participation of children and young people 
 
What has already been achieved? 

 Previous self-assessments carried out by schools confirmed that ALNCos had benefitted from 
high quality training on PCP but that invariably practice was not up-scaled at a whole-school 
level. Consequently regional training resources have been created and shared with ALN 
Cluster Leads targeting whole-school approaches through focusing on pedagogy for 
individualised learning.  

 

Page 110



 

4 
 

 
Areas for development: 

 There is a need to develop joint systemic mechanisms between LAs and the CSC to assess 
the impact of PCP on the progress of learners with ALN.  

 
 
E: High aspirations and improved outcomes 
 
What has already been achieved? 

 Cluster working has been successfully established across the region with ALN Cluster Leads 
in place across all clusters. Attendance of ALN Cluster Leads at twice-termly events led by 
ALN Transformation Lead is high (98%). Engagement of ALN Cluster Leads is excellent having 
established twice-termly events to cascade information to cluster ALNCos.   

 A programme of professional learning for schools has been developed based on the findings 
from the ALN Act school-readiness self-assessment (97% response rate). 

 Schools, LA officers, challenge advisers and strategic advisers are involved in 8 regional task 
and finish groups and working parties to create resources and guidance that will enable the 
development of school-led, self-improving practices for ALN.  

 To ensure that schools are able to comply with the duties of the Act, the CSC leadership 
programme is being promoted to those current ALNCos in need of professional 
development. 

 All LAs have well-established timetabled opportunities for ALNCos to receive updates at 
ALNCo Forums. ALN Cluster Leads have a standing agenda item at each ALNCo Forum to 
share resources and information.   

Areas for development: 

 Processes for ensuring robustness of individual target setting for pupils with ALN and 
evaluating the impact of differentiation and targeted support on learner progress needs 
further improvement.  

 The quality of school self-evaluation for additional learning needs in relation to the progress 
of learners and the effectiveness of provision and leadership is variable across the region. 
The development of a framework for enabling school to assess the quality of provision and 
leadership for ALN would be of significant value.   

 Challenge advisers and strategic advisers will need further professional development in 
understanding their contribution in challenging and supporting schools to build capacity for 
leadership and provision for ALN.  

 Inclusion officers will need further professional development in their understanding of the 
wider educational reforms and how ALN is an integral part of these as opposed to stand 
alone activity. Inclusion officers need to develop approaches that can support school-led, 
school-to-school self-improving systems for ALN having a specific role in quality assurance 
and signposting to effective practice. 

 
 
F: Increased collaboration 
 
What has already been achieved? 

 There is excellent collaboration between the five LA Inclusion Leads with regional 
approaches adopted in relation to preparing for the Act. There is also engagement at senior 
levels within LAs as all Directors of Education are aware of the work of the ALN 
Transformation Lead and the ALN Transformation Project Board. The ALN Project Board is 
chaired by a designated Director of Education who has a direct reporting responsibility to 
the Education Directors Group.  

Page 111



 

5 
 

 

 Good reciprocal relationships have been created between the ALN Transformation Lead and 
the Central South Consortium. Arrangements are in place to develop the ability of strategic 
and challenge advisers to provide appropriate support and challenge for schools. CSC staff 
are well represented on the ALN regional task and finish groups and working parties to 
improve teaching and learning and leadership for ALN in schools.  

 The representatives from all 4 FE colleges are committed and enthusiastic in engaging with 
the ALN Transformation Programme. All colleges are involved in co-creating the post 16 
transition protocols and information sharing protocols. 

 All colleges have engaged well with the ALN Transformation Lead for FE and have 
successfully undertaken workforce skills analysis and have created consequent action plans. 
At an operational level there is significant and plentiful activity in preparing for the Act. 

 The progress of health boards is variable. One HB (HB1) has taken a well-planned strategic 
approach and following accurate self-assessment has a comprehensive understanding of 
what needs to be done within the health board to comply with the Act. An action plan is in 
place with direct reporting mechanisms to the Executive Board. Recruitment of the DECLO is 
underway with a September interview date. The second HB (HB2) by contrast has a well-
established history of effective operational practice with inclusion services and was an early 
adopter of joint commissioned services to meet the needs of learners with ALN. However, 
strategic and coherent approaches to meet the requirements of the Act are in the early 
stages of development. The appointment of a temporary DECLO is being considered for the 
remainder of this financial year.  
    

Areas for development: 

 LAs ultimately will have responsibility for making sure that the needs of learners with ALN 
who attend FEIs are met appropriately. However, colleges are autonomous institutions and 
as yet there are no strategic and systemic joint plans at a senior level in place to develop a 
shared understanding of what LAs and FEIs would consider appropriate provision for 
learners with ALN. 

 There is a duty in the Act for LAs to keep additional learning provision under review. As part 
of this LAs are expected to make judgements on the quality of differentiated teaching in 
schools, impact of interventions on learning and the effectiveness of systems for monitoring 
the progress and achievement of learners and their inclusion in the everyday life of the 
school. LAs and the CSC will need to develop and plan a systematic approach to achieving 
this. Creating a framework enabling school to assess the quality of provision and leadership 
for ALN would be of significant value. 

 Although the Act makes it clear what are the duties of Local Authorities, in practice this has 
been interpreted as the responsibility of Education Services alone. There is limited 
understanding from Social Care Services on the implication of the Act for developing holistic 
and joint approaches. 

 There is a need for HB1 to agree on research-informed evidence–based practice within each 
of the therapy disciplines. Once this has been developed there will be a need for joint work 
between HB1 and the respective LAs to develop a joint and shared understanding of what 
constitutes universal provision for learners with ALN. HB2 needs to develop a strategic 
approach to preparing for the Act. In the first instance it needs to consider appointing a 
substantive DECLO.  

 Currently there are no strategic and systemic joint undertakings at a senior level in LAs and 
Health Boards to develop a shared understanding of what LAs and HBs would consider 
appropriate provision for learners with ALN 

Page 112



 

6 
 

 There is a need to make explicit how the ALNET Act is related to the work of the Public 
Service Board and Regional Partnership Boards as strategic involvement from key partners is 
limited.  

 
 

G: Avoiding disagreements and early disagreement resolution 
 
What has already been achieved? 

 All LAs have provided training for school-based and college-based staff in avoiding disputes 
and dispute resolution. Three LAs have already trained up 100% of their schools. 
Arrangements are in place in the other LAs to provide ‘mop-up’ training sessions. 

 A supplementary regional training resource has been created to address feedback from 
those that had attended the aforementioned training, requesting a condensed presentation 
for delivery to teachers in all schools. This has been shared with ALN Cluster Leads in 
readiness for dissemination to ALNCos and subsequently all schools during the autumn term.  

 All LAs are engaged in creating regional materials which will ‘go live’ on all council and school 
websites at the same time. 

Areas for development: 

 Extending this approach to pre-school learners and young people enrolled in FEIs needs to 
be developed further. 

 
 
H: A bilingual system 
 
What has already been achieved? 

 A regional training directory has been created so that expertise from LAs large enough to 
develop capacity in Welsh medium ALN interventions/approaches can be access by all 
schools. 

 Initial joint discussions held between CSC, ALN Transformation Lead and Cardiff University to 
develop a standardised, fit-for-purpose Welsh medium reading test. 

Areas for development: 

 There are very few commercially available evidence-based literacy and numeracy 
interventions, making it very difficult for Welsh medium schools to engage in research-
informed practice. Creating Welsh medium resources, assessment materials and evidence-
informed interventions needs further development across the region although it would be 
beneficial for this to be completed at a national level.  

 
 
Conclusion 
 
The analysis above shows that a number of early improvements have already been secured.  The 
improvements to date have been achieved on the basis of effective professional relationships 
between LAs, Health Boards and FEIs coupled with the significant commitment to preparing for the 
ALN Act.  Operational practices are already well underway.  However, these on their own will not 
address the remaining challenges. To meet all of the deliverables prescribed in the ALN 
Transformation Programme will require the continued need to improve strategic and systemic joint 
working practices across all agencies. 
 
  

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Securing Sufficient Nursery Education for the 
County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report sets out an assessment of whether the current provision of nursery 

education for the County Borough is sufficient to meet the needs of the area.  This 
assessment considers both FPN1 places (pre-nursery for rising 3’s) and FPN2 
places (nursery for rising 4’s). 

 
1.2 The report details that the most challenging issues are with regards to FPN1 places 

and concludes that subject to some changes the local authority is currently able to 
secure sufficient provision of English Medium places from 2020/21 onwards. 

 
1.3 Sufficient provision of Welsh Medium nursery education is not secured currently as 

more Welsh Medium places are required and the report sets out plans to address 
this. 

 
1.4 The report also concludes that despite securing sufficient provision of English 

Medium places some parents will still choose to wait to access a place in their 1st 
preference school rather than accept a place in an alternative school and 
recommends a long-term strategic approach to address this. 

 
1.5 As part of the long-term nursery education strategy the report also recommends that 

capacity issues in three schools are addressed so as to enable full-time FPN2 places 
to eventually be provided across all of the County Borough’s schools. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 Members determine that the nursery education offer of English Medium places 

proposed for academic year 20/21 as detailed in 8.2 is sufficient for the County 

Date Written 14th November 2019 

Report Author Anthony Lewis / Helen Griffiths 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Date 25th November 2019 

Page 115

Agenda Item 6



Borough and that the local authority is working towards securing sufficient provision 
of Welsh Medium nursery education places. 

 
2.2 Members approve the Nursery Education Strategy in 7.0, acknowledging the 

strategic aims regarding FPN1 and FPN2 places. 
 
2.3 Members approve the Nursery Education Policy detailed in section 8.0 and agree 

that this will be reviewed annually by local authority officers as part of published 
admission arrangements with a three yearly update on progress against the strategic 
aims being brought back to Council. 

 
2.4 Members approve the funding of April FPN1 places through the scheme of 

delegation and acknowledge that this will be implemented from April 2020 subject to 
consultation with the Schools Forum and schools. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Under section 118 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, and the 

Nursery Education and Early Years Development & Childcare Partnership (Wales) 
Regulations 2005, this Council is under a duty to secure sufficient provision of 
nursery education for the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil for children from the term 
following their third birthday. 

 

3.2 This eligibility framework for nursery education gives rise to three different entry 
points for children during the academic year; January, for those who turn three 
during the Autumn Term, April, for those who turn three during the Spring Term and 
September, for those who turn three during the Summer Term.   

 

3.3 Children who are eligible to start nursery education in either January/April following 
their third birthday, can access one or two terms of ‘pre-nursery’ education before 
progressing to a full academic year of ‘nursery’ education the following September 
onwards.  

 
3.4 Children who are not eligible to start nursery education until September also receive 

a full academic year of nursery education but they do not access any ‘pre-nursery’ 
education prior to this. Therefore, children receive between three and five terms of 
nursery education depending upon when in the year they are born.  

 
3.5 Welsh Government (WG) refer to the ‘pre-nursery’ phase of nursery education as 

FPN1 (Foundation Phase Nursery 1) and the ‘nursery’ phase as FPN2 (Foundation 
Phase Nursery 2). For ease of reference and a consistent use of terms this report 
will adopt the same usage of FPN1 and FPN2. 

 

3.6 The following table illustrates that the amount of nursery education children are 
eligible to access depends upon when during the academic year they turn 3. 

 
 
 
 

Page 116



Table 1: 
 

When does child 
turn three during 
2019-20 academic 

year? 

 

Earliest 
Entry to 
Nursery 

Education 

Number of 
terms of 
nursery 

education 
during 2019/20 
academic year 

 

(FPN1) 

Number of 
terms of 
nursery 

education 
during 2020/21 
academic year 

 

(FPN2) 

Maximum number 
of terms of nursery 

education 

1st Sep 2019 

to 

31st Dec 2019 

January 
2020 

2 3 5 Total 
 
2 FPN1 
3 FPN2 

1st Jan 20120 

to 

31st Mar 2020 

April 2020 1 3 4 Total 

 
1 FPN1 

3 FPN2 

1st Apr 2020 

to 

31st Aug 2020 

September 
2020 

0 3 3 Total 

 
0 FPN1 

3 FPN2 

 

3.7 The table shows that all children are eligible for three terms FPN2 from the 
September following their third birthday. However, those children whose third 
birthday falls between 1st September and 31st March are also eligible to access 
either one or two terms FPN1 in either the January or April prior to this. 

 

3.8 This apparent inequity in the number of terms of nursery education a child is able to 
receive prior to starting Primary school is a consequence of the legislative and 
regulatory framework and is beyond the scope of the Council’s duty, which remains 
to secure sufficient provision of nursery education, both FPN1 and FPN2, from the 
term following a child’s third birthday until they enter full-time primary school ie. until 
they enter Reception class. 

 

4.0 NURSERY EDUCATION PROVISION 2014/15 ONWARDS 
 
4.1 In 2014-15 (academic year) more than 200 three year olds eligible for a nursery 

education place were unable to access a place in the term following their third 
birthday. These delays occurred in January and April 2015 and entry into nursery 
education was delayed by either one or two terms until September 2015. At that time 
the local authority did not exercise control over the nursery admissions process and 
parents applied directly to schools. 
 

4.2 Most schools only operated one admission into nursery education each September 
and those schools that did admit pupils in January only did so up to the 1979 figure 
which limited the number of three year olds that the LA would fund based on the 
census of three year olds from 1979. Very few schools operated any intake in April. 

 
 
 
 

Page 117



4.3 In March 2015, as part of a strategic drive to deliver services at the statutory level, 
Council decided to implement part-time only nursery education across the County 
Borough for all rising 3’s and rising 4’s. The main service benefits to this change 
were expected to be;  
o consistent offer of nursery education to all children rising three and rising four;  
o removing delays to access in January and April so that all pupils can enter at the 

earliest opportunity; and  
o securing immediate transition for Flying Start pupils to maximise the benefit of 

pre-school and nursery education for those from the most disadvantaged 
communities in the County Borough. 

 

4.4 This change, which was to be implemented from September 2015, was challenged 
legally in March/April 2015. 
 

4.5 Following receipt of legal counsel’s advice that Council: 
o had proceeded on the basis that it was incorrectly advised part-time nursery 

education is the statutory requirement for all eligible three and four year olds; 
and  

o had not in fact made a formal determination that part-time nursery education was 
in fact sufficient for the County Borough. 

the Council reversed its decision to implement part-time only nursery education. 
 
4.6 Legal counsel further advised that since the Council’s statutory duty is to secure 

sufficient provision of nursery education rather than simply provide part-time places, 
the authority must first determine what sufficient provision is for its own area before 
considering an appropriate change to current provision. 
 

4.7 Prior to making this determination and potentially changing the current provision of 
nursery education across the County Borough, legal counsel advised that the 
Council must understand the potential impact of any nursery education proposals on 
the following; 

 
a. Its duty to secure that the provision of nursery education is sufficient for its area 

(see Section 118(1) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998). 
b. Its duties in relation to Childcare Sufficiency (see Section 22(1) of the Childcare 

Act 2006). 
c. Its duties in relation to Child Poverty (see the Children and Families (Wales) 

Measure 2010). 
d. Its duties in relation to Children in Need (see Sections 17 and 18 of the Children 

Act 1989). 
e. Other (relevant) statutory duties. 

 

Further, the consideration of whether a proposal would meet the Council’s statutory 
duty in relation to sufficient nursery education must take into account not only the 
number/proportion of children who receive nursery education and the duration of the 
nursery education that they receive, but also the particular circumstances and needs 
of children and families in the local authority area. 

 
 

Page 118



4.8 In the local authority’s school admissions policy published on 1st October 2015, all 
parents/families seeking access to a nursery education place were advised that the 
provision of nursery education was subject to review and may change in due course 
and this has remained in subsequent admission documents. 
 

4.9 Since this time the local authority has resumed use of its statutory powers as the 
Admissions Authority to allocate nursery education places in schools to pupils the 
term following their third birthday and has removed the 1979 figure from nursery 
admissions and consequently all schools now have a January and April intake for 
eligible three year olds subject to available space, although April admissions remain 
unfunded for the Summer Term.  
 

4.10 These improved access arrangements have resulted in a significant increase in the 
access to nursery education with 91% of children accessing the term after their third 
birthday during 2017-18. The 97 children who were unable to access nursery 
education in their first preference school during January/April 2018 compares to over 
200 children in the same situation during 2014-15.  
 

4.11 Also, some of these 97 children may have taken up one of the additional 26 places 
utilised in the three Registered Education Provider’s (REPs) over this period and so 
the actual number delayed access to nursery education during 2017-18 is likely to be 
less than 97 or 9%.  The comparable figure in 2018/19 is 90 or 7% of pupils with 
potentially delayed access, up to 24 of these may have taken up a place in a REP. 
 

4.12 The overall reduced take up of nursery education places in non-maintained REPs 
over the past six years also reflects the improved access to nursery education in 
maintained schools.  

 
Academic 

Year 
No: Places 

Sep 

No: Places 

Jan 

No: Places 

Apr 

2013-14 3 33 57 

2014-15 4 31 49 

2015-16 2 17 33 

2016-17 1 4 23 

2017-18 5 11 31 

2018-19 1 10 25 

 

4.13 Data is not currently captured to be able to state how many children accessed a 
place in a non-maintained REP as a result of delayed access to a nursery education 
place in school. Some parents may choose a part-time place in a REP rather than in 
a school due to the potential for wrap-around childcare to top up a part-time offer to 
full-time. 
 

4.14 Consistent with the current School Admissions Policy and local custom and practice, 
schools continue to decide whether the places allocated by the local authority are 
part-time or full-time, subject to class configuration, overall demand for places and 

Page 119



funding implications. The local authority has therefore worked closely with schools to 
encourage January admissions to be part-time in order to maximise available space 
for April admissions and this has been an effective approach in helping to optimise 
the available supply of nursery education places within the current policy framework.  

 

4.15 However, there remains a mixed economy for the offer of full or part-time places for 
rising 3’s and rising 4’s accessing nursery education, although this is far more 
consistent than was the case in 2014/15. Currently:  
o 15 schools offer part-time FPN1 in January and April, and then full-time FPN2 in 

September; 
o 3 schools offer part-time FPN1 in January and April, and then continue to offer 

part-time FPN2 in September; and 
o 4 schools offer full-time FPN1 if they start in January, part-time FPN1 if they start 

in April, and then offer full-time FPN2 from September. 
 
As a result of this:   
o 80% of FPN2 places are full-time in September, 20% are part-time; 
o 84% of FPN1 places are part-time in January, 16% are full-time; and 
o 100% of FPN1 places in April are part-time. 

 
4.16 Schools that provide full-time FPN1 places in January limit the available space for 

FPN1 places in April and in some cases, access for the April intake is prevented as 
the school is then too full. One of the main reasons this takes place is because 
children accessing FPN1 places in April are not funded until the following September 
when they access FPN2 but the January FPN1 intake are funded immediately.   

 
4.17 Part-time places in schools are on average 2.5 hours of education per day, 12.5 

hours per week, whilst full-time places are on average 5 hours of education per day, 
25 hours per week. REPs offer part-time places only which are 2.5 hours per day, up 
to 5 days per week.  

   
4.18 In order to address the requirement to secure a sufficient provision of nursery 

education and to ensure nursery education provision is equitable across the County 
Borough the Local Authority commissioned Pleydell Smithyman Ltd to undertake a 
research assessment of nursery sufficiency for the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil. 
 
 

Page 120



 

5.0 SECURING SUFFICIENT NURSERY EDUCATION PROVISION – 
RESEARCH REPORT 

 
5.1 The purpose of the assessment undertaken by Pleydell Smithyman Ltd is to support 

the local authority to make an informed decision regarding securing sufficient nursery 
education provision for Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

5.2 The methodology for the research undertaken by Pleydell Smithyman Ltd included 
the following: 
 
o desktop review of research, policy and strategy in relation to the impact of Early 

Childhood Education and Care (ECEC); 
o parental/carer engagement via questionnaires and focus groups; and 
o scenario impact analysis - an evaluation of the impact of each of the following 

three scenarios in respect of the local authority’s duties listed under 4.6 ie. 
nursery sufficiency, childcare sufficiency, child poverty and children in need. 
 

5.2.1  Scenario A – status quo. 
5.2.2 Scenario B – part-time only for rising three’s each January/April and 

rising four’s each September. 
5.2.3 Scenario C – part-time only for rising three’s each January/April and 

full-time for rising four’s each September. 
 
5.3 The research project was undertaken during the Autumn and Spring Terms 2018/19 

and the final detailed report ‘Securing Sufficient Nursery Education for the County 
Borough of Merthyr Tydfil’ is included at Appendix 1. This will be referred to as the 
‘research report’ throughout the remainder of this report. 
 

5.4 The desktop review of research relating to the impact of ECEC is included in 
Appendix A of the research report.  
 

5.5 Parental engagement took place in the form of two questionnaires included as 
Appendices B & C of the research report; one questionnaire for the 2018/19 nursery 
education cohort of parents and one for the prospective 2019/20 nursery education 
cohort.  A focus group from a sample of parents who completed the questionnaire 
was also held to provide opportunity to discuss parents’ views in more detail. 
 

5.6 Both questionnaires received very good response rates circa 30% with 231 families 
responding to the nursery education questionnaire and 220 families responding to 
the pre-school questionnaire. These response rates were helpful in enabling 
meaningful extrapolation of questionnaire results to the whole population of eligible 
three and four year olds. 

 
5.7 This analysis of the parental engagement is detailed in Section 4 of the research 

report and a key infographic of results has been provided as Appendices D & E. 
 
 
 
 

Page 121



Some key findings from the parental engagement are as follows: 
 

o Between 95% and 99% of eligible children are in nursery education; 
o 94% of parents want their children to start nursery the term following their third 

birthday, the 6% who don’t either think their child is not ready for nursery 
education or that they are not ready to send them; 

o 96% of parents want a full-time offer, whether nursery education or a 
combination of nursery education/childcare.  4% do not want a full-time offer for 
their children; 

o 80% of parents want a full-time nursery education place as a first preference, 8% 
want part-time nursery and part-time childcare, 8% have no preference how the 
full-time offer is made up as long as it is full-time; and 

o The top five reasons why parents choose a nursery education setting are; 
 ‘I want my child to attend Reception in the same school’  
 ‘The location/convenience of the school/setting’   
 ‘It is my local catchment school’ 
 ‘My child has friends/siblings who attend’ 
 ‘The quality of the school/setting’. 

 

These reasons were given by between 52%- 56% of respondents.  The next most 
popular reason was ‘Full-time nursery education is available’ with 44% of responses. 

 

5.8 Parental choice has a significant impact on where and when children enter nursery 
education as well as parents’ preparedness to accept alternative places to their first 
preference. For many parents choosing a nursery education place is about choosing 
a school place for the duration of their child’s primary education. Other important 
factors are; the location/convenience of the school/setting, having siblings/friends 
who also attend and the quality of the school setting.  

 
5.9 Between 5% and 6% of parents do not want their child to access an FPN1 place at 

all because they feel that either they or their child is not ready and these parents are 
prepared to wait 1 or 2 terms to the following September when their child accesses 
FPN2.  

 

5.10 It is also important to note that when it comes to being able to access their preferred 
setting most parents are prepared to wait even if this means their child is delayed by 
up to 1 or 2 terms. In 2017/18 only 8.5% of parents with delayed access to their first 
preference accepted an alternative FPN1 place in a school despite there being 
accessible alternatives within a reasonable distance. 

 

5.11 There is a perception that accessing a nursery education place (either FPN1 or 
FPN2) secures a Reception place at the same school and there isn’t currently a 
culture where parents are prepared to access an alternative school for FPN1 prior to 
accessing their preferred school setting for either FPN2 or Reception.  

 

5.12 Each of these three phases of Education (FPN1, FPN2 and Reception) has a 
separate Admissions process and children are able to access alternative FPN1 and 
FPN2 places prior to applying for a Reception place in school. More needs to be 
done to encourage parents unable to access their first preference place for FPN1 to 
access an alternative place without detriment to their first preference place for FPN2.  

Page 122



 
 
5.13 It should be noted that some of those not accessing an alternative FPN1 place in 

school may not be missing out on FPN1 provision altogether as there are parents 
who place their child in a REP for 1 or 2 terms of FPN1 until their child is able to 
access an FPN2 place in their preferred school from September.  
 

5.14 Parents choose a REP for various reasons including access to wrap around 
provision, lower child/adult ratios, a transitional placement for those not quite ‘school 
ready’, continuity in childcare provision before accessing school, as well as their first 
preference place in school not being available.    
 

5.15 Throughout the analysis detailed in the report parental choice is shown to have a 
significant impact on the take up of FPN1 places where 1st preferences are not 
available and provides a challenge to the local authority and other stakeholders to 
encourage parents to accept alternatives to their 1st preferences that are reasonably 
accessible to ensure their children access nursery education at the earliest 
opportunity.  

 

5.16 Section 6.0 of the research report ‘Scenario Impact Analysis’ considers a detailed 
analysis of each scenario, a consideration of strengths, weakness, opportunities and 
threats, as well as an overall conclusion for each.  

 

5.17 The scenario impact analysis from section 6 has been synthesized within Section 5.0 
‘Summary of Key Findings’. This section evaluates whether the local authority is able 
to fulfil its duties with respect to sufficient nursery education and the impact this may 
have on continuing to meet the other duties.   

 
5.18 Scenario Impact Analysis – Summary of Key Findings 

 

5.19 The following table provides a high level comparison of each scenario against the 
duty to secure sufficient provision of nursery education and the corresponding impact 
each scenario has on the other duties; childcare sufficiency, child poverty and 
children in need. 

 

SCENARIO Status Quo 
 
 
 

A 

Part-Time 
only 

 
 

B 

Part-Time 
FPN1 & Full-
Time FPN2 

 
C 

Conclusion 

Sufficient 
Nursery 
Education - 
Places 

EM – Yes subject 
to parental choice  
 
Current supply 
provides for 
expected growth 
from LDP. 
 
WM – No. 
Insufficient supply 
of places in both 
WM schools and 

EM – Yes subject 
to parental 
choice.  
 
Significantly 
increased supply 
of places overall 
compared to 
status quo. Long 
term future 
proofing built in. 
 

EM – No. 
Insufficient supply 
of places due to 
nursery capacity 
issues in 
Cyfarthfa Park & 
Twynyrodyn 
Primary Schools. 
 
Risks to future 
pupil numbers in 
both schools as 

English Medium 
A & B both provide 
sufficient provision 
of nursery 
education places 
subject to parental 
choice. Both cover 
LDP growth. 
 
C does not provide 
a sufficient supply 
of places and CPP 

Page 123



across County 
Borough as a 
whole. 

WM – No. 
Insufficient supply 
of places remains 
in one school 
already P/T only 
and across 
County Borough 
as a whole. 

nursery capacity 
below their Pupil 
Admission 
Number.  Both 
schools require 
FPN2 places to 
potentially be 
part-time based 
on overall 
capacity in 
school. 
 
WM – No. Current 
insufficient supply 
of places 
exacerbated. 
 
Risks to future 
pupil numbers in 
Ysgol Santes 
Tudful as nursery 
capacity below 
Pupil Admission 
Number. Risk to 
overall numbers 
accessing WM 
education. 

and Twyn both 
require FPN2 
places to be 
managed either 
part-time or full-
time based on 
overall capacity in 
school. 

 
Welsh Medium 

 
No scenario 
provides a 
sufficient supply of 
WM places. More 
places in schools 
and potentially 
REPs required.  

Sufficient 
Nursery 
Education – 
Quality/Impact 
 
 

Good quality 
nursery education 
provision is 
available across 
the County 
Borough in 
schools and 
REPs. 
 
 
Delayed access 
to nursery 
education by one 
or two terms can 
impact school 
readiness and 
educational 
attainment. 
 

An additional 55 
children would 
have been 
allocated an 
FPN1 place i.e. 
the number with 
delayed access 
would reduce 
from 97 to 42. 
 
Research advises 
that more hours 
in formal group 
ECEC is 
associated with 
higher levels of 
pro-social 
behaviour, self-
regulation and 
lower level of 
peer problems.  
Therefore P/T 
only would affect 
469 children but 
may have a 
comparative 
detrimental 
impact on the 188 
not eligible to 
access top up 
childcare via the 
30 hours 
childcare offer, 

161 children 

would have 

delayed access 

compared to 97 

currently. 

 

Up to 33 pupils 
(17 EM, 16 WM)   
unable to access 
first preference 
schools for FPN2 
are at risk of 
missing out on 
any nursery 
place, subject to 
parents choosing 
an alternative 
school or 
choosing EM 
instead of WM.  

The benefits to the 
55 children no 
longer delayed (B) 
by one or two 
terms need to be 
weighed against 
the loss to 188 
disadvantaged 
children no longer 
able to access full-
time ECEC for an 
academic year in 
comparison to 
their peers (A) 
 
C has a 
significantly 
negative impact 
compared to the 
status quo (A) and 
Scenario B due to 
capacity 
constraints in 
CPP, Twynyrodyn 
and Ysgol Santes 
Tudful. 

Page 124



potentially further 
increasing the 
gap to their peers 
when they start 
primary school in 
Reception class. 

Impact on 
Childcare 
Sufficiency 
 

The childcare 
sector is able to 
meet the demand 
for children 
accessing nursery 
education, 
including demand 
for the 30hr 
childcare offer. 
 
There is currently 
a shortfall in wrap 
around places 
available. Current 
plans are in place 
to help address 
this. 
 

There is a 
shortfall in Welsh 
Medium childcare 
identified by the 

CSA 2017. 

The additional 
demand for 
childcare is 
expected to be 
met by the 
childcare places 
developed to 
support the 
implementation of 
the 30hr childcare 
offer.  
 
However, the 
demand for wrap 
around places 
would increase 
exacerbating the 
current shortfall. 
 

The additional 
demand for WM 
childcare places 
would 
exacerbate the 
current shortfall.  

The childcare 
sector can meet 
the likely demand 
which is expected 
to be less overall 
that in the status 
quo. More 
parents accessing 
full-time places 
(FPN2) and more 
accessing no 
places (FPN1) 
both result in 
overall reduction 
in demand for 
childcare. 
 
Reduced demand 
for wrap around 
places. 
 
Reduced demand 
for WM childcare 
places. 

The childcare 
sector is expected 
to be able to 
provide sufficient 
supply of places to 
meet overall 
demand under all 
three scenarios. 
 
However, there is 
currently a shortfall 
of both WM and 
wrap around 
places which 
would be 
exacerbated under 
Scenario B.  
 
The Childcare 
Offer and WM 
Capital Grant 
programmes begin 
to address the 
issues within 
Scenario A.  

Impact on 
Child Poverty 

The current 
nursery education 
provision 
supports parents 
to access work 
and potentially 
has a positive 
impact on 
childhood 
poverty. 

 
Families from 
deprived areas 
are less likely to 
be affected by 
delays to access 
an FPN1 place 
than those who 
are not, and more 
likely to live near 
to a local school 
offering F/T 
provision in 
September.  

There are 188 
families with full-
time access not 
eligible for the 30 
hours childcare 
offer. A move to 
part-time only 
risks reducing 
employment 
levels and may 
result in more 
families falling 
into poverty. 
These children 
may be 
disadvantaged 
compared to their 
peer group who 
access 30 hours 
ECEC through 
the childcare 
offer.  
 
 
Parental 
engagement 
suggests 50% 
may work less 
with up to half of 

An overall net 
positive impact of 
58 families 
improving their 
employability 
opportunities. 
 
(some families 
access full-time 
instead of part-
time with others 
experiencing 
delays to access 
by 1 to 2 terms)  
 
Families in 
deprivation are 
more likely to 
experience delays 
than currently but 
would not be 
disproportionately 
affected 
compared to 
those not living in 
deprivation. 
These same 
families delayed 
would benefit 

B provides a 
significantly more 
challenging 
position than A 
due to the 
potential negative 
impact on 
employment levels 
(206 families may 
work less) and 
also the number of 
children living in 
deprivation (188) 
who would be 
further 
disadvantaged 
compared to their 
peers due to a lack 
of access to 30 
hours of ECEC.  
 
C provides a 
mixed picture as 
overall supports 
more employment 
than A but also a 
more challenging 
position re delays 
to access for 

Page 125



these considering 
giving up work 
altogether. 
P/T nursery 
children are not 
eligible for school 
transport or free 
school meals. 
This may result in 
barriers to access 
(transport) and 
disadvantage (no 
FSM) for children 
already living in 
deprivation.  

from full-time 
FPN2 instead of 
part-time, so there 
would be delayed 
benefits to the 
family in terms of 
employment 
opportunities.   

families in 
deprivation.  

Impact on 
Children in 
Need 

100% of Children 
in Need (CiN) 
eligible for a 
nursery education 
place during 
2017-18 were 
allocated a place 
the term after 
their third 
birthday. Some 
accessed an 
alternative to their 
first preference. 

100% of CiN 
eligible for a 
nursery education 
place would have 
been allocated a 
place the term 
after their third 
birthday. 
 
No additional risk 
identified from 
CiN accessing 
P/T places rather 
than F/T. 
 
Potential 
unquantified risk 
that a part-time 
place of between 
3 – 5 terms 
increases barriers 
to access a place 
for CiN due to 
increased 
parental 
commitment 
required to 
maintain the 
place. 

There would be a 
very slightly 
different profile 
than currently in 
terms of part-time 
or full-time places 
accessed by CiN 
but no change to 
the accessibility of 
places to 100% of 
CiN as per the 
status quo 
arrangements. 

Each Scenario 
would provide 
sufficient places 
without delay to 
CiN based on the 
17/18 data set.  
 
Clearly profile will 
vary year on year.  
 
B provides the 
least risk to 
delayed access 
and C the most but 
all can be 
managed within 
available places 
due to the small 
cohort.  
 
Under scenario B 
consideration 
would need to be 
given to managing 
additional risks 
around barriers to 
accessing places 
offered. 

 

5.20 This analysis shows that there is no single scenario which provides an optimal 
position against each of the duties, however it is also fundamentally clear that due to 
a lack of overall capacity, in three schools in particular, implementing Scenario C 
(part-time FPN1 and full-time FPN2) across all schools in the County Borough is not 
currently viable and would increase the current access issues significantly compared 
to the status quo. 

 
5.21 However, in terms of employment and child poverty, Scenario C has the potential to 

have the highest positive impact over the long-term if the access delays caused by 
capacity issues in those schools could be resolved.  
 

Page 126



5.22 The Council’s statutory duty with respect to nursery education is to secure a 
sufficient provision for the County Borough and both Scenario A – status quo 
arrangements and Scenario B (part-time only) have the potential to provide sufficient 
English Medium nursey education places. However, neither scenario provides 
sufficient WM nursery education places and it is clear that additional WM places are 
required. 

 
5.23 No firm recommendation regarding which scenario to take forward as part of a 

solution to address sufficient nursery education places, both English and Welsh 
Medium, has been provided by the research report, as the brief was to provide the 
evidence base to support decision making by Council.  
 

5.24 The following section therefore presents a considered evaluation of the evidence and 
recommends an approach to delivering sufficient nursery education provision. 
 

5.25 Sufficient Nursery Education (English Medium Places) – Scenario A or B? 
 

Drawing from the analysis detailed in the table shown in 5.11 and the research report 
key considerations appear to be as follows: 
 

Nursery Education Places/Quality & Impact 
 

a. Both scenarios provide sufficient places overall, subject to parental choice, and 
sufficient places to cover LDP growth to 2031, but there would be less capacity 
issues in individual schools under scenario B and a significant increase on overall 
available places for long-term future proofing, although most of these would 
remain surplus. However, Scenario B does not resolve the capacity issues in 
Cyfarthfa Park Primary which is already part-time only.  

 
b. The benefits to the 55 children no longer delayed (under Scenario B) by one or 

two terms need to be weighed against the loss to 188 disadvantaged children no 
longer able to access full-time ECEC for an academic year in comparison to their 
peers (A) who are eligible through the 30 hr childcare offer. 

 

Childcare Sufficiency 
 

c. The current shortfall in wrap around and childcare places would be exacerbated 
under Scenario B. The Childcare Offer Capital Grant programme begins to 
address the shortfall with the current arrangements and further work would be 
required to address the additional demand for wrap around places if all nursery 
education was part-time only. 

 
Child Poverty 

 
d. Scenario B provides a significantly more challenging position than A due to the 

potential negative impact on employment levels (206 families may work less) and 
also the number of children living in deprivation (188) who would be further 
disadvantaged compared to their peers due to a lack of access to 30 hours of 
ECEC. 
 

Page 127



e. Part-time only provision may result in increased barriers to access (no school 
transport) and further disadvantage (no FSM) for children already living in 
deprivation. 

 

Children in Need (CiN) 
 

f. Scenario B provides the least risk to delayed access as there are more places 
across most schools, however no issues are present in the current arrangements 
under Scenario A. However, under scenario B consideration would need to be 
given to managing additional risks around barriers to accessing places (see e.) 
that have been offered to children who are disadvantaged and at the edge of 
care. 

 

5.26 Conclusion 
 

On balance, given the demographic of the County Borough, and the potential 
negative impact on employment levels and on children already disadvantaged, a 
change of nursery education provision to Scenario B i.e. part-time only is potentially 
detrimental to the children and families of the County Borough, particularly those 
from disadvantaged backgrounds and currently living in deprivation. It should also be 
recognised that under Scenario B critical demand hot spots would remain unresolved 
and additional wrap around childcare places, over and above those planned, would 
be required to satisfy those eligible for the childcare offer, just to limit the negative 
impacts to those who would remain ineligible.    

 
The main weaknesses identified in Scenario A, the status quo arrangements, can be 
addressed through the opportunities that have been identified in the research report 
such as; educating parents to accept alternative education places rather than wait 
for a delayed place; the local authority using its statutory powers and planning of 
school places strategies to determine the provision of full and part-time places; and 
the local authority delivering on its plans to provide additional wrap around childcare.  

 

6.0 SECURING SUFFICIENT NURSERY EDUCATION PROVISION – 
IMPROVING THE STATUS QUO ARRANGEMENTS 

 

This section considers the status quo arrangements in more detail so as to identity 
the improvements necessary to be able to effectively secure a sufficient provision of 
nursery education. 
 
The following table details key strengths and weaknesses of the current provision of 
nursery education. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



 
Table 2:  Scenario A (status quo) – Strengths & Weaknesses 

 

Strengths 
 
Sufficient Nursery Education Places/Quality 
 
1. Good quality nursery education provision is 

available across the County Borough in 
schools and REPs. 

 
2. Approximately 99% of children eligible for 

FPN2 each September access a place and 
100% of applications are placed successfully. 
This totalled 629 children in September 2018 
and 705 children in September 2019. 

 
3. 96% of parents access their first preference 

place each September, the other 4% had 
selected an alternative place the previous 
January/April. 

 
4. There are enough FPN1 places within each 

cluster of schools in January/April to meet the 
demand for English Medium (EM) places 
subject to parents choosing to accept an 
alternative place to their first preference. 

 
5. There is also some additional capacity within 

the EM REPs for demand in January/April. 
 
6. The current available supply of places is 

enough to cover the potential additional 
demand arising from the growth in pupil 
numbers expected as a consequence of the 
updated LDP 2016-2031. 
 

Sufficiency of Childcare 
  
7. The additional demand for childcare places 

expected following the implementation of the 
30 hr childcare offer is sufficiently provided 
for within the current supply of childcare 
places (with the exception of wrap around 
places). 
 

Child Poverty 
 

8. Children from deprived areas are almost 
twice less likely to be affected by delays to 
access a FPN1 place than those who are not. 
(24% of those delayed are from Flying Start 
areas compared to 46% of the cohort who 
are from FS areas)  
 

9. Children from deprived areas are also more 
likely to accept an alternative place to their 
first preference than those who are not. 

 

Weaknesses 
 

Sufficient Nursery Education Places/Quality 
 
1. 21.5% of EM applications for FPN1 in 

January/April are not placed in school with 
parents choosing to wait for their 1st 
preference rather than accept an alternative 
place in school (18/19 19.3%). 

 
2. 37.5% of WM applications for FPN1 in 

January/April are not placed (18/19 55.4%) 
with parents having no alternative place in 
school. There are no places available across 
either WM school at all in April. 

 
3. Not all families consider the location of the 

REP a viable alternative to their first 
preference school. Despite the shortage of 
WM places in schools places remain 
unoccupied in the WM Rep. 

  
4. 5% of parents responding to the 

questionnaire stated they either weren’t 
aware they could apply for a FPN1 place in 
January / April or were confused as to when 
and how applications could be made. Some 
parents in the focus group also stated they 
were unaware of the three REPs providing 
equivalent quality nursery education to 
schools. 
 

5. Research shows delayed access to nursery 
education by one or two terms can impact 
school readiness and educational attainment. 

 
6. 11% of parents who have children with ALN 

were delayed access to their 1st preference 
schools in April due to capacity issues.  

 
7. The decision to provide part or full time 

nursery education is at the discretion of each 
individual school and some parents are not 
informed in a timely manner. 

 
8. The current mixed economy across both 

FPN1 and FPN2 is considered inequitable by 
some parents; particularly as some 3 year 
olds can access f/t in January whilst others 
cannot even access p/t in April. 

 
9. One cause of schools accepting f/t places in 

January instead of p/t places in April is that 
the April intake are not currently funded until 
September.  

 

Page 129



10. 14 of the 18 FS children with delayed access 
to a FPN1 place in school had accessible 
alternatives within walking distances, 
sometimes in the catchment school. 

 
11. With 100% intake of FPN2 each September 

(80% full-time) and 76% intake of FPN1 each 
Jan/Apr (88% part-time) the current nursery 
education provision supports parents/carers 
to access work and has the potential to have 
a positive impact on childhood poverty. 

 
Children in Need 
 
12. 100% of Children in Need (CiN) eligible for a 

nursery education place during 2017-18 were 
allocated a place the term after their third 
birthday. 

Sufficiency of Childcare 
 
10. There are currently insufficient wrap around 

childcare places to support all parents 
planning to access the 30 hrs childcare offer 
to top up their nursery education provision. 

 
Child Poverty 
 
11. 4 of the 18 FS children with delayed access 

to a FPN1 place in school did not have 
accessible alternatives within walking 
distances. Each of these applied in April and 
would have had access if their 1st preference 
school only offered part-time FPN1 in 
January.  

 
12. The detrimental impact of delayed access to 

nursery education on school readiness and 
educational attainment/well-being can be 
more significant for those from 
disadvantaged backgrounds. 

 

 
Sufficient Nursery Education Provision - English Medium Places 

 
6.1 During 2017/18 the number with delayed entry to English Medium nursery education 

places in a school was 73 and this reduced to 54 in 2018/19. However, in April 2018 
there were 20 children accessing an English Medium nursery education place in a 
REP (April 2019, 14) but it’s not clear how many of these had been refused entry to 
their first preference place in school and how many were choosing REPs as their first 
preference as this data is not currently recorded.  

 
6.2 Therefore, the actual number with delayed entry to English Medium nursery 

education places was between 53 and 73 in 2017/18 and this reduced to between 40 
and 54 in 2018/19. As a % of the English Medium cohort seeking FPN1 places this is 
between 17% and 21% in 17/18, reducing to between 14% and 19% in 18/19. 

 

6.3 The following table shows how many surplus places remained in schools, or what 
the shortfall was, in 2017/18 and 2018/19. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



Table 3: Surplus Capacity / (Shortfall) in 2017/18 and 2018/19 

 

School Surplus Capacity/ 

(Shortfall) 

Based on 2017/18 

applications 

(Headcount) 

Surplus Capacity/ 

(Shortfall) 

Based on 2018/19 

applications 

(Headcount) 

ABERCANAID PRIMARY SCHOOL 0 8 

BEDLINOG PRIMARY SCHOOL 13 18 

CAEDRAW PRIMARY SCHOOL 39 13 

CYFARTHFA PARK PRIMARY SCHOOL - 17 - 10 

DOWLAIS PRIMARY SCHOOL 10 15 

EDWARDSVILLE PRIMARY SCHOOL 28 9 

GELLIFAELOG PRIMARY SCHOOL - 13 6 

GOETRE PRIMARY NURSERY SCHOOL 23 14 

GWAUNFARREN PRIMARY SCHOOL 14 0 

HEOLGERRIG PRIMARY SCHOOL - 4 - 10 

PANTYSCALLOG PRIMARY SCHOOL 0 0 

TRELEWIS PRIMARY SCHOOL 18 - 6 

TROEDYRHIW PRIMARY SCHOOL 16 24 

TWYNYRODYN PRIMARY SCHOOL - 25 11 

YNYSOWEN PRIMARY SCHOOL -4 - 9 

YSGOL COED-Y-DDERWEN 8 16 

YSGOL Y GRAIG 0 0 

English Medium Surplus  106 99 

 
6.4 As the table shows despite there being between 53 and 73 children with delayed 

access in 2017/18 and between 40 and 54 with delayed access in 2018/19 there 
remained more than enough places unallocated in schools to cover these places 
with surplus over. There also remained approximately 15 to 21 education places 
unallocated in REPs over this period in comparison to higher numbers that accessed 
in previous years.  

 
6.5 As noted previously location is an important factor for parents when selecting a 

nursery place and so Table y below analyses the available places across each 
cluster of schools’ catchment area, as this provides a reasonableness test for 
accessibility of alternative places. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 131



Table 4: Geographical Distribution of Demand (English Medium)  
 

 
School 

Surplus Capacity/ (Shortfall) by Secondary school 

catchments 

 

Based on 2018/19 applications (Headcount) 

 

Afon Taf Pen Y Dre Cyfarthfa 

ABERCANAID PRIMARY SCHOOL 8   

BEDLINOG PRIMARY SCHOOL 18   

CAEDRAW PRIMARY SCHOOL   13 

CYFARTHFA PARK PRIMARY SCHOOL   -10 

DOWLAIS PRIMARY SCHOOL  15  

EDWARDSVILLE PRIMARY SCHOOL 9   

GELLIFAELOG PRIMARY SCHOOL  6  

GOETRE PRIMARY NURSERY SCHOOL  14  

GWAUNFARREN PRIMARY SCHOOL  0  

HEOLGERRIG PRIMARY SCHOOL   -10 

PANTYSCALLOG PRIMARY SCHOOL  0  

TRELEWIS PRIMARY SCHOOL -6   

TROEDYRHIW PRIMARY SCHOOL 24   

TWYNYRODYN PRIMARY SCHOOL   11 

YNYSOWEN PRIMARY SCHOOL -9   

YSGOL COED-Y-DDERWEN   16 

YSGOL Y GRAIG  0  

TOTAL Surplus / (Shortfall) 44 35 20 

2017/18 Surplus / (Shortfall) 71 16 24 

 

6.6 As can be seen from the Table enough places were provided within the cluster 
catchment of schools to meet the demands of parents for places within the area. 
These places are reasonably accessible for those parents unable to access their first 
preference FPN1 place in a school but as evidenced by the parental engagement 
parents would usually rather wait for their 1st preference school so that they can 
choose a place for the duration of their child’s education rather than just for FPN1 / 
FPN2 and potentially have to move their child to access their 1st preference school 
from FPN2 / Reception.  

 

6.7 A lack of transport can be a barrier to accessing an alternative place if parents 
consider the distance to travel to be inconvenient or unreasonable, particularly if they 
have other children already attending their preferred school setting. However, no 
parental responses provided indicated any particular issue with access to transport 
for families that were delayed access to their preferred setting.  

 
6.8 In order to explore this in more depth, and the impact that poverty may be having on 

accessing alternatives places, the accessibility of nursery education to families living 
in Flying Start areas has been considered and particularly the reasonableness of 
accessing alternative placements.  
 

Page 132



6.9 Approximately 46% of the pre-nursery applicants in January and April 2018 were 
from Flying Start (FS) areas. Of the 97 children delayed access to an FPN1 place in 
school, 23 were FS, making up only 24% of those delayed. Further, data for parents 
refused a first preference who did choose to take an alternative place in a school 
shows that 15% of families from FS areas took up an alternative place compared to 
7% of families from non-FS areas. 
 

6.10 This data indicates that families from FS areas are less likely to be delayed than 
those from non-FS areas and of those that are delayed, families from FS areas are 
more likely to choose an alternative FPN1 place than those from non-FS areas. This 
supports the research analysis that those impacted by delays are less likely to be 
living in areas of deprivation/poverty.   
 

6.11 Of the 22 children living in FS areas that did have delayed access to a nursery place 
in school, 17 applied to English Medium schools. The following table analyses the 
options these 17 families choosing EM had with regards to accessing an alternative 
place to their first preference in January/April 2018.  

 
Table 5: Accessibility of alternative FPN1 places for children from FS areas  

 
Accessibility of Alternative School 
Places 

No pupils 
 

1st Preference 
schools 

Alternative 
Schools (Nearest) 

Space in Catchment school 
 

4 Gellifaelog 4 Dowlais 2 
Gwaunfarren 2 
 

Walking Distance to next nearest 
school* 
 

   

Less than 1 mile* 
 

5 Gellifaelog 3 
Twynyrodyn 2 

Gwaunfarren 3 
Caedraw 2 
 

Between 1 and 1.5 miles* 
 

2 Heolgerrig 1 
Twynyrodyn 1 

Coed Y Dderwen 1 
Caedraw 1 
 

Between 1.5 and 2 miles* 
 

2 Ynysowen 2 Troedyrhiw 1 
Edwardsville 1 
 

 2 miles (above statutory walking 
distance) 

 

4 Ynysowen 4 Troedyrhiw 3 
Edwardsville 1 

TOTAL children 17 
 

  

*at least one school with available places could be accessed within these walking distances and 
usually more were accessible within the 2 mile distance.   

 

6.12 The seventeen children were unable to access the following four schools as first 
preferences; Gellifaelog (7), Heolgerrig (1), Twynyrodyn (3) and Ynysowen (6). The 
table shows that only 4 of the 17 children had no alternative places available within a 
walking distance from their home. Each of these children applied for Ynysowen 
Primary as a first preference in April but the school had no FPN1 intake due to 
having taken in full-time FPN1 places in January.  

 
 

Page 133



6.13 In 2018/19 a similar pattern emerges between children applying from FS and non FS 
areas. 51% of all applicants for FPN1 places were from FS areas, but only 30% of 
those delayed were from FS areas, a total of 22 children. Therefore again, children 
from FS areas are less likely to be delayed than children from non FS areas and a 
higher % of children from FS areas who are refused access to their first preference 
accept alternative places than those from non FS areas. 
 

6.14 Of the 22 children from FS areas who were delayed access to their first preference 
schools in 2018/19, 15 applied to EM schools. Of these 5 did have space in their 
catchment school, 5 had space in their next nearest school between 1 and 1.5 miles 
away (1st Preference schools; Heolgerrig (2) Trelewis (3)) and 4 had space in their 
next nearest school between 1.5 and 2 miles away (1st Preference schools; 
Ynysowen (2) and Trelewis (2)).  

 

6.15 Only 1 child from a FS area did not have any space available within the statutory 
walking distances and this child applied for a place in Ynysowen April 2019 but there 
was no space due to full-time FPN1 places being offered in January 2019.  

 

6.16 If Ynysowen had offered part-time FPN1 places in both January 2018 and 2019 then 
there would have been sufficient space for all of the prospective intakes in April 2018 
and 2019. 

 

6.17 This analysis of nursery education access in FS areas supports the conclusion that, 
subject to ensuring all FPN1 places are part-time, sufficient EM nursery 
education places are provided by the local authority across the County 
Borough that are reasonably accessible to all parents.  
 

6.18 The current EM provision includes full-time FPN2 places in all bar two schools; 
Caedraw and Cyfarthfa Park. Discussions with Caedraw indicate that they are 
considering offering full-time provision from September 2020 and the school’s 
capacity allows for this.  

 

6.19 However, Cyfarthfa Park along with Twynyrodyn, were identified in the Scenario C 
analysis as the only two schools that could not systematically accommodate full-time 
FPN2 followed by part-time FPN1 because the nursery capacity is smaller than the 
school’s pupil admission number (PAN) and so planning of school places strategies 
do not allow for a full-time intake being supported by these school on an ongoing 
basis.  

 

6.20 The following table illustrates the systematic planning of school places issue caused 
by nursery education capacity being smaller than the school’s Pupil Admission 
Number (PAN)   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



Table 6: Nursery Education Places v School’s Pupil Admission Number (PAN) 

 

School Total Nursery 

Education 

Places 

Available (FTE) 

Pupil Admission 

Number (PAN) 

(Shortfall) in 

FTE nursery 

education 

places 

 

CYFARTHFA PARK  31 52 -21 

TWYNYRODYN 34 50 -16 

 
In order to sensibly manage applications to nursery education in any school then at 
the very least the local authority wants to ensure that all children applying for FPN2 
in September (up to the school’s PAN) should be allocated a place, as this helps the 
school to secure a prospective Reception cohort for the following year. If both of 
these schools received FPN2 applications in line with their PAN then there would be 
significant numbers of children (16 in Twynyrodyn and 21 in Cyfarthfa) unable to 
access any nursery education at all in these schools. 

 
6.21 As stated previously, a place in Nursery doesn’t guarantee parents a place in 

Reception due to there being a separate application and admissions process, 
however a school’s ability to make a nursery education offer to all prospective 
Reception children the following year is vitally important in securing the appropriate 
intake to manage the school efficiently. 
 

6.22 This is a fundamental planning of school places issue which means that a systematic 
offer of full-time, year on year, would put both schools at risk in terms of future 
numbers coming into the school for Reception, with implications for surplus places 
across the school and financial sustainability.  

 

6.23 Twynyrodyn are currently able to offer full-time FPN2 places as the overall numbers 
in the school have been falling recently and the children applying to the school can 
all be accommodated, however, this is not a sustainable position and needs to be 
managed by the local authority in liaison with the school to ensure that the nursery 
education admission arrangements support the overall pupil numbers in the school. 

 

6.24 This position has been reviewed for academic year 2020/21 and Twynyrodyn will be 
able to support full-time FPN2 places in September 2020. This position requires 
annual review to optimise the nursery intake for the school and local authority. 
 

6.25 The following proposed nursery education provision offer for 20/21 will therefore 
allow the local authority to supply sufficient English Medium nursery education 
places for the County Borough. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 135



Table 7a: Proposed Nursery Education Offer 20/21 – English Medium 
 

Primary School Nursery 

Places 

(FPN1) 

 

Jan/Apr 

Intake  

 

Part-time 

only 

Nursery Places 

(FPN2) 

 

September                              

intake 

 

Full-time or                

Part-time 

Total 

Places 

Available  

(FTE) 

ABERCANAID    Part-time  Full-time  37 

BEDLINOG   Part-time  Full-time  26 

CAEDRAW   Part-time  Full-time  33 

CYFARTHFA PARK    Part-time  Part-time  31 

DOWLAIS   Part-time  Full-time  34 

EDWARDSVILLE    Part-time  Full-time  70 

GELLIFAELOG    Part-time  Full-time  35 

GOETRE PRIMARY    Part-time  Full-time  83 

GWAUNFARREN    Part-time  Full-time  42 

HEOLGERRIG    Part-time  Full-time  34 

PANTYSCALLOG    Part-time  Full-time  41 

TRELEWIS   Part-time  Full-time  41 

TROEDYRHIW    Part-time  Full-time  40 

TWYNYRODYN    Part-time  Full-time  31 

YNYSOWEN   Part-time  Full-time  45 

YSGOL COED-Y-DDERWEN  Part-time  Full-time  37 

YSGOL Y GRAIG  Part-time  Full-time  30 

TOTAL    690 

 

A total of 640 FTE applications were received in 2018/19 which leaves a surplus of 
50 FTE or 100 Part-time places available for FPN1 over and above the demand 
requirements. 

 
6.26 All part-time places will be for a minimum of 2.5 hours education per day, 12.5 hours 

per week and all full-time places will be for a minimum of 5 hours education per day, 
25 hours per week. The total contact time for full-time places will be at least 30 hours 
per week factoring in breaks. 

Page 136



6.27 The offer of FPN2 in Twynyrodyn will be reviewed annually and published as part of 
the Nursery Admission Arrangements within the annual School Admission Policy 
document.  

 

6.28 It should be noted that, despite the proposed nursery education offer for 20/21 
detailed above securing sufficient nursery education provision for the County 
Borough, parental choice will continue to mean that not all eligible three year olds 
applying for an FPN1 place will access a place as some parents will continue to 
choose to wait for an FPN2 place in their preferred school. 
 

6.29 Council may wish to pursue a strategic approach to nursery education, that goes 
above and beyond this statutory duty, in order to help ensure that all three year olds 
whose parents want a place, do in fact access nursery education the term after their 
third birthday. 

 

6.30 If this is the case, then increasing the availability of wrap-around childcare places 
offered in schools, will help to optimise the impact that the 30 hour childcare offer 
has supporting families to access FPN1 places in alternative schools. This is since 
parents will be more likely to accept an alternative part-time FPN1 place if it is 
supported by wrap around childcare that incentivises the taking up of the place as it 
becomes a full-time ECEC place. 

 

6.31 The Childcare Offer Capital Grant that will deliver co-located wrap around childcare 
facilities in some schools (Ysgol Y Graig, Dowlais, and Bedlinog by April 2021 and 
Goetre by April 2023) will help to address some of these issues and make the FPN1 
places offered by these schools more attractive as alternatives.  

 
6.32 Further mapping needs to be undertaken, and options considered, to ensure that 

where schools have a shortfall of 1st preference FPN1 places, parents can access an 
alternative FPN1 school place supported by wrap around childcare. 
 

6.33 Additionally, increasing the number of non-maintained REP places near to schools 
that have capacity issues in January/April would provide parents with more choice 
regarding accessing a part-time FPN1 place without needing to access an alternative 
school place. 

 

6.34 This may increase the likelihood that parents would choose an FPN1 place whilst 
waiting to access an FPN2 place in their preferred school setting and would 
therefore help reduce the impact that delayed access to nursery education can have 
on three year olds. 

 

6.35 However, further work needs to be undertaken to incentivise childcare settings to 
register as formal nursery education providers, particularly since the funding for 
nursery education places provided to REPs of £7.60 per hour per day is significantly 
less than any of; Flying Start fees, childcare offers fees, private fees. 

 

6.36 The funding provided to REPs is based on the AWPU funding provided to schools for 
nursery education places, however this AWPU funding is for pupils only and doesn’t 
include anything for fixed costs and overheads as schools are funded for these 
elements separately.  

Page 137



 

6.37 To ensure equity, nursery education funding for places in REPs ought to include an 
additional element as a contribution towards fixed costs/overheads of the setting. 
Also, if the rate is to attract existing childcare settings to register places for nursery 
education the funding rate needs to be more considerate to the market fees for 
places in these settings and the additional work and expectation on settings due to 
Estyn registration and inspection. 

 

6.38 Specific financial and other modelling is required to consider what an appropriate 
funding rate should be, how much extra this would cost the Council to fund the 
existing number of places, and how many extra places and where should be targeted 
in order to support more FPN1 places being accessed in REPs where 1st 
preferences places are no longer available in school.  

 

6.39 Also support for children with ALN in REPs should also be considered to ensure it is 
equitable with the support children with ALN can access in school. 
 

Sufficient Nursery Education Provision - Welsh Medium Places 
 

6.40 During 2017/18 the number with delayed entry to Welsh Medium nursery education 
places in a school was 24 and this increased to 36 in 2018/19. However, in April 
2018 there were 11 children accessing a Welsh Medium nursery education place in 
a REP and again 11 in April 2019.  
 

6.41 Therefore, the actual number with delayed entry to Welsh Medium nursery education 
places was between 13 and 24 in 2017/18 and between 25 and 36 in 2018/19. As a 
% of the WM cohort seeking FPN1 places this is between 20% and 38% in 17/18, 
increasing to between 38% and 55% in 18/19. 

 

6.42 Despite there being between up to 24 children delayed access to WM nursery 
education in 2017/18 and up to 36 in 2018/19 and despite neither WM school having 
an intake in April 2018 or April 2019 there remained approximately 12 WM FPN1 
places unallocated in the Cylch Meithrin REP in the ICC Pentrebach. This is since 
not all families consider the location of the WM REP a viable alternative to their first 
preference school. 

 
6.43 However, even if all available WM REP places were taken up by parents there would 

remain a shortfall of between 13 and 24 places in 2018/19. 
 

6.44 Of the children delayed access to their 1st preference WM school in 2017/18, 21% 
were from FS areas and in 2018/19 this reduced to 17% and therefore the majority of 
children affected by delayed access to WM nursery education are from non FS 
areas. However, none of these children have access to any alternative WM FPN1 
places in school whether living in a FS area or not. 

 

6.45 It is clear that the supply of accessible Welsh Medium nursery education places 
across the County Borough is not sufficient and additional places are required 
either in schools, REPs or both. Due to limitations of space in the existing WM 
schools and there only being a single WM REP, additional WM places need to be 
provided by increasing the capacity in the current WM schools, and also from 

Page 138



increasing the availability of WM places in alternatives locations across the County 
Borough.  
 

6.46 There are current plans to increase the supply of Welsh Medium education places 
across the County Borough as follows: 
 
i. Two additional infants classrooms in Ysgol Santes Tudful (WG RICS Capital 

Grant – new standalone builds) by April 2020 
ii. Two additional mainstream classrooms in Ysgol Rhyd Y Grug (WG WM Capital 

Grant – reconfiguration and refurbishment) by September 2022 
iii. Seedling third WM primary school in north of County Borough (WG WM Capital 

Grant - reconfiguration and refurbishment) and establish co-located WM childcare 
setting between September 2021 and September 2024. 

 
The delivery of these plans (i and ii) will improve access to FPN1 provision each 
April over the short-term, though this may not fully resolve the lack of FPN1 places. 
Whilst delivery of iii. will ensure sufficient nursery education places are provided 
overall will address the lack of full-time FPN2 places across the WM sector when the 
new Welsh Medium school is fully established.  

 

6.47 Further consideration should also be given to providing an additional REP in the 
County Borough to give parents some accessible FPN1 places prior to the above 
plans reaching fruition. This investment, if in the north of the County Borough, would 
also support the seedling school and potentially form part of co-located education / 
childcare facilities when school is established on the permanent site in September 
2024.   

 
6.48 The local authority’s provision of WM nursery education places is not currently 

sufficient and requires regular review in line with the delivery of the above plans 
outlined in 6.46 and the consideration of additional REP provision in 6.47.  
 

6.49 The following table details the proposed nursery education offer for 20/21 consistent 
with the current arrangements and the nursery education offer detailed in Table 7a. 

 

Table 7b: Proposed Nursery Education Offer 20/21 – Welsh Medium 
 

Primary School Nursery Places 

(FPN1) 

 

Jan/Apr Intake 

 

Part-time only 

Nursery Places 

(FPN2) 

 

Sep intake 

 

Full-time or 

Part-time 

Total 

Places  

(FTE) 

YSGOL RHYD Y GRUG Part-time Full-time 37 

YSGOL SANTES TUDFUL 
Part-time 

Part-time 58 

TOTAL 
 

 95 

 
All part-time places will be for a minimum of 2.5 hours education per day, 12.5 hours 
per week and all full-time places will be for a minimum of 5 hours education per day, 

Page 139



25 hours per week. The total contact time for full-time places will be at least 30 hours 
per week factoring in breaks. 

 
6.50 Status Quo Arrangements – Addressing Other Weaknesses 
 

The other main weaknesses that have been identified in the status quo 
arrangements are not required to be addressed in order to secure sufficient provision 
of nursery education but rather to ensure that this provision is delivered as efficiently 
as possible and is as accessible as possible to parents to maximise uptake.  
 
These weaknesses can be addressed by the local authority through the opportunities 
listed below: 

 

i. Provide parents/carers with clear timescales and advance notice regarding the 
determined availability of places prior to the admission round.  

 

ii. Ensure parents/carers are aware of the availability of part-time nursery education 
places in non-maintained settings and the equivalent quality of education 
provided by schools and settings. 

 

iii. Support and encourage all families who cannot access their preferred place for 
nursery education (FPN1) to identify and consider alternative options in either 
school, or a non-maintained setting, rather than waiting 1 to 2 terms for an FPN2 
place in their preferred school setting.  

 
iv. Provide parents/carers with clear advice/guidance and support regarding options 

for re-application to their 1st preference school at the appropriate time i.e. either 
for FPN2 or Reception so that this is not a barrier to parents choosing to access 
an FPN1 place. 

 

v. Capture date to identify how many children accessing nursery education via 
REPs were refused entry to 1st preference places in schools.   

 

7.0 NURSERY EDUCATION STRATEGY 
 

This section considers the local authority’s proposed strategic approach to nursery 
education strategy. Securing sufficient provision for the county borough is the 
statutory duty, but as indicated in the report if the strategic aim is to ensure that all 
eligible three year olds whose parents want a place do actually access one then 
more will need to be done to provide more choice to parent to take up alternative 
places to their 1st preference schools. 

 
This section therefore also considers the strategic aims for FPN1 and FPN2 places 
across the County Borough. 

 
7.1  Sufficient Nursery Education Places 
 

The strategic aim is to secure sufficient EM provision as detailed in the proposed 
nursery education offer 20/21 (see 6.25/6.26 above) and to review FPN2 places 
annually as part of annual admissions policy, particularly in Twynyrodyn.  

Page 140



 
The strategic aim for WM provision is to work towards securing sufficient provision of 
WM nursery education places through delivery of the plans outlined in 6.47 and 6.48 
i.e. provide additional WM places in schools, including a third WM school, and 
provide a new REP in the north of the County Borough.  

 
7.2 Strategic Aim for FPN1 
 

Due to the research evidence in support of the importance of children accessing 
nursery education at the earliest opportunity the local authority has the aspiration 
that all eligible three year olds, whose parents want a place, do take up an FPN1 
place. 

 
To address this, the current barriers to parents accessing FPN1 places in alternative 
schools need to be overcome as follows: 

 
7.2.1 Take forward the opportunities identified in 6.50 so that more parents are 

encouraged and assisted to accept alternative FPN1 places in schools.  
 
7.2.2 Incentivise parents to take up FPN1 places in alternative schools through 

provision of more wrap around childcare places, particularly in those schools 
that are alternative options for parents that cannot access their 1st preference. 

 
7.2.3 Increase the number of non-maintained REP places near to schools that have 

capacity issues for FPN1 places, as this will provide parents with more choice 
regarding accessing an FPN1 place without needing to access an alternative 
school place. 

 
7.3 Strategic Aim for FPN2 places 
 

Since there are currently only two schools (Cyfarthfa Park Primary and Ysgol Santes 
Tudful) that are unable to provide full-time FPN2 places, and a third (Twynyrodyn 
Community Primary) that can only do so whilst there are surplus places in the 
school, the local authority wants to work towards the strategic aim of securing full-
time provision of FPN2 across all of its schools. 

 
To address this strategic aim and in line with other strategic plans for 21st Century 
Schools and planning of school places, the following needs to be considered and 
scoped: 

 
7.3.1 Potential for capital works in Cyfarthfa Park Primary and Twynyrodyn 

Community Primary schools over short to medium term in order to increase 
capacity of nursery education provision to provide full-time FPN2, whilst 
maintaining FPN1 access.  

 
7.3.2 Long-term plans for Cyfarthfa Park Primary to potentially be part of Band C 

21st Century Schools Programme 2026 onwards. 
 

Page 141



7.3.3 Long-term planning of school places strategy for Twynyrodyn Community 
Primary and other neighbouring schools to optimise available places for 
nursery education and through primary education. 

 
7.3.4 The potential to provide full-time FPN2 places in all WM schools across the 

County Borough following the establishment of a third WM school on 
permanent premises September 2024 onwards, whilst maintaining FPN1 
access.  

 

8.0 NURSERY EDUCATION ADMISSIONS POLICY 
 
8.1 The nursery education admissions policy is published annually as part of the overall 

Annual School Admissions Policy. 
 

8.2 The following Nursery Education Provision is proposed to be offered for 20/21: 
 

 All FPN1 places will be part-time and will be for a minimum of 2.5 hours per day. 
 All FPN2 places will be full-time except in Cyfarthfa Park Primary and Ysgol 

Santes Tudful which will offer part-time places.  
 All full-time places will be a minimum of 5 hours per day. 

 
8.3 The nursery education admissions policy will be reviewed annually as part of the 

annual arrangement for consulting on the Schools Admissions Policy and any 
changes in line with securing sufficient provision for WM places or in line with 
delivering the nursery education strategic aims will be reflected as they are 
implemented eg. details of wrap around childcare to support FPN1 places, additional 
REP places if they become available, etc. 
 

8.4 It is proposed to provide a three yearly update to Council on the current position with 
regards to sufficiency and the delivery of the strategic aims. 

 

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 To deliver the proposed nursery education provision for 20/21 will cost an estimated 

£15,000. This is a net cost position due to funding April FPN1 places offset by 
savings to January FPN1 places no longer being full-time. 

 
9.2   These costs will be met as part of the overall Individual Schools Budget delegated to 

schools for 20/21 and included in the Council’s MTFP. 
 

10.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
To be populated before presenting to Council. 
 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
 

Page 142



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Nursery Sufficiency & 
30 Hrs Childcare Offer 
Scrutiny Committee 
Report 

 
26th November 2018 

 
INTRANET 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Work Programme 2019/20  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Work Programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 15th November 2019 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th  November 2019 

Page 145

Agenda Item 7



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 146



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

Page 147



c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

Page 148



f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 149

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


  

APPENDIX I 

Page 150



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Linked to MTCBC’s 
Wellbeing Objectives 

(Corporate Objectives)? 

Officer & Cabinet Member 
 

 (Other) 
Scrutiny Focus  

20st May 2019 

‘Schools as learning 
organisations’.  How the 
council, schools and CSC are 
working together to 
implement this new 
education practice to 
implement the new 
curriculum 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker / 
Andrew Williams/Emma 
Wilmot (CSC) 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To consider the 
implications of the current changes within education 
and how these impact on schools. To questions how 
these will impact on performance of pupils at all 
stages. 

Draft Annual Work 
Programme 2018/19 

BS Best Start to Life    Scrutiny and Challenge: - To consider the draft 
Annual Work programme for 2019/20  
 

1st  July 2019 

Education Department 
current position statement 
(as part of the preparation for 
a peer review visit in July 
which will be looking at the 
current SER) 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker / 
Chris Hole/Sarah 
Bowen/Anthony Lewis/ 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To provide challenge on 
the evidence used to support judgements made by 
the Learning Department current position. And to 
challenge the validity of identified next steps to drive 
up improvement 

Estyn Case Studies 
Ynysowen 
Bishop Hedley 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BS Best Start to Life    Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Head teachers and 
chairs of governors will be attending the meeting to 
share good practice in their respective schools 
following recent Estyn visits.  

P
age 151



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

2rd September 
2019 

Performance Report – 
Foundation Phase,  KS2 and 
KS3 (to also include a verbal 
update on KS4 results, which 
are only being made available 
on August) 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- to receive a report  on the 
attainment in Foundation Phase, Key Stage 2 and Key 
Stage 3 in 2019.  

Impact of Flying Start and 
Registered Education 
Providers on outcomes in 
maintained schools  

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Chris Hole Scrutiny and Challenge: to receive a report on the 
work within early years to support the improvement 
of outcomes for pupils once they transition to 
primary school.  

7th October 
2019 

Impact against identified 
priorities for improvement.  
(Business Improvement Plans) 

BS Best Start to Life   

Cllr Lisa Mytton/Sue Walker/ 
Anthony Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge: the learning department has 
identified priorities for improvement through its self-
evaluation process.  The Committee will have the 
opportunity to scrutinise the evidence used to 
provide judgements on progress of impact.  

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 2) 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 
 

25th 
November 
2019 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 3) 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will 
receive a report from the Chief Education Officer on 
a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 

Financial Sustainability – 
report from PenyDre cluster 
Include information about 
Salix projects 
Impact of ISB review 
Work of Schools Budget 
Forum 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- To consider how this 
process might be rolled out across other schools 
within the county borough in order to provide 
financial savings. To consider how pupils have been 
involved in this process and how the voice of the 
young person might be improved further within 
strategic activities. 
To consider the role of the Schools Budget forum 
To consider the effectiveness of the Schools Budget 
forum in identifying areas for efficiencies 

P
age 152



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

Additional Learning Needs 
(ALN) report to include the 
‘Readiness Tool.’ 
This report is a request from 
the 7th October 2019 Learning 
and LGES Scrutiny. 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker / 
Sarah Bowen 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - to receive a report on 
Additional Learning Needs (ALN) which should also 
include details on the ‘Readiness Tool.’ 

Securing Sufficient Nursery 
Education for the County 
Borough of Merthyr Tydfil. 
This report is a request from 
Anthony Lewis.  

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker / 
Anthony Lewis  

Scrutiny and Challenge: - to receive a report for 
challenge prior to this being considered by Full 
Council.  
 

6th January 
2020 

Report on the performance at 
key stage 4 (to include the 
Capped 9 measure) and 
attendance  
 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue 
Walker/Sarah Bowen/Emma 
Willmott/ CSC 

Scrutiny and Challenge: The scrutiny committee will 
receive a report from the Chief Education Officer on 
all aspects of performance and outcomes from across 
education services, including the latest school 
categorisations from Central South Consortium 

EOTAS BS Best Start to Life  Scrutiny and Challenge: - To consider the impact of 
the recent changes to provision for EOTAS and the 
impact on attainment for this group of young people 

Impact of Youth Service on 
Attainment and Wellbeing 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker/ 
Chris Hole 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - the committee will receive 
a report on the impact of the work within youth 
services to improve the attainment and wellbeing of 
young people  

RARS – Raising Aspirations, 
Raising Standards 
This report is a request from 
Sue Walker. 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker/ 
Emma Willmott 

Scrutiny and Challenge: The scrutiny committee will 
receive a report for challenge prior to stakeholder 
consultation.  

24th February 
2020 

Attendance  
Non SLA/SLA 
Persistent Absenteeism 
Good Practise 
Exclusions – SEBD 
Reduced Timetables 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton/ Sue Walker/ 
Sarah Bowen  

Scrutiny and Challenge: - to receive a detailed 
analysis of attendance against support provided for 
specific schools(e,g SLA/nonSLA); to consider the 
early impact of the learning departments action plan 
to improve persistent absenteeism 

P
age 153



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 1) 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue 
Walker/Joe Colsey/Schools 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 

20th  April 
2020 

Impact of work of CSC in 
schools causing concern 
Value for Money overall for 
CSC 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker / Scrutiny and Challenge: to consider the report from 
CSC on their work in specific schools across the 
county borough; to consider whether the borough 
receives value for money against its contribution to 
CSC 

    P
age 154



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

 

 
Additional items to consider for Work 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

To invite / visit Heads and Chairs of Governance at the following schools :- 
 

 Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful 

 Pen-y-dre High School 

 Ynysowen Community Primary School 

 Visit Educated Other Than at School (EOTAS) to see what provision is available (before 8th April). 

 Visit LRB’s (Learning Resource Basis) as part of the programme of visits. 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

P
age 155



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Corporate Self-Evaluation – Inspection Area 3
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	4 Update on Carbon and Energy Management Activities in Schools
	Appendix 1

	5 The Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	6 Securing Sufficient Nursery Education for the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil
	7 Work Programme 2019/20
	Appendix 1


